


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
These reports do not constitute an offer of units in any funds forming the subject matter of this document. 
Subscriptions are only valid if made on the basis of the current explanatory memoranda (or equivalent), 
supplemented by the most recent financial reports, if available. 
 
Notice to U.K. residents: This document is only directed to persons believed by JPMorgan Asset 
Management (U.K.) Limited to be investment professionals as defined in Article 19 of the Financial Services 
and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, high net worth companies, unincorporated 
associations and other persons as defined in Article 49 of that Order and to others to whom it can lawfully be 
distributed or given, inside the United Kingdom, without approval by an authorised person. Persons who do 
not have professional experience in matters relating to investments should not rely on it and any other person 
should not act on such information. 
 
This document is issued in the U.K. by JPMorgan Asset Management (U.K.) Limited and has been approved 
solely for the purposes of section 21(2)(b) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 by JPMorgan 
Asset Management (U.K.) Limited which is authorised and regulated in the U.K. by the Financial Conduct 
Authority. Registered in England No. 01161446. Registered address: 25 Bank Street, Canary Wharf, London, 
UK, E14 5JP. 
 
Although JPMorgan Asset Management (Europe) S.à r.l., under certain administrative services agreements, 
provides services to the funds covered in this document, the funds are not subject to the laws of Luxembourg 
nor are they subject to supervision by any supervisory authority in Luxembourg. 
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Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices 

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid

30/9/23 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD12.75 AUD10.71 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD12.87 HKD10.75 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY14.02 CNY11.79 
- USD Class (acc) USD152.33 USD126.89 
- USD Class C (acc) USD10.24 USD8.51 

30/9/22 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD13.59 AUD10.88 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD13.36 HKD10.88 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY14.62 CNY11.95 
- USD Class (acc) USD158.85 USD128.45 
- USD Class C (acc) USD10.57 USD8.60 

30/9/21 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD13.11 AUD10.16 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD12.80 HKD9.86 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY13.92 CNY10.59 
- USD Class (acc) USD152.81 USD117.81 
- USD Class C (acc) USD10.01 USD9.84 

30/9/20 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD12.98 AUD7.45 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD12.13 HKD7.32 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY12.82 CNY7.74 
- USD Class (acc) USD144.42 USD87.45 

30/9/19 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD13.28 AUD11.36 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD12.37 HKD10.54 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY12.98 CNY11.01 
- USD Class (acc) USD146.41 USD124.43 

30/9/18 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD14.02 AUD11.81 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD12.89 HKD10.93 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY13.41 CNY11.38 
- USD Class (acc) USD152.69 USD129.02 

30/9/17 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD12.09 AUD9.67 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD11.11 HKD8.86 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY11.46 CNY8.98 
- USD Class (acc) USD131.70 USD105.82 

30/9/16 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD11.33 AUD8.42 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD10.39 HKD7.80 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY10.46 CNY7.67 
- USD Class (acc) USD124.00 USD92.31 

30/9/15 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD11.82 AUD8.53 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD10.86 HKD7.81 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY10.61 CNY7.67 
- USD Class (acc) USD129.73 USD93.33 

30/9/14 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) AUD11.97 AUD9.51 
- HKD Class (acc) HKD11.11 HKD8.94 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY10.63 CNY9.79 
- USD Class (acc) USD132.78 USD106.66 

Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG  

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA  
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN  
   (Asia Pacific) Limited 
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central Bank of East Asia (Trustees) 
Hong Kong    Limited 

32/F, BEA Tower
Sub-Managers Millennium City 5
JPMorgan Asset Management 418 Kwun Tong Road
   (Singapore) Limited Kwun Tong, Kowloon
88 Market Street Hong Kong
29/F, CapitaSpring 
Singapore 048948 Registrar

East Asia International 
JPMorgan Asset Management    Trustees Limited 
   (UK) Limited East Asia Chambers 
60 Victoria Embankment P.O. Box 901 
London Road Town, Tortola 
EC4Y 0JP British Virgin Islands 
United Kingdom 

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants 
22/F, Prince’s Building 
1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information 

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other offshore 
funds which are not themselves reporting funds. 
Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident 
in the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing 
on the sale, redemption or other disposal of units 
during the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital 
gain and not as income. The Fund has previously 
been certified by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing 
fund” in respect of the period from 1 January 1984 to 
30 September 2010. 
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Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG 

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA 
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
   (Asia Pacific) Limited
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust 
Hong Kong    Services (Asia) Limited

1 Queen’s Road Central
Sub-Manager Hong Kong 
With effect from 31 July 2023 
JPMorgan Asset Management  Registrar
   (Singapore) Limited HSBC Trustee (Cayman) 
88 Market Street    Limited 
29/F, CapitaSpring P.O. Box 309 
Singapore 048948 Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104 
Cayman Islands 

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants 
22/F, Prince’s Building
1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information 

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other offshore 
funds which are not themselves reporting funds. 
Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident in 
the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing on 
the sale, redemption or other disposal of units during 
the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital gain 
and not as income. The Fund has previously been 
certified by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing fund” in 
respect of the period from 2 December 1991 to 30 
September 2010. 
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Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices  

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid 

30/9/23 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD20.03 
USD44.98 

AUD16.77 
USD34.55 

30/9/22 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD19.94 
USD48.22 

AUD16.68 
USD35.15 

30/9/21 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD19.20 
USD46.43 

AUD15.45 
USD35.07 

30/9/20 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD18.12 
USD40.12 

AUD10.87 
USD20.22 

30/9/19 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD17.38 
USD39.21 

AUD14.12 
USD32.32 

30/9/18 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD17.93 
USD43.26 

AUD15.35 
USD38.98 

30/9/17 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD15.73 
USD40.47 

AUD13.75 
USD33.96 

30/9/16 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD15.45 
USD38.33 

AUD12.48 
USD28.54 

30/9/15 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD15.71 
USD40.27 

AUD12.49 
USD29.49 

30/9/14 
- AUD Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD14.14 
USD42.71 

AUD11.86 
USD34.20 

Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited
19/F, Chater House 
8 Connaught Road Central 
Hong Kong 

as at 24 January 2024  
Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
Daniel James WATKINS 
Ka Li NG  
Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 

Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA
JPMorgan Asset Management  Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
   (Asia Pacific) Limited   
19/F, Chater House Trustee

HSBC Institutional Trust 
   Services (Asia) Limited 
1 Queen’s Road Central 
Hong Kong 

8 Connaught Road Central 
Hong Kong 

Registrar
HSBC Trustee (Cayman) 
   Limited 
P.O. Box 309 
Ugland House 
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 
Cayman Islands 

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince’s Building 
1 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information  

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other offshore 
funds which are not themselves reporting funds. 
Therefore, it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident 
in the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing 
on the sale, redemption or other disposal of units 
during the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital 
gain and not as income. The Fund has previously 
been certified by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing 
fund” in respect of the period from 1 January 1984 to 
30 September 2010. 
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Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) as at [Date]
 Limited Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
19/F, Chater House Daniel James WATKINS 
8 Connaught Road Central Ka Li NG 
Hong Kong Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 

Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA
Investment Manager Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
JPMorgan Asset Management  
 (Asia Pacific) Limited Trustee
19/F, Chater House HSBC Institutional Trust  
8 Connaught Road Central  Services (Asia) Limited 
Hong Kong 1 Queen’s Road Central 

Hong Kong
Investment Advisers
JPMorgan Asset Management Registrar
 (China) Company Limited HSBC Trustee (Cayman)  
42/F & 43/F, 479 Lujiazui Ring    

Road 
 Limited 
Post Box 309 

China (Shanghai) Free Pilot  Ugland House 
 Trade Zone Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands 
With effect from 1 May 2023 
JPMorgan Asset Management Auditor
 (Taiwan) Limited PricewaterhouseCoopers 
20/F, 1 Songzhi Road, Xinyi Dist Certified Public 
Taipei City 110  Accountants  
Taiwan, R.O.C. 22/F, Prince’s Building  

1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other 
offshore funds which are not themselves reporting 
funds. Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident 
in the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing 
on the sale, redemption or other disposal of units 
during the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital 
gain and not as income. The Fund has previously 
been certified by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing 
fund” in respect of the period from 14 June 2006 to 
30 September 2010. 
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Listed/Quoted Investments

(I) Debt Securities

Australia

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Canada

Cayman Islands

China
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

China

France

Germany

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Hong Kong

India

Indonesia

Ireland

Israel

Italy
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Italy

Japan

Korea

Luxembourg

Macau

Mexico

Morocco

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Netherlands

New Zealand

Portugal

Romania

Saudi Arabia

Singapore

Slovakia
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Spain

Supranational

Switzerland

Turkey

United Kingdom

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

United States
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

United States

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Virgin Islands

(II) Collective Investment Schemes

Luxembourg

(III) Derivatives

Forward foreign exchange
contracts

Futures

Total Listed/Quoted Investments

Other net assets

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units at
30 September 2023

Total investments, at cost
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Statement of Movements in Portfolio Holdings
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

% holdings
of net assets

2023 2022

Listed/Quoted Investments

Debt Securities

Collective Investment Schemes

% holdings
of net assets

2023 2022

Derivatives

Total Listed/Quoted Investments

Other net assets

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units at 30
September
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Details of Financial Derivative Instruments
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

(a) Forward foreign exchange contracts

(b) Futures

Information on Exposure Arising from Financial
Derivative Instruments
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

2023
% of NAV

2023
% of NAV
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The notes on pages 396 to 431 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2023

2023 2022
USD USD

Assets
Current assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Liabilities (excluding net
assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units)

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022
USD USD

Income

Expenses

Net operating loss

Finance costs

Loss before taxation

Decrease in net assets
attributable to holders of
redeemable units and total
comprehensive loss
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year ended 30 September 2023

The notes on pages 396 to 431 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022
USD USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units at the beginning of
the year

Net allotment/(redemption)

Decrease in net assets
attributable to holders of
redeemable units and total
comprehensive loss

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units at the end of the year

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022
USD USD

Operating activities

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
operating activities

Financing activities

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from
financing activities

(Decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 The Fund

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

Standards and amendments to existing standards effective from 1 October 2022

New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 October 2022 and have not been early adopted

(b) Investments and derivatives

Classification
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Recognition, derecognition and measurement

Fair value estimation

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

Structured entities

(c) Securities borrowing

(d) Offsetting financial instruments

(e) Income and expense
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(f) Transaction costs

(g) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Transactions and balances

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

(i) Margin deposits

(j) Amounts due from/to brokers

(k) Proceeds and payments on allotment and redemption of units

(l) Distribution payable to holders of redeemable units
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3 Number of units in issue and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (per unit)
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4 Financial risk management

(I) Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i) Market price risk

(ii) Interest rate risk
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(iii) Currency risk
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(b) Credit risk
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(c) Liquidity risk



JPMorgan Global Bond Fund
Annual report for the

year ended 30 September 2023

(d) Offsetting and amounts subject to master netting arrangements and similar agreements
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(II) Capital risk management

-

-

-

(III) Fair value estimation

-

-

-
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5 Net losses on investments and derivatives

6 Distribution
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7 Taxation
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8 Transactions with the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons
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9 Soft dollar arrangements/Commission sharing arrangements
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10 Derivatives
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

Basis for Opinion

Other Information

Responsibilities of the Management for the Financial
Statements

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Report on Matters under the Relevant Disclosure
Provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix E of the
SFC Code
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Manager and the
Trustee

Manager’s Responsibilities

-

-

-

Trustee’s Responsibilities

-

-

-

-

Report of the Trustee to the Unitholders

Performance Record (Unaudited)

Net Asset Values
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Performance Record (Unaudited)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices
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Management and Administration

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager

Investment Manager

Trustee

Registrar

Auditor
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Listed/Quoted Investments (102.5%)

(I) Debt Securities (95.9%)

Australia (1.7%)
Australia (Govt of) 4.5%

21Apr2033 AUD6,850,000 4,520,254 0.9
Australia (Govt of) Ser

166 (Reg S) 3%
21Nov2033 AUD1,850,000 1,063,512 0.2

Australia Pacific Airpor
Ser EMTN (Reg) (Reg
S) 4.375%
24May2033 EUR300,000 315,830 0.1

Santos Finance Ltd Ser
144A 6.875%
19Sep2033 USD790,000 775,426 0.1

Westpac Banking Corp
Ser EMTN (Reg S)
(Br) 3.106%
23Nov2027 EUR1,700,000 1,796,362 0.4

Canada (2.1%)
Canada (Govt of) (Reg)

4% 01Jun2041 CAD4,075,000 3,061,563 0.6
Canada (Govt of) 2.5%

01Dec2032 CAD9,850,000 6,488,406 1.3
Rogers Communications

In (Reg) 3.8%
15Mar2032 USD885,000 737,305 0.2

Cayman Islands (0.2%)
Avolon Holdings Fndg

Ltd Ser 144A (Reg)
2.75% 21Feb2028 USD1,085,000 923,579 0.2

China (9.5%)
China (Govt of) 2.6%

01Sep2032
(Interbank) CNY45,000,000 6,111,005 1.2

China (Govt of) Ser Inbk
(Reg) 2.64%
15Jan2028
(Interbank) CNY112,300,000 15,758,042 3.2

China (Govt of) Ser Inbk
(Reg) 2.69%
15Aug2032
(Interbank) CNY44,000,000 6,028,209 1.2

China (Govt of) Ser Inbk
(Reg) 2.8%
15Nov2032
(Interbank) CNY93,600,000 13,021,948 2.7

China (Govt of) Ser Inbk
(Reg) 2.88%
25Feb2033
(Interbank) CNY43,150,000 6,010,840 1.2

France (4.8%)
BNP Paribas Ser 144A

Var 12Jun2029 USD1,830,000 1,807,803 0.4
BPCE Sa Ser 144A Var

18Jan2027 USD3,040,000 3,045,048 0.6

(Continued)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

BPCE Sa Ser EMTN
(Reg S) (Br) 4.375%
13Jul2028 EUR1,000,000 1,059,427 0.2

Caisse D'Amort Dette
Soc (Reg S) (Br) 0.6%
25Nov2029 EUR2,500,000 2,248,891 0.5

Credit Agricole SA Ser
144A 5.514%
05Jul2033 USD250,000 244,231 0.1

Credit Agricole SA Ser
144A 5.589%
05Jul2026 USD500,000 503,079 0.1

France (Govt of) (Reg S)
2.5% 25May2043 EUR15,900,000 13,995,344 2.8

Societe Generale Ser
144A (Reg) 7.367%
10Jan2053 USD215,000 199,417 0.0

Societe Generale Ser
144A (Reg) Var
10Jan2029 USD605,000 607,172 0.1

Germany (4.3%)
Bundeschatzanweisingen

(Reg S) (Br) 1.8%
15Aug2053 EUR3,710,000 3,010,677 0.6

Bundeschatzanweisingen
Ser 187 (Reg S) (Br)
2.2% 13Apr2028 EUR1,800,000 1,888,773 0.4

Bundeschatzanweisingen
Ser 2Y (Reg S) (Br)
3.1% 18Sep2025 EUR14,050,000 14,940,459 3.0

Volkswagen Fin Serv NV
Ser EMTN (Reg S) (Br)
3.25% 13Apr2027 GBP500,000 560,525 0.1

Vonovia Se Ser EMTN
(Reg S) (Br) 0.625%
14Dec2029 EUR1,000,000 823,340 0.2

Hungary (0.1%)
Hungary (Govt of) Ser

144A 6.125%
22May2028 USD560,000 583,756 0.1

Ireland (1.1%)
Aercap Ireland

Cap/Globa (Reg)
2.45% 29Oct2026 USD1,290,000 1,169,432 0.2

Aercap Ireland
Cap/Globa (Reg) 3.3%
30Jan2032 USD1,260,000 1,009,345 0.2

AIB Group Plc Ser EMTN
(Reg S) (Br) Var
04Apr2028 EUR1,400,000 1,374,702 0.3

Avolon Holdings Fndg Ltd
Ser 144A (Reg) 4.25%
15Apr2026 USD950,000 911,918 0.2

Bank of Ireland Group
Ser 144A (Reg) Var
16Sep2026 USD555,000 553,181 0.1

Crh SMW Finance Dac
Ser EMTN (Reg S) (Br)
4% 11Jul2031 EUR414,000 431,562 0.1
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Italy (8.2%)
Autostrade Per L'Italia

Ser EMTN (Reg S)
(Br) 5.125%
14Jun2033 EUR1,200,000 1,265,498 0.3

Intesa Sanpaolo Spa
Ser 144A 6.625%
20Jun2033 USD1,880,000 1,803,781 0.4

Italy (Rep of) Ser 5Y
(Reg S) (Br) 3.4%
01Apr2028 EUR35,420,000 37,078,477 7.5

Japan (2.1%)
Japan (Govt of) Ser

183 1.4%
20Dec2042 JPY576,850,000 3,873,309 0.8

Japan (Govt of) Ser
361 0.1%
20Dec2030 JPY902,700,000 5,861,615 1.2

Mizuho Financial
Group (Reg) Var
06Jul2034 USD500,000 484,288 0.1

Luxembourg (1.9%)
EFSF (Reg S) (Br)

2.375% 21Jun2032 EUR9,300,000 9,141,083 1.9

Mexico (0.7%)
Mexico (Utd States of)

7.75% 29May2031 MXN280,000 1,459,907 0.3
Petroleos Mexicanos

(Reg) 6.5%
13Mar2027 USD2,250,000 1,992,958 0.4

Netherlands (0.9%)
Enel Finance Intl NV

Ser 144A 5%
15Jun2032 USD470,000 432,602 0.1

Enel Finance Intl NV
Ser 144A 5.5%
15Jun2052 USD595,000 504,022 0.1

ING Bank NV Ser
EMTN (Reg S) (Br)
2.75% 21Nov2025 EUR1,700,000 1,806,258 0.4

NXP Bv/Nxp Fdg/Nxp
USA (Reg) 2.5%
11May2031 USD425,000 336,271 0.1

NXP Bv/Nxp Fdg/Nxp
USA (Reg) 2.65%
15Feb2032 USD870,000 675,923 0.1

NXP Bv/Nxp Fdg/Nxp
USA (Reg) 5%
15Jan2033 USD471,000 438,483 0.1

New Zealand (0.3%)
Bank of New Zealand

(Reg S) (Br)
3.7075% 20Dec2028 EUR1,400,000 1,480,948 0.3

Norway (0.3%)
Aker BP Asa Ser 144A

5.6% 13Jun2028 USD510,000 507,162 0.1

(Continued)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Aker BP Asa Ser 144A
6% 13Jun2033 USD1,005,000 990,104 0.2

Romania (0.2%)
Romania (Govt of) Ser

Regs (Reg) (Reg S)
6.625% 27Sep2029 EUR860,000 938,370 0.2

Saudi Arabia (0.2%)
Saudi International Bond

Ser Regs (Reg S)
4.75% 18Jan2028 USD1,160,000 1,145,641 0.2

Spain (0.5%)
Spain (Govt of) (Reg)

(Reg S) 3.15%
30Apr2033 EUR2,200,000 2,223,350 0.5

Supranational (5.8%)
Banque Ouest Africaine

D Ser Regs (Reg S)
2.75% 22Jan2033 EUR2,300,000 1,784,012 0.3

European Union Ser
Ngeu (Reg S) (Br) 1%
06Jul2032 EUR10,100,000 8,776,182 1.7

European Union Ser
Ngeu (Reg S) (Br)
2.75% 04Feb2033 EUR18,250,000 18,733,618 3.8

Switzerland (0.5%)
Credit Suisse New York

7.5% 15Feb2028 USD585,000 617,677 0.1
Glencore Cap Fin Dac

Ser EMTN (Reg S) (Br)
0.75% 01Mar2029 EUR200,000 173,637 0.0

Glencore Funding Llc Ser
144A 6.125%
06Oct2028 USD820,000 818,925 0.2

Glencore Funding Llc Ser
144A 6.375%
06Oct2030 USD835,000 833,369 0.2

United Arab Emirates (0.3%)
MDGH GMTN Rsc Ltd

Ser Gmtn (Reg) (Reg
S) 0.375% 10Mar2027 EUR1,375,000 1,292,956 0.3

United Kingdom (5.3%)
BP Cap Markets America

4.812% 13Feb2033 USD730,000 688,247 0.1
Heathrow Funding Ltd

Ser EMTN (Reg) (Reg
S) 1.125% 08Oct2032 EUR450,000 387,329 0.1

Heathrow Funding Ltd
Ser EMTN (Reg) (Reg
S) 4.5% 11Jul2035 EUR577,000 606,161 0.1

HSBC Holdings Plc (Reg)
Var 17Aug2029 USD1,255,000 1,038,375 0.2

HSBC Holdings Plc (Reg)
Var 22Nov2027 USD820,000 730,721 0.2

National Grid Plc Ser
EMTN (Reg S) (Br)
4.275% 16Jan2035 EUR300,000 311,970 0.2
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United Kingdom (Continued)
Natwest Group Plc

(Reg S) (Br) Var
09Nov2028 GBP600,000 635,658 0.1

Thames Water Util Fin
Ser EMTN (Reg S)
(Br) 4.375%
18Jan2031 EUR400,000 389,125 0.1

UK (Gilts) (Reg) (Reg
S) 3.25% 31Jan2033 GBP4,025,000 4,504,838 0.9

UK (Gilts) (Reg) (Reg
S) 3.75% 22Oct2053 GBP1,130,000 1,160,234 0.2

UK (Gilts) (Reg) (Reg
S) 4.5% 07Jun2028 GBP4,835,000 5,978,260 1.2

UK TSY 1 5/8% 2028
(Reg) (Reg S)
1.625% 22Oct2028 GBP8,760,000 9,501,811 1.9

United States (44.9%)
Abbvie Inc (Reg)

4.05% 21Nov2039 USD550,000 458,086 0.1
Abbvie Inc (Reg)

4.25% 21Nov2049 USD410,000 331,078 0.1
Abbvie Inc Ser WI

(Reg) 3.2%
21Nov2029 USD965,000 863,044 0.2

Activision Blizzard
2.5% 15Sep2050 USD230,000 137,335 0.0

Amerisourcebergen
Corp (Reg) 2.7%
15Mar2031 USD530,000 432,298 0.1

Bank of America Corp
(Reg) Var
04Feb2028 USD2,015,000 1,805,132 0.4

Bank of America Corp
(Reg) Var
20Oct2032 USD1,960,000 1,529,813 0.3

Bank of America Corp
Var 21Jul2032 USD425,000 324,142 0.1

Bank of America Corp
Var 25Apr2029 USD920,000 907,329 0.2

Broadcom Inc Ser
144A (Reg) 3.137%
15Nov2035 USD210,000 155,668 0.0

Broadcom Inc Ser
144A (Reg) 3.419%
15Apr2033 USD1,585,000 1,293,398 0.3

Broadcom Inc Ser
144A (Reg) 3.469%
15Apr2034 USD715,000 573,393 0.1

CF Industries Inc (Reg)
4.95% 01Jun2043 USD395,000 327,469 0.1

Charter Comm Opt
Llc/Cap 3.5%
01Jun2041 USD1,395,000 898,264 0.2

Cheniere Energy 4.5%
01Oct2029 WI USD495,000 460,393 0.1

Cheniere Energy
Partners Ser WI
(Reg) 3.25%
31Jan2032 USD1,455,000 1,167,469 0.2

Citigroup Inc (Reg) Var
05Nov2030 USD2,080,000 1,767,588 0.4

(Continued)

Holding

Fair
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Citigroup Inc (Reg) Var
20Mar2030 USD515,000 463,355 0.1

Columbia Pipelines Opco
Ser 144A 5.927%
15Aug2030 USD155,000 154,375 0.0

Columbia Pipelines Opco
Ser 144A 6.036%
15Nov2033 USD565,000 556,900 0.1

Columbia Pipelines Opco
Ser 144A 6.497%
15Aug2043 USD170,000 167,340 0.0

Comcast Corp (Reg)
2.937% 01Nov2056 USD875,000 508,326 0.1

Comcast Corp (Reg)
4.8% 15May2033 USD660,000 631,921 0.1

Comcast Corp 5.35%
15May2053 USD270,000 251,932 0.0

Comcast Corp 5.5%
15Nov2032 USD315,000 318,076 0.1

Conocophillips Company
(Reg) 5.05%
15Sep2033 USD800,000 771,335 0.2

Conocophillips Company
(Reg) 5.55%
15Mar2054 USD500,000 478,687 0.1

Conocophillips Company
Ser WI (Reg) 4.025%
15Mar2062 USD170,000 122,503 0.0

Constellation En Gen Llc
(Reg) 5.8% 01Mar2033 USD1,795,000 1,760,850 0.4

Constellation En Gen Llc
6.5% 01Oct2053 USD190,000 190,711 0.0

Crown Castle Inc (Reg)
4.8% 01Sep2028 USD340,000 324,355 0.1

CVS Health Corp (Reg)
5.25% 30Jan2031 USD100,000 97,858 0.0

CVS Health Corp 2.7%
21Aug2040 USD540,000 342,550 0.1

Diamondback Energy Inc
(Reg) 6.25%
15Mar2033 USD320,000 321,209 0.1

Emera US Finance LP
(Reg) 2.639%
15Jun2031 USD215,000 168,184 0.0

Energy Transfer LP (Reg)
5.55% 15Feb2028 USD580,000 574,344 0.1

Energy Transfer LP
5.75% 15Feb2033 USD1,550,000 1,503,035 0.3

Fannie Mae (Ser 86 CL
T) 2.5% 25Sep2048 USD5,230,000 3,713,169 0.8

Fannie Mae 2.5%
01Jan2052 USD1,300,000 936,726 0.2

Fannie Mae 2.5%
01Jul2050 USD2,400,000 928,822 0.2

Fannie Mae 2.5%
01Jul2051 USD6,670,000 4,419,845 0.9

Fannie Mae 3%
01Aug2050 USD3,200,000 1,937,301 0.4

Fannie Mae 3%
01Nov2051 USD5,960,000 4,348,639 0.9

Fannie Mae 3.5%
01Aug2050 USD6,500,000 4,934,356 1.0
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United States (Continued)
Fannie Mae 3.5%

01Jul2049 USD25,300,000 2,633,630 0.5
Fannie Mae 4%

01May2049 USD24,800,000 7,502,409 1.5
Fannie Mae 5%

01Sep2052 USD3,000,000 2,622,829 0.5
Fannie Mae 5.5%

01Feb2053 USD6,430,000 5,907,008 1.2
Fannie Mae 6%

01Jan2053 USD400,000 360,832 0.1
Fannie Mae 6%

01Oct2053 USD7,470,000 7,419,399 1.5
Firstenergy

Transmission Ser
144A (Reg) 2.866%
15Sep2028 USD720,000 626,015 0.1

Freddie Mac 2.5%
01Mar2051 USD1,100,000 596,627 0.1

Freddie Mac 2.5%
01May2051 USD2,700,000 1,741,549 0.4

Freddie Mac 4.5%
01Aug2052 USD5,900,000 5,043,104 1.0

Freddie Mac 4.5%
01Sep2052 USD5,080,000 4,390,180 0.9

Freddie Mac 5%
01Nov2052 USD390,000 348,199 0.1

Freddie Mac 5%
01Sep2052 USD3,150,000 2,752,051 0.6

Freddie Mac 5.5%
01Apr2053 USD4,940,000 4,698,029 1.0

Freddie Mac 6%
01Jul2053 USD8,930,000 8,626,776 1.7

Freeport-Mcmoran Inc
(Reg) 5.4%
14Nov2034 USD300,000 281,154 0.1

Gilead Sciences Inc
(Reg) 4.6%
01Sep2035 USD720,000 662,313 0.1

Goldman Sachs Group
Inc Var 01May2029 USD1,585,000 1,494,544 0.3

Goldman Sachs Group
Inc Var 21Oct2027 USD830,000 740,363 0.1

Goldman Sachs Group
Inc Var 21Oct2032 USD1,125,000 882,228 0.2

Government National
Mortgage A 4.5%
20Aug2052 USD2,760,000 2,428,230 0.5

Government National
Mortgage A 4.5%
20Sep2052 USD2,750,000 2,439,103 0.5

Government National
Mortgage A 5%
20Apr2053 USD10,200,000 9,593,778 1.9

Government National
Mortgage A 5%
20Mar2053 USD860,000 804,519 0.2

Government National
Mortgage A 5%
20Sep2052 USD900,000 809,853 0.2

Government National
Mortgage A 5.5%
20Apr2053 USD5,050,000 4,849,954 1.0

(Continued)
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Government National
Mortgage A 5.5%
20Feb2053 USD2,300,000 2,192,331 0.4

Government National
Mortgage A 5.5%
20Nov2052 USD2,750,000 2,548,976 0.5

Government National
Mortgage A 6%
20Dec2052 USD1,000,000 938,257 0.2

Government National
Mortgage A 6%
20Jan2053 USD1,350,000 1,299,727 0.3

HCA Inc (Reg) 3.5%
01Sep2030 USD2,000 1,698 0.0

HCA Inc (Reg) 4.625%
15Mar2052 USD450,000 339,058 0.1

HCA Inc (Reg) 5.9%
01Jun2053 USD25,000 23,137 0.0

HCA Inc 2.375%
15Jul2031 USD340,000 262,211 0.1

HCA Inc 3.5% 15Jul2051 USD625,000 395,322 0.1
Intuit Inc (Reg) 5.5%

15Sep2053 USD165,000 158,743 0.0
ITC Holdings Corp Ser

144A 2.95%
14May2030 USD450,000 378,702 0.1

ITC Holdings Corp Ser
144A 5.4% 01Jun2033 USD1,680,000 1,627,300 0.3

JBS USA/Food/Finance
Ser 144A 7.25%
15Nov2053 USD300,000 291,036 0.1

Jersey Central Pwr & Lt
Ser 144A 2.75%
01Mar2032 USD820,000 644,962 0.1

Kenvue Inc Ser 144A
4.9% 22Mar2033 USD520,000 497,667 0.1

Kraft Heinz Foods Co
(Reg) 4.625%
01Oct2039 USD530,000 460,302 0.1

Lowe'S Cos Inc (Reg)
4.25% 01Apr2052 USD595,000 451,870 0.1

Marvell Technology Inc
(Reg) 5.95%
15Sep2033 USD365,000 359,074 0.1

Meta Platforms Inc (Reg)
5.6% 15May2053 USD470,000 455,741 0.1

Meta Platforms Inc Ser WI
(Reg) 4.45%
15Aug2052 USD405,000 323,022 0.1

Monongahela Power Co
Ser 144A 5.85%
15Feb2034 USD140,000 137,907 0.0

Morgan Stanley (Reg) Var
19Jan2038 USD340,000 322,129 0.1

Morgan Stanley Bank Na
4.754% 21Apr2026 USD500,000 499,497 0.1

Morgan Stanley Ser MTN
(Reg) Var 13Feb2032 USD940,000 698,807 0.1

Morgan Stanley Var
20Jul2029 USD450,000 443,396 0.1

Morgan Stanley Var
21Apr2034 USD790,000 752,319 0.1
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United States (Continued)
Morgan Stanley Var

21Jul2034 USD610,000 582,192 0.1
NASDAQ Inc 5.55%

15Feb2034 USD745,000 721,973 0.1
Netflix Inc 4.625%

15May2029 EUR900,000 980,478 0.2
Occidental Petroleum

Cor (Reg) 4.625%
15Jun2045 USD215,000 157,800 0.0

Oracle Corp (Reg)
3.95% 25Mar2051 USD470,000 322,628 0.1

Oracle Corp 5.55%
06Feb2053 USD1,105,000 978,178 0.2

Pacific Gas & Electric
(Reg) 4.6%
15Jun2043 USD260,000 190,570 0.0

Pacific Gas & Electric
6.15% 15Jan2033 USD335,000 322,441 0.1

Sabine Pass
Liquefaction (Reg)
4.5% 15May2030 USD2,285,000 2,134,674 0.4

San Diego G & E (Reg)
5.35% 01Apr2053 USD520,000 488,870 0.1

Southern Co 5.2%
15Jun2033 USD540,000 521,291 0.1

Southern Co Gas
Capital 5.75%
15Sep2033 USD250,000 245,911 0.0

Southern Co Gas
Capital Ser 20-A
(Reg) 1.75%
15Jan2031 USD2,120,000 1,609,985 0.3

Take-Two Interactive
Sof (Reg) 4.95%
28Mar2028 USD905,000 875,094 0.2

Texas Instruments Inc
(Reg) 5.05%
18May2063 USD250,000 226,464 0.0

Thermo Fisher Scientific
(Reg) 4.95%
21Nov2032 USD825,000 808,470 0.2

T-Mobile USA Inc 5.05%
15Jul2033 USD951,000 893,158 0.2

T-Mobile USA Inc 5.65%
15Jan2053 USD340,000 314,737 0.1

Union Electric Co (Reg)
5.45% 15Mar2053 USD425,000 393,747 0.1

US Treasury 3.375%
15May2033 USD20,031,000 18,414,708 3.7

US Treasury 3.5%
15Feb2033 USD4,980,000 4,590,634 0.9

US Treasury 3.625%
15Feb2053 USD12,700,000 10,541,257 2.1

US Treasury 3.625%
15May2053 USD5,325,000 4,472,277 0.9

US Treasury 3.875%
15Aug2033 USD1,910,000 1,813,358 0.4

US Treasury 3.875%
15Feb2043 USD10,070,000 8,799,725 1.8

US Treasury 3.875%
31Mar2025 USD10,005,000 9,808,696 2.0

(Continued)
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US Treasury 4%
29Feb2028 USD1,960,000 1,915,992 0.4

US Treasury 4.375%
15Aug2043 USD2,690,000 2,520,848 0.5

Verizon Communications
(Reg) 1.75%
20Jan2031 USD970,000 734,601 0.1

Walmart Inc (Reg) 4.1%
15Apr2033 USD200,000 186,751 0.0

Walmart Inc (Reg) 4.5%
15Apr2053 USD100,000 88,078 0.0

Warnermedia Holdings
Inc Ser WI (Reg)
5.05% 15Mar2042 USD1,085,000 841,809 0.2

Wells Fargo & Company
(Reg) Var 25Jul2029 USD1,010,000 996,080 0.2

Wells Fargo & Company
Var 24Apr2034 USD710,000 680,842 0.1

Wells Fargo & Company
Var 25Jul2034 USD910,000 871,561 0.2

472,145,866 95.9

(II) Collective Investment Schemes (5.2%)

Luxembourg (5.2%)
JPMLIQ-JPM USD

Liquidity LVNAV ‘X’
(dist)*# 25,793,213 25,793,213 5.2

25,793,213 5.2

(III) Derivatives (1.4%)

Forward foreign exchange
contracts (1.0%) 4,745,675 1.0

Futures (0.4%)
Euro-BOBL Future

07/12/2023 (97) 74,843 0.0
Euro-BTP Future

07/12/2023 (202) 767,901 0.2
Euro-Bund Future

07/12/2023 162 (196,970) (0.0)
Euro-BUXL 30Y Bnd

07/12/2023 (47) 404,337 0.1
Long Gilt Future

27/12/2023 57 (37,776) (0.0)
US 10yr Ultra Fut

19/12/2023 (51) 137,141 0.0
US 10yr Note (CBT)

19/12/2023 (94) 172,703 0.0
US 2yr Note (CBT)

29/12/2023 289 (96,602) (0.0)
US 5yr Note (CBT)

29/12/2023 (75) 63,484 0.0
US Long Bond (CBT)

19/12/2023 (23) 136,810 0.0
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Futures (Continued)
US Ultra Bond (CBT)

19/12/2023 (94) 564,226 0.1

6,735,772 1.4

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 504,674,851 102.5

Other net liabilities (12,296,873) (2.5)

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at 30 September
2023 492,377,978 100.0

Total investments, at cost 518,194,141

* Issued and managed by a Connected Person of the Manager (refer to
Note 8 for the definition of Connected Persons)

# Not authorized in Hong Kong and not available to the public in Hong
Kong

Statement of Movements in Portfolio Holdings
For the period from 1 February 2023 (Date of Trust
Deed) to 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

% holdings

of net assets

2023

Listed/Quoted Investments

Debt Securities

United States 44.9
China 9.5
Italy 8.2
Supranational 5.8
United Kingdom 5.3
France 4.8
Germany 4.3
Canada 2.1
Japan 2.1
Luxembourg 1.9
Australia 1.7
Ireland 1.1
Netherlands 0.9
Mexico 0.7
Spain 0.5
Switzerland 0.5
Norway 0.3
New Zealand 0.3
United Arab Emirates 0.3
Cayman Islands 0.2
Romania 0.2
Saudi Arabia 0.2
Hungary 0.1

Collective Investment Schemes

Luxembourg 5.2

Derivatives

Forward foreign exchange contracts 1.0
Futures 0.4

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 102.5

Other net liabilities (2.5)

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at 30 September 100.0
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Details of Financial Derivative Instruments
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

(a) Forward foreign exchange contracts

As at 30 September 2023, the Fund held outstanding
forward foreign exchange contracts with details as shown in
Note 10.

(b) Futures

As at 30 September 2023, the Fund held futures contracts
with details as shown in Note 10.

Information on Exposure Arising from Financial
Derivative Instruments
For the period from 1 February 2023 (Date of Trust
Deed) to 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

The lowest, highest and average gross exposure arising from
the use of financial derivative instruments in the Fund for any
purpose as a proportion to the Fund’s total net asset value for
the period ended 30 September 2023.

1.2.2023
(Date of Trust

Deed) to
30.9.2023
% of NAV

Lowest gross exposure 14.6

Highest gross exposure 175.2

Average gross exposure 76.2

The lowest, highest and average net exposure arising from the
use of financial derivative instruments in the Fund for non-
hedging purpose as a proportion to the Fund’s total net asset
value for the period ended 30 September 2023.

1.2.2023
(Date of Trust

Deed) to
30.9.2023
% of NAV

Lowest net exposure -

Highest net exposure 15.8

Average net exposure 6.8
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2023

2023

USD

Assets
Current assets
Cash at banks 2,461,705
Amounts due from brokers 8,454,288
Derivatives [Note 4(I)(a), 10] 7,867,035
Investments [Note 4(I)(a)] 497,939,079
Interest and other accounts receivable 174,508

Total assets 516,896,615

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Overdraft with brokers 397,849
Amounts due to brokers 22,614,148
Distribution payable [Note 6] 93,706
Derivatives [Note 4(I)(a), 10] 1,131,263
Other accounts payable 281,671

Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable
to holders of redeemable units) 24,518,637

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units [Note 3] 492,377,978

Approved by the Trustee and the Manager on 24 January 2024

Signed by:

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, Trustee

JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited, Manager

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the period from 1 February 2023 (Date of Trust
Deed) to 30 September 2023

1.2.2023
(Date of Trust

Deed) to
30.9.2023

USD

Income
Net losses on investments and derivatives

[Note 5] (12,546,925)
Dividend income 155,876
Interest on deposits [Note 8(g), 8(h)] 113,757
Net foreign currency exchange losses (406,874)

(12,684,166)

Expenses
Management fee [Note 8(c)] 870,975
Safe custody and bank charges [Note 8(g), 8(h)] 68,971
Trustee’s fee [Note 8(e)] 63,111
Registrar’s fee [Note 8(f)] 37,505
Transaction costs [Note 8(h)] 26,403
Valuation fee [Note 8(c)] 8,190
Auditor’s fee 7,965
Printing and publication expenses 4,288
Legal and professional expenses 1,270
Other operating expenses 2,568

1,091,246

Net operating loss (13,775,412)

Finance costs
Distribution [Note 6] (513,599)

Loss before taxation (14,289,011)

Taxation [Note 7] 7,989

Decrease in net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units and total
comprehensive loss (14,281,022)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units
For the period from 1 February 2023 (Date of Trust
Deed) to 30 September 2023

1.2.2023
(Date of Trust

Deed) to
30.9.2023

USD

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at the beginning of the
period -

Allotment of redeemable units [Note 3] 506,659,000

Net allotment 506,659,000

Decrease in net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units and total
comprehensive loss (14,281,022)

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at the end of the period 492,377,978

Statement of Cash Flows
For the period from 1 February 2023 (Date of Trust
Deed) to 30 September 2023

1.2.2023
(Date of Trust

Deed) to
30.9.2023

USD

Operating activities
Purchase of investments and derivatives (1,123,958,489)
Proceeds from disposal of investments and

derivatives 620,879,221
Increase in overdraft with brokers 397,849
Dividend received 155,876
Interest received 113,741
Tax refunded 7,989
Registrar’s fee paid (18,933)
Transaction costs paid (25,106)
Trustee’s fee paid (51,766)
Management fee paid (713,000)
Others (564,784)

Net cash outflow from operating activities (503,777,402)

Financing activities
Receipts on allotment of redeemable units 506,659,000
Distribution paid (419,893)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 506,239,107

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,461,705

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the period 2,461,705

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash at banks 2,461,705
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 The Fund

JPMorgan Global Investment Grade Bond Fund (the “Fund”) was established under a Trust Deed dated 1 February 2023, as
amended (the “Trust Deed”) and is governed by the laws of Hong Kong. The Fund is authorized by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC”).

The investment objective of the Fund is to achieve a return in excess of global bond markets by investing primarily (i.e. at least
90% of its total net asset value) in investment grade debt securities globally across different sectors, including but not limited to
government, government related, corporate, emerging markets and securitized debts.

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager may decide to issue separate classes (each a “Class”) whose assets will be
commonly invested but where a specific fee structure, currency or distribution policy may be applied. Each Class may have a
different charging structure with the result that the net asset value attributable to each Class may differ.

All unitholders’ rights with regard to the convening, voting or otherwise acting at any meeting of unitholders are the same.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the period presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) held at fair value through
profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the Manager and the Trustee (the “Management”) to exercise their judgment in the process of
applying the Fund’s accounting policies.

New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 February 2023 (Date of Trust Deed) and have not been
early adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 February 2023 (Date of Trust Deed), and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements. None of
these are expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the Fund.

(b) Investments and derivatives

Classification

The Fund classifies its investments and derivatives based on both the Fund’s business model for managing those financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The portfolio of financial assets is managed
and performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. The Fund is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that
information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions.

Derivative contracts that have a negative fair value are presented as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The Fund makes short sales in which a borrowed security is sold in anticipation of a decline in the market value of that
security, or it may use short sales for various arbitrage transactions. Short sales are classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.

As such, the Fund classifies all of its investment portfolio as financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Recognition, derecognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of investments and derivatives are accounted for on the trade date basis. Investments and
derivatives are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Realized and unrealized
gains and losses on investments and derivatives are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Investments
and derivatives are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments and derivatives have expired
or the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets are
based on last traded prices. When trading in the securities of an investee company is suspended, the investment is valued
at the Manager’s estimate of its fair value.

Debt securities are fair valued based on quoted prices inclusive of accrued interest.

Investments in collective investment schemes are stated at fair value based on the net asset value per unit of the
respective funds as determined by the administrators of the relevant funds or stated at last traded prices if the collective
investment schemes are listed or traded on an exchange.

Open futures contracts are valued at last traded prices for both long and short positions at the valuation date. The
differences between the last traded prices and the contract prices are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are valued at the forward rates ruling at the valuation date. The differences between
the forward rates and the contract rates are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the beginning of the reporting period.

Structured entities

The Fund considers all of its investments in other funds (“Investee Funds”) to be investments in unconsolidated structured
entities. The Fund invests in Investee Funds whose objectives range from achieving medium to long-term capital growth.

(c) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(d) Income and expense

Dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date with the corresponding foreign withholding tax recorded as an
expense and is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Interest income on investments is accounted for as part of net gains/losses on investments and derivatives in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Interest income on cash at banks and short-term deposits is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on
an effective interest basis.

Expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accrual basis.

(e) Transaction costs

Transaction costs are costs incurred to acquire/dispose of financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
They include fees and commissions paid to agents, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(f) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The Fund has adopted United States dollar as its functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at period end exchange rates are recognized in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to cash and cash equivalents are presented in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income within “Net foreign currency exchange gains/losses”. Foreign exchange gains and losses relating
to the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income within “Net gains/losses on investments and derivatives”.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and bank deposits
with maturity of three months or less from the date of placing the deposits, net of certain short-term bank loans which the
Fund usually undertakes as overnight bank borrowings.

(h) Amounts due from/to brokers

Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for investments and derivatives sold and payables for investments and
derivatives purchased that have been contracted for but not yet settled by the end of the period.

These amounts are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. At each reporting date,
the Fund shall measure the loss allowance on amounts due from broker at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit
losses if the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. Significant financial difficulties of the broker,
probability that the broker will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization and default in payments are all considered
indicators that a loss allowance may be required.

(i) Proceeds and payments on allotment and redemption of units

The net asset value per unit is computed for each dealing day. The price at which units are allotted or redeemed is
calculated by reference to the net asset value per unit as at the close of business on the relevant dealing day in
accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed which may be different from the accounting policies stated in the
financial statements.

Units of the Fund are redeemable at the option of the holders of redeemable units and are classified as a financial liability
in the Statement of Financial Position which represents the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (or “net
asset value” or “net assets” or “NAV”) and is carried at the redemption amount that would be payable at the Statement of
Financial Position date if the holders of redeemable units exercised the right to redeem units of the Fund.

(j) Distribution payable to holders of redeemable units

Proposed distributions to holders of redeemable units are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when
they are appropriately authorized. The distribution on the redeemable units is recognized as a finance cost in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

3 Number of units in issue and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (per unit)

2023

USD Class
(acc)

USD Class C
(acc)

USD Class C
(mth)

Units Units Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the period - - -

Total allotments 100.000 48,191,181.560 2,539,446.697

At the end of the period 100.000 48,191,181.560 2,539,446.697

USD USD USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units 971 468,252,672 24,124,335

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units (per unit) 9.71 9.72 9.50
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4 Financial risk management

(I) Financial risk factors

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including market price risk, interest rate risk and
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Fund’s holding in the collective investment schemes, as a percentage of the collective investment schemes’ total net
asset value, will vary from time to time dependent on the volume of allotments and redemptions at the collective
investment schemes level. It is possible that the Fund may, at any point in time, hold a majority of the collective investment
schemes’ total units in issue. The Fund’s maximum exposure to loss from its interests in Investee Funds is equal to the
total fair value of its investment in collective investment schemes. Total purchase in collective investment schemes during
the period ended 30 September 2023 was USD155,700,838. During the period ended 30 September 2023, there was no
gain/loss carried/incurred on the investment in collective investment schemes.

(a) Market risk

(i) Market price risk

The Fund primarily invests in debt securities which are subject to interest rate risk. Refer to Note 4(I)(a)(ii) for interest rate
risk.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument or future cash flow will fluctuate due to changes in
market interest rates. The Fund is exposed to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of
market interest rates on its investments, derivatives and cash deposits.

The table below summarizes the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities as at 30 September which expose it to the risk
associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates, categorized by remaining
maturity dates.

Less than
1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years

No stated
maturity Total

USD USD USD USD USD
2023

Cash at banks 2,461,705 - - - 2,461,705
Derivatives 1,990,097 - - - 1,990,097
Investments (Note*) - 113,387,881 358,757,985 25,793,213 497,939,079

Total interest sensitivity gap 4,451,802 113,387,881 358,757,985 25,793,213 502,390,881

Note:

* The coupon rate of the investments ranged between 0.10% p.a. – 7.75% p.a.
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As at 30 September, the Fund’s fair value of investments and derivatives were as follows:

2023

Listed/Quoted Investments

Fair value of
investments

USD

% of
net

assets

Assets
Debt Securities
- United States 221,162,348 44.9
- China 46,930,044 9.5
- Italy 40,147,756 8.2
- Supranational 29,293,812 5.8
- United Kingdom 25,932,729 5.3
- Others 108,679,177 22.2

472,145,866 95.9

Collective Investment Schemes
- Luxembourg 25,793,213 5.2

25,793,213 5.2

Derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange contracts 5,545,590 1.1
- Futures 2,321,445 0.4

7,867,035 1.5

Liabilities
Derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange contracts (799,915) (0.1)
- Futures (331,348) (0.0)

(1,131,263) (0.1)

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 504,674,851 102.5

Also, refer to Note 10 for the exposures on derivatives.

The Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s interest rate risk sensitivity primarily through the modified duration of the
Fund on a regular basis. The modified duration measures the sensitivity of the price of a bond relative to the change in
interest rate. As at 30 September 2023, the Investment Manager estimates that the Fund has a modified duration of 6.02.
For the purpose of disclosing relevant sensitivities, the percentage of reasonable possible change in interest rate adopted
is 25 basis points, and does not include remote or “worst case” scenarios or “stress tests” nor represent the Investment
Manager’s forecast of the Fund’s future returns. If the interest rates were to rise by 25 basis points with all other variables
that may impact the net asset value of the Fund held constant, this would result in a decrease in net asset value of the
Fund by approximately USD7,410,289. If the interest rates were to fall by 25 basis points, this would result in an increase
in the net asset value of the Fund by the same amount.

Any cash and cash equivalents is placed/borrowed at short-term market interest rates and the Investment Manager
considers that the Fund is not subject to significant amount of risk due to the stable and low fluctuation in the prevailing
levels of market interest rates.
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(iii) Currency risk

The Fund holds assets and liabilities denominated in a number of currencies. HKFRS 7 considers the foreign exchange
exposure relating to non-monetary assets and liabilities to be a component of market price risk not currency risk. However,
the Investment Manager monitors the exposure to currency risk on all foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
including both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities.

The Fund enters in some forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge some of its foreign currency exposures to maintain
limited exposure to non-USD currencies. Refer to Note 10(a) for the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts as at
period end.

The table below summarizes the Fund’s exposure to currency risk as at 30 September together with the percentage of
reasonable possible change in foreign currencies and the estimated impact on net asset value of the Fund.

Net currency exposures (Note*)
USD

equivalent

% of
reasonable

possible
change

against USD
(Note**)

Estimated
impact on
net asset

value
USD

2023

Australian Dollar (296,906) +0.4 (1,188)
Canadian Dollar 35,689 +1.6 571
Chinese Yuan (Offshore) (47,406,512) -2.1 995,537
Chinese Yuan (Onshore) 46,930,044 -2.9 (1,360,971)
Euro 864,232 +8.1 70,003
Hong Kong Dollar 868 +0.2 2
Japanese Yen (240,045) -3.0 7,201
Mexican Nuevo Peso (678,769) +15.7 (106,567)
Sterling 244,508 +9.3 22,739

(546,891) (372,673)

If the foreign currency fluctuations were to move in the opposite direction, this would result in an opposite movement in the
net asset value of the Fund by the same amount, assuming all other variables that may impact the net asset value of the
Fund are held constant.

Note:

* Net currency exposures on assets and liabilities include both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities.

** % of reasonable possible change is based on the actual historical change in the respective currencies against the
functional currency of the Fund in the past 12 months and does not include remote or “worst case” scenarios or
“stress tests” nor represent the Investment Manager’s forecast of the Fund’s future returns.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not be able to pay amounts in full when due.

The Manager monitors credit risk with reference to a number of factors including history of default and the credit rating of
counterparties. The Manager considers the credit risk of other receivables such as amounts due from brokers or interest
and other accounts receivable, to be insignificant as the Fund has no default history on such receivables. Overall, the
Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero as these instruments have a low risk of default and the
Fund’s counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss
allowance has been recognized based on 12-month expected credit losses.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 30 September 2023 is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown in
the Statement of Financial Position.

All transactions in investments and derivatives are settled on a delivery versus payment basis using approved brokers.
The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of investments and derivatives sold is only made when the Fund’s
custodian bank has received payment. For a purchase, payment is made once the investments and derivatives have been
received by the Fund’s custodian bank. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet the obligation.
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The Fund’s investments are predominantly in debt securities and therefore the Fund is exposed to credit risk that the
issuers may not be able to repay the principal amount and interest at maturity. Credit risk derived from debt securities is
managed and monitored on an on-going basis by making reference to the credit rating and credit outlook provided by
credit rating agencies, if available, and internal credit analysis.

The table below summarizes the debt securities by credit rating as at 30 September.

2023
% of

net
assets

S&P(AAA)/Moody’s(Aaa)/FITCH(AAA) 28.2
S&P(AA)/Moody’s(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 9.7
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 6.6
S&P(BBB)/Moody’s(Baa)/FITCH(BBB) 10.7
Unrated 40.7

95.9

The table below summarizes the unrated debt securities as stated in the table above by their issuers’ credit rating as at 30
September.

2023
% of

net
assets

S&P(AA)/Moody’s(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 15.5
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 12.0
S&P(BBB)/Moody’s(Baa)/FITCH(BBB) 7.5
Unrated 5.7

40.7

In order to monitor the credit quality of the unrated debt securities, the Investment Manager, on the basis of internal
research, prepares its own proprietary ratings for the debt securities for which publicly available credit ratings are not
available. The Investment Manager reviews the key financial metrics of the issue and structural features of the debt
securities in order to calculate the implied ratings for each of the debt securities.

The table below summarizes the credit rating of the banks/brokers/custodian which the Fund has placed the financial
assets as at 30 September.

2023
Exposure to

Counterparties
USD

Bank balances
S&P(AA)/Moody’s(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 10,579
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 2,451,126

Derivatives held with/issued by brokers
S&P(AA)/Moody's(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 5,320,059
S&P(A)/Moody's(A)/FITCH(A) 2,546,976

Investment balances with custodian
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 497,939,079

(c) Liquidity risk

The Fund is exposed to daily redemption of units, the majority of its assets in investments are traded in an active market
which can be readily disposed of. The Manager may also limit the total number of units redeemed for the Fund on any
dealing day to 10% or more of the units in issue on any dealing day.

The Fund has the ability to enter into borrowing arrangements subject to the investment restrictions and guidelines.
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The table below summarizes the Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
as at 30 September to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows.

2023

Less than 1 month
USD

1 to 12 months
USD

Overdraft with brokers 397,849 -
Amounts due to brokers 22,614,148 -
Distribution payable 93,706 -
Derivatives 505,492 625,771
Other accounts payable 281,671 -
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units 492,377,978 -

Total financial liabilities 516,270,844 625,771

The Investment Manager manages the Fund’s liquidity risk by investing in investments that the Investment Manager
expects to liquidate normally within 1 month and making short-term bank borrowing to meet the total financial liabilities.

(d) Offsetting and amounts subject to master netting arrangements and similar agreements

As at 30 September 2023, the Fund was subject to master netting arrangements with certain derivative counterparties.

In the event of default, the Fund and its counterparties have the option to settle transactions on net basis. An event of
default may include failure to pay or deliver, breach of agreement or bankruptcy.

The following tables summarize the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, master netting
arrangements and similar agreements as at 30 September by types of financial instruments.

Gross amounts
of recognized

financial assets
presented in the

Statement of
Financial
Position

USD

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

USD

Collateral and
margin deposits

USD
Net amount

USD

2023

Assets
Derivatives 7,867,035 (1,089,071) (397,849) 6,380,115

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 7,867,035 (1,089,071) (397,849) 6,380,115

Gross amounts
of recognized

financial
liabilities

presented in the
Statement of

Financial
Position

USD

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

USD

Collateral and
margin deposits

USD
Net amount

USD

Liabilities
Overdraft with brokers 397,849 - (397,849) -
Derivatives 1,131,263 (1,089,071) - 42,192

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 1,529,112 (1,089,071) (397,849) 42,192
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(II) Capital risk management

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units which is subject to
allotments and redemptions of redeemable units. The Fund’s objective for capital management is to provide returns and
long-term capital growth for unitholders.

In order to maintain the capital structure, the Management performs the following:

- Monitor allotment and redemption activities relative to the liquid assets.

- To protect the interest of unitholders and in exceptional circumstances, the Manager may also limit the total number of
units redeemed for the Fund on any dealing day to 10% or more of the units in issue on any dealing day.

- Monitor fund investment guidelines and restrictions, in accordance with the constitutional documents, to maintain
sufficient liquidity through diversification.

(III) Fair value estimation

As at 30 September 2023, the Management considers that the carrying values of assets and liabilities were reasonable
approximations of their fair value.

HKFRS 13 requires the Fund to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The table below summarizes the Fund’s investments and derivatives (by class) within the fair value hierarchy measured at
fair value as at 30 September:

Listed/Quoted Investments
Level 1

USD
Level 2

USD
Level 3

USD
Total
USD

2023

Assets
Debt Securities - 472,145,866 - 472,145,866
Collective Investment Schemes 25,793,213 - - 25,793,213
Derivatives 2,321,445 5,545,590 - 7,867,035

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 28,114,658 477,691,456 - 505,806,114

Liabilities
Derivatives 331,348 799,915 - 1,131,263

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 331,348 799,915 - 1,131,263

Investments, whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified within level 1,
include active listed equities, collective investment schemes and exchange traded derivatives. The Fund does not adjust
the quoted price for these instruments.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on quoted market
prices, dealer/broker quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within level 2.

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently.

There were no transfers between levels for the period ended 30 September 2023.

For assets and liabilities carried at amortized cost, their carrying values are a reasonable approximation of fair value as at
30 September 2023.
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5 Net losses on investments and derivatives

1.2.2023
(Date of Trust

Deed) to
30.9.2023

USD

Change in unrealized gains/losses in value of investments and derivatives (13,519,290)
Realized gains on sale of investments and derivatives 972,365

(12,546,925)

6 Distribution

In the event that the amount available for distribution is insufficient to pay distributions as the Fund declares, the Manager may
in its discretion determine that such distributions be paid from capital.

No undistributed income was carried forward at the end of the period.

Distribution Class Ex date Pay date Rate Units USD

1.2.2023 (Date of Trust Deed) to 30.9.2023

USD Class C (mth) 28.4.2023 9.5.2023 USD0.0371 1,194,314.516 (44,309)
USD Class C (mth) 31.5.2023 8.6.2023 USD0.0370 2,539,446.697 (93,959)
USD Class C (mth) 30.6.2023 10.7.2023 USD0.0371 2,539,446.697 (94,213)
USD Class C (mth) 31.7.2023 8.8.2023 USD0.0369 2,539,446.697 (93,706)
USD Class C (mth) 31.8.2023 8.9.2023 USD0.0369 2,539,446.697 (93,706)
USD Class C (mth) 29.9.2023 11.10.2023 USD0.0369 2,539,446.697 (93,706)

Total distribution to holders of redeemable units (513,599)

7 Taxation

China Taxation

In preparing these financial statements, the Manager has made certain assumptions and used various estimates concerning
the tax exposure which is dependent on what might happen in the future. The resulting accounting estimates may not equal the
related actual results.

Under the general tax provision of PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (“PRC CIT Law”), the non-PRC residents with no place of
effective management, establishment or place of business in the PRC may be subject to 10% PRC withholding income tax
(“WIT”) on the capital gain derived from disposal of securities, unless exempt or reduced under current PRC tax laws and
regulations or relevant tax treaties.

In addition, the non-PRC residents with interest income derived from the debt securities will be subject to 10% WIT. Pursuant
to the PRC CIT Law, debt securities issuers in the PRC are obligated to withhold the 10% PRC WIT on interest income for
those foreign debt securities holders. However, interest income derived from government bonds issued by the State Council’s
finance departments and/or local government bonds approved by the State Council is exempt from PRC WIT under the PRC
CIT Law. In addition, bank deposit interest income and interest received from government bonds and local government bonds
are also exempt from Value-Added Tax (“VAT”).

Furthermore, according to the notice Caishui [2016] No.36 (“Circular 36”), VAT at 6% shall be levied on the difference between
the selling and buying prices of those marketable securities starting from 1 May 2016. In addition, if VAT is applicable, local
surtaxes including Urban Maintenance and Construction Tax (“UMCT”) (currently at the rate ranging from 1% to 7%),
Education Surcharge (“ES”) (currently at the rate of 3%) and Local Education Surcharge (“LES”) (currently at the rate of 2%)
are imposed based on the VAT liabilities (the “VAT related taxes”). Pursuant to the newly issued UMCT Law and Public Notice
[2021] No.28 jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) and the PRC State Taxation Administration (“STA”), effective
from 1 September 2021, no UMCT, ES and LES would be levied on the VAT paid for the service provisions and sale of
intangible assets in China by overseas parties to PRC parties. However, in practice, the implementation of the exemption may
vary depending on the local practice.

During the period ended 30 September 2023, the Fund invests in PRC debt securities in PRC through Bond Connect. The
Manager considers that the enforcement of PRC tax on gains derived from the PRC debt securities is uncertain as at the date
of approval of these financial statements and has exercised its judgment when assessing whether the Fund may be liable for
PRC taxation on its gains, the amount of potential liability and the probability of such tax being levied up to the reporting date.
However, significant uncertainties exist and estimation of the Manager may substantially differ from the actual events.
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Based on the current verbal interpretation of the STA and the local PRC tax authorities, the authorities are of the view that
capital gains derived by foreign investors from investment in PRC debt securities would not be treated as PRC-sourced income
and thus would not be subject to PRC WIT. However, there are no written tax regulations issued by the PRC tax authorities to
confirm this interpretation. As a matter of practice, such 10% PRC WIT on capital gains realized by non-PRC tax resident
enterprises from the trading of these PRC debt securities has not been strictly enforced by the PRC tax authorities. The
Manager has considered the applicability of the arrangement between the Mainland China and the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion to the Fund and assessed
that the probability of such tax being levied up to the approval date of the financial statements of the Fund is reasonably low.
Based on all the aforementioned factors, the Manager has reassessed the provisioning approach and has continued not
making PRC WIT provision on gains derived from the PRC debt securities of the Fund.

Hong Kong Taxation

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Fund was authorized as a collective investment scheme under
Section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and is therefore exempt from profits tax under Section 26A(1A) of the
Inland Revenue Ordinance.

Other Jurisdictions

Overseas tax was withheld or paid on certain interest income received during the period ended 30 September 2023.

8 Transactions with the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions entered into during the period between the Fund and the
Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons. Connected Persons of the Trustee and the Manager are those as defined
in the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds established by the SFC. All such transactions were entered into in the ordinary
course of business and were on normal commercial terms.

(a) Investment transactions with Connected Persons of the Trustee and the Manager are set out below:

The Fund invests in various funds (“underlying funds”) which are managed by Connected Persons of the Manager. All fees
on allotments and redemptions in the underlying funds payable by the Fund are waived by the managers of underlying
funds which are managed by Connected Persons of the Manager.

During the period ended 30 September 2023, dividend income amounted to USD155,876 in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income which represents the distributions from investments in collective investment schemes issued and
managed by Connected Persons of the Manager.

Name of company

Aggregate
value of

purchases
and sales of
investments

USD

% of the
Fund’s total

aggregate
value of

transactions

Commission
paid
USD

% of the
Fund’s total
commission

paid in the
period

Average
commission

rate
%

2023

HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited 11,210,650 0.34 - - -
HSBC Bank Plc London 903,426 0.03 - - -
HSBC Securities (USA) Inc, New York 25,751,419 0.78 - - -
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. 285,452,587 8.61 - - -

(b) Balances with the Manager and its Connected Persons as at period end:

2023
USD

Cash at banks 10,579
Amounts payable (177,878)

As at 30 September 2023, the Fund’s investment balance of USD25,793,213 represents the investments in the collective
investment schemes issued and managed by a Connected Person of the Manager.



JPMorgan Global Investment Grade Bond Fund
Annual report for the

period ended 30 September 2023

- 457 -

(c) Management fee for USD Class (acc) of 0.8% per annum and USD Class C (acc) and USD Class C (mth) of 0.4% per
annum of the net asset value of each Class is paid to JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited. Management fee is accrued on
each dealing day and is payable monthly in arrears. If the Fund invests in the collective investment scheme managed by
the Manager or its Connected Persons, the management fee of the Manager will be reduced to take account of the
management fee levied in respect of such collective investment scheme to the extent attributable to that Fund’s interest in
such collective investment scheme.

The Manager also receives a valuation fee of USD40 per valuation if the Fund’s net asset value is larger than USD5
million but smaller than USD20 million, or USD70 per valuation if the Fund’s net asset value is larger than USD20 million.

(d) The Fund allows the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons to subscribe for, and redeem, units of the Fund.

Certain members of the Manager’s group of companies held units of the Fund during the period and were entitled to profits
from transaction in units of the Fund as follows:

At the
beginning of

the period
Total

allotments
Total

redemptions
At the end of

the period

Profits from
transaction

USD
2023

JPMorgan Asset Management
(Asia Pacific) Limited

- USD Class (acc) - 100.000 - 100.000 -

(e) Trustee’s fee of 0.06% per annum of the net asset value of the Fund for the first USD40 million, 0.04% per annum for the
balance from USD40 million to USD70 million, and 0.025% per annum for the balance in excess of USD70 million is paid
to the Trustee. Trustee’s fee is accrued on each dealing day and is payable monthly in arrears.

(f) JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited, the registrar agent and Manager, receives a registrar’s fee which varies depending on the
number of unitholders in the Fund and the number of transactions which occur. The range agreed with the Trustee is
between 0.015% and 0.5% per annum of the Fund’s net asset value. The registrar’s fee is payable quarterly in arrears.

(g) During the period ended 30 September 2023, in addition to the management fee, valuation fee and registrar’s fee as
disclosed in Note 8(c) and 8(f), respective amounts received from/(paid to) the Manager, JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited,
and its Connected Persons were as follows:

1.2.2023
(Date of Trust

Deed) to
30.9.2023

USD

Interest on deposits 10,477
Safe custody and bank charges (557)

(h) During the period ended 30 September 2023, in addition to the trustee’s fee as disclosed in Note 8(e), respective amounts
received from/(paid to) the Trustee, HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, and its Connected Persons were as
follows:

1.2.2023
(Date of Trust

Deed) to
30.9.2023

USD

Interest on deposits 81,781
Transaction costs (8,808)
Safe custody and bank charges (64,425)

9 Soft dollar arrangements/Commission sharing arrangements

During the period ended 30 September 2023, the Investment Manager and its Connected Persons did not enter into any soft
dollar arrangements/commission sharing arrangements in connection with directing transactions of the Fund through a broker
or dealer.
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10 Derivatives

(a) Outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts as at 30 September were as follows:

Contract to
deliver

In exchange
for

Settlement
date Counterparty

Unrealized
gains/(losses)

USD

2023

Open contracts:

AUD9,237,844 USD5,985,745 4 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 23,225
EUR107,687,044 USD117,261,036 4 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 3,238,225
EUR7,200,000 USD7,689,113 4 October 2023 Morgan Stanley and Co. International Plc 65,501
EUR1,187,306 USD1,271,668 4 October 2023 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London 14,506
GBP15,559,504 USD19,740,276 4 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 748,905
GBP12,167,564 USD15,090,569 4 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 239,279
JPY2,465,040,909 USD16,974,398 4 October 2023 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London 450,182
MXN138,085,586 USD8,210,602 4 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 267,508
USD7,936,635 MXN138,085,586 4 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 6,459
USD11,248,905 CNH82,074,120 10 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 18,396
AUD9,237,844 USD6,000,102 3 November 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 30,736
CAD14,224,105 USD10,595,907 3 November 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 70,324
EUR116,074,350 USD123,257,623 3 November 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 196,177
GBP27,727,068 USD34,003,519 3 November 2023 Citibank N.A., London 154,454
GBP127,854 USD156,714 3 November 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 630
USD6,022,826 EUR5,685,666 3 November 2023 Royal Bank of Canada 5,089
USD3,247,068 EUR3,062,925 3 November 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London 230
USD1,011,576 CAD1,367,036 3 November 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London 6
JPY1,915,231,301 USD12,924,471 6 November 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 10,418
USD2,933,957 JPY435,915,370 6 November 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London 5,340

Total unrealized gains 5,545,590

CAD14,224,105 USD10,515,675 4 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (5,409)
USD12,856,642 JPY1,915,231,301 4 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (18,033)
USD918,204 JPY133,054,787 4 October 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London (26,282)
USD5,993,791 AUD9,237,844 4 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company (31,270)
USD2,841,227 JPY416,754,821 4 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company (47,542)
USD33,997,475 GBP27,727,068 4 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (154,814)
USD123,105,217 EUR116,074,350 4 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (201,633)
CNH5,662,247 USD774,392 10 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company (2,933)
CNH377,496,313 USD51,805,881 10 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company (17,576)
CNH301,084,440 USD41,193,556 3 November 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company (177,984)
GBP41,298 USD50,158 3 November 2023 Citibank N.A., London (258)
MXN138,085,586 USD7,896,864 3 November 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company (5,243)
USD2,639,043 MXN45,740,568 3 November 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London (21,486)
USD3,187,409 MXN54,972,669 3 November 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company (41,535)
USD11,869,050 GBP9,683,143 3 November 2023 Morgan Stanley and Co. International Plc (47,917)

Total unrealized losses (799,915)

Net unrealized gains 4,745,675
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(b) Open futures contracts as at 30 September were as follows:

No. of
contracts

long/(short)

Contract
value
USD

Settlement
Date Underlying assets Counterparty

Unrealized
gains/(losses)

USD

2023

Euro-BOBL Future
07/12/2023 (97) (11,887,380) December 2023

5-year debt
instruments issued

by the Federal
Republic of

Germany, the
Republic of Italy, the
Republic of France,

the Kingdom of
Spain or the Swiss

Confederation

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London 74,843

Euro-BTP Future
07/12/2023 (202) (23,467,681) December 2023

10-year debt
instruments issued

by the Federal
Republic of

Germany, the
Republic of Italy, the
Republic of France,

the Kingdom of
Spain or the Swiss

Confederation

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London 767,901

Euro-BUXL 30Y
Bnd 07/12/2023 (47) (6,088,787) December 2023

30-year debt
instruments issued

by the Federal
Republic of

Germany, the
Republic of Italy, the
Republic of France,

the Kingdom of
Spain or the Swiss

Confederation

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London 404,337
US 10yr Note

(CBT)
19/12/2023 (94) (10,157,875) December 2023

10-year U.S.
Treasury notes

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London 172,703

US 10yr Ultra Fut
19/12/2023 (51) (5,689,688) December 2023

10-year U.S.
Treasury notes

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London 137,141

US 5yr Note (CBT)
29/12/2023 (75) (7,901,953) December 2023

5-year U.S. Treasury
notes

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London 63,484
US Long Bond

(CBT)
19/12/2023 (23) (2,616,969) December 2023

20-year U.S.
Treasury bonds

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London 136,810
US Ultra Bond

(CBT)
19/12/2023 (94) (11,156,625) December 2023

30-year U.S.
Treasury notes

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London 564,226

Total unrealized gains 2,321,445
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No. of
contracts

long/(short)

Contract
value
USD

Settlement
Date Underlying assets Counterparty

Unrealized
gains/(losses)

USD

Euro-Bund Future
07/12/2023 162 22,064,011 December 2023

10-year debt
instruments issued

by the Federal
Republic of

Germany, the
Republic of Italy, the
Republic of France,

the Kingdom of
Spain or the Swiss

Confederation

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London (196,970)

Long Gilt Future
27/12/2023 57 6,550,838 December 2023 10-year U.K. Gilts

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London (37,776)

US 2yr Note (CBT)
29/12/2023 289 58,583,461 December 2023

2-year U.S. Treasury
notes

Citigroup Global
Markets Ltd

London (96,602)

Total unrealized losses (331,348)

Net unrealized gains 1,990,097
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Unitholders of JPMorgan Global Investment Grade
Bond Fund (the “Fund”)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

What we have audited

The financial statements of JPMorgan Global Investment
Grade Bond Fund, which are set out on pages 444 to 460,
comprise:

• the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 September
2023;

• the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period
then ended;

• the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units for the period then ended;

• the Statement of Cash Flows for the period then ended;
and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Fund as at 30 September 2023,
and of its financial transactions and its cash flows for the
period then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The Trustee and the Manager (the “Management”) of the Fund
are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management for the Financial
Statements

The Management of the Fund is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and
for such internal control as the Management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management of the
Fund is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Management either intends to liquidate
the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.

In addition, the Management of the Fund is required to ensure
that the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust
Deed dated 1 February 2023, as amended (the “Trust Deed”)
and Appendix E of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds
issued by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission
(the “SFC Code”).

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to assess whether the financial statements of the
Fund have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust
Deed and Appendix E of the SFC Code.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Management.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

To the Unitholders of JPMorgan Global Investment Grade
Bond Fund (the “Fund”)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements (Continued)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Management regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Matters under the Relevant Disclosure
Provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix E of the
SFC Code

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix
E of the SFC Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 January 2024
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Manager and
the Trustee

Manager’s Responsibilities

The Manager of the Fund is required by the Code on Unit
Trusts and Mutual Funds established by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong and the Trust Deed to
prepare financial statements for each annual accounting period
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Fund at the end of that period and of the transactions for the
period then ended. In preparing these financial statements, the
Manager is required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

- make judgments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and

- prepare the financial statements on the basis that the
Fund will continue in operation unless it is inappropriate to
presume this.

The Manager is also required to manage the Fund in
accordance with the Trust Deed and take reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Trustee’s Responsibilities

The Trustee of the Fund is required to:

- ensure that the Fund in all material respects is managed in
accordance with the Trust Deed and that the investment
and borrowing powers are complied with;

- satisfy itself that sufficient accounting and other records
have been maintained;

- safeguard the property of the Fund and rights attaching
thereto (as far as reasonably practicable); and

- report to the unitholders for each annual accounting period
should the Manager not manage the Fund in accordance
with the Trust Deed.

Report of the Trustee to the Unitholders

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of the
Fund has, in all material respects, managed the Fund in
accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 1
February 2023, as amended, for the period ended 30
September 2023.

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, Trustee

24 January 2024

Performance Record (Unaudited)

Net Asset Values

At financial
period ended

Net asset value
of the Fund

USD

Net asset value
per unit

USD

30/9/23
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)
- USD Class C (mth)

971
468,252,672
24,124,335

9.71
9.72
9.50

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid

30/9/23 (Since inception)
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)
- USD Class C (mth)

USD10.05
USD10.05
USD10.02

USD9.69
USD9.69
USD9.50



JPMorgan Global Investment Grade Bond Fund
Annual report for the

period ended 30 September 2023

- 464 -

Management and Administration

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS
Hong Kong Ka Li NG

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN

(Asia Pacific) Limited
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust
Hong Kong Services (Asia) Limited

1 Queen’s Road Central
Sub-Managers Hong Kong
JPMorgan Asset Management

(UK) Limited Registrar
60 Victoria Embankment HSBC Trustee (Cayman)
London Limited
EC4Y 0JP P.O. Box 309
United Kingdom Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
J.P. Morgan Investment Cayman Islands

Management Inc.
383 Madison Avenue Auditor
New York, NY10179 PricewaterhouseCoopers
United States of America Certified Public Accountants

22/F, Prince’s Building
1 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong
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Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG  

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA  
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
   (Asia Pacific) Limited
19/F, Chater House 
8 Connaught Road Central 

Trustee and Registrar
HSBC Institutional Trust 

Hong Kong    Services (Mauritius) Limited
Icon Ebene 

Sub-Managers Level 5, Office 1 (West Wing)
With effect from 30 December 2023 Rue de I’Institut 
JPMorgan Asset Management Ebene 
   (Singapore) Limited Republic of Mauritius
88 Market Street 
29/F, CapitaSpring Auditor
Singapore 048948 PricewaterhouseCoopers

PwC Centre 
With effect from 30 December 2023 Avenue de Telfair 
JPMorgan Asset Management (UK) Telfair 80829 
   Limited Moka 
60 Victoria Embankment Republic of Mauritius 
London 
EC4Y 0JP 
United Kingdom 

UK Tax Information 

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other offshore 
funds which are not themselves reporting funds. 
Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident in 
the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing on 
the sale, redemption or other disposal of units during 
the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital gain and 
not as income. The Fund has previously been certified 
by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing fund” in respect 
of the period from 23 November 1989 to 30 
September 2010. 
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Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG 

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA 
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
  (Asia Pacific) Limited 
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust  
Hong Kong   Services (Asia) Limited

1 Queen’s Road Central
Sub-Manager Hong Kong
JPMorgan Asset Management
  (Singapore) Limited Registrar
88 Market Street HSBC Trustee (Cayman)  
29/F, CapitaSpring   Limited 
Singapore 048948 P.O. Box 309 

Ugland House 
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UK Tax Information 

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other 
offshore funds which are not themselves reporting 
funds. Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident 
in the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing 
on the sale, redemption or other disposal of units 
during the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital 
gain and not as income. The Fund has previously 
been certified by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing 
fund” in respect of the period from 19 September 
2006 to 30 September 2010. 
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value

JPY’000

% of
net

assets

Listed/Quoted Investments (99.7%)

(I) Equities (99.4%)

Japan (99.4%)

Banks (1.0%)
Rakuten Bank Ltd 214,200 492,660 1.0

Business Support Services (0.7%)
Secom Company Limited 37,900 384,306 0.7

Casinos & Gaming (0.6%)
Tsuburaya Fields Holdings In 143,500 294,031 0.6

Chemicals (10.9%)
Milbon Co Ltd 52,300 217,620 0.4
Nippon Paint Holdings Co Ltd 452,000 454,712 0.9
Nippon Sanso Holdings

Corporation 334,200 1,184,739 2.3
Shin-Etsu Chemical
Company Limited Com 585,500 2,542,827 4.9

Uni-Charm Corporation 233,500 1,235,448 2.4

Chemicals - Commodity (0.6%)
Osaka Soda Co Ltd 46,000 296,700 0.6

Construction - Supplies & Fixtures (0.5%)
Sanwa Shutter Corporation 130,200 258,838 0.5

Construction & Engineering (0.8%)
JGC Holdings Corporation 202,900 421,931 0.8

Diversified Industrial Goods Wholesalers (4.9%)
Itochu Corp 465,600 2,517,034 4.9

Electric Appliances (10.1%)
Keyence Corporation 53,700 2,980,350 5.8
Tokyo Electron Ltd 109,700 2,242,268 4.3

Electrical Components & Equipment (2.8%)
Murata Manufacturing Co Ltd 391,500 1,070,361 2.1
Topcon Corporation 213,300 351,838 0.7

Employment Services (0.7%)
Benefit One Inc 120,600 130,429 0.2
Medley Inc 52,000 249,860 0.5

Food Distribution & Convenience Stores (2.8%)
Seven and I Holdings Co

Limited 250,800 1,468,434 2.8

Household Electronics (6.9%)
Sony Group Corp 292,700 3,582,648 6.9

Industrial Conglomerates - Industry (4.1%)
Hitachi Ltd 230,900 2,141,597 4.1

Information & Communication (8.3%)
Capcom Company Limited 64,700 348,409 0.7

(Continued)

Holding

Fair
value

JPY’000

% of
net

assets

GMO Payment Gateway Inc 59,700 488,167 1.0
Money Forward Inc 32,800 157,506 0.3
Nomura Research Institute

Limited 403,600 1,571,215 3.0
OBIC Company Limited 69,300 1,572,071 3.0
Square Enix Holdings Co Ltd 29,300 150,162 0.3

Insurance (7.7%)
T & D Holdings Inc 396,500 978,562 1.9
Tokio Marine Holdings Inc 859,600 2,978,514 5.8

Integrated Telecommunications Services (3.7%)
Nippon Telegraph And

Telephone Corp 10,688,200 1,887,536 3.7

Machinery (5.8%)
Daikin Industries Limited 74,400 1,746,540 3.4
Miura Co Ltd 82,700 248,927 0.5
SMC Corporation 15,200 1,018,096 1.9

Medical Equipment, Supplies & Distribution (0.8%)
AS ONE Corp 72,000 393,120 0.8

Other Financing Business (2.9%)
Japan Exchange Group Inc 548,700 1,522,094 2.9

Other Products (8.0%)
Asics Corp 445,200 2,325,280 4.5
Nintendo Company Limited 288,800 1,799,224 3.5

Precision Instruments (5.6%)
Asahi Intecc Company
Limited 97,300 261,542 0.5

Hoya Corporation 121,100 1,855,858 3.6
Terumo Corp 190,300 754,159 1.5

Recreational Products (1.3%)
Shimano Inc 33,000 665,445 1.3

Retail Trade (2.8%)
Cosmos Pharmaceutical
Corporation 25,400 388,493 0.7

Fast Retailing Company
Limited 15,200 495,368 1.0

Monotaro Co Ltd 250,300 400,605 0.8
ZOZO Inc 54,300 148,918 0.3

Semiconductor Equipment & Testing (0.3%)
Japan Material Co Ltd 68,100 156,221 0.3

Semiconductor (0.9%)
Ibiden Company Limited 60,800 484,211 0.9

Services (3.9%)
InfoMart Corp 648,700 260,777 0.5
Japan Elevator Service Holdi 189,200 415,294 0.8
Recruit Holdings Co Ltd 245,900 1,133,353 2.2
WealthNavi Inc 142,200 180,452 0.4

51,304,750 99.4
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Investment Portfolio (Continued)
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Fair
Value

JPY’000

% of
net

assets

(II) Derivatives (0.3%)

Forward foreign exchange
contracts (0.3%) 166,323 0.3

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 51,471,073 99.7

Other net assets 152,916 0.3

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at 30 September
2023 51,623,989 100.0

Total investments, at cost 43,437,733

Statement of Movements in Portfolio Holdings
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

% holdings
of net assets

2023 2022

Listed/Quoted Investments

Equities

Japan
Chemicals 10.9 7.4
Electric Appliances 10.1 9.9
Information & Communication 8.3 10.6
Other Products 8.0 6.0
Insurance 7.7 6.0
Household Electronics 6.9 5.5
Machinery 5.8 6.2
Precision Instruments 5.6 6.8
Diversified Industrial Goods Wholesalers 4.9 3.1
Industrial Conglomerates - Industry 4.1 2.7
Services 3.9 6.9
Integrated Telecommunications Services 3.7 4.2
Other Financing Business 2.9 1.7
Retail Trade 2.8 5.8
Electrical Components & Equipment 2.8 2.1
Food Distribution & Convenience Stores 2.8 -
Recreational Products 1.3 1.0
Banks 1.0 -
Semiconductors 0.9 -
Medical Equipment, Supplies & Distribution 0.8 1.3
Construction & Engineering 0.8 0.6
Employment Services 0.7 1.3
Business Support Services 0.7 -
Chemicals - Commodity 0.6 -
Casinos & Gaming 0.6 -
Construction - Supplies & Fixtures 0.5 -
Semiconductor Equipment & Testing 0.3 -
Real Estate - 1.8
Retail - Drugs - 0.4
Software - 0.3
Wholesale Trade - 1.2

Derivatives

Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.3 0.1

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 99.7 92.9

Other net assets 0.3 7.1

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at 30 September 100.0 100.0



JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund
Annual report for the

year ended 30 September 2023

- 526 -

Details of Financial Derivative Instruments
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

As at 30 September 2023, the Fund held outstanding forward
foreign exchange contracts with details as shown in Note 10.

Information on Exposure Arising from Financial
Derivative Instruments
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

The lowest, highest and average gross exposure arising from the
use of financial derivative instruments in the Fund for any
purpose as a proportion to the Fund’s total net asset value for
the year ended 30 September 2023.

2023

% of NAV

Lowest gross exposure -

Highest gross exposure -

Average gross exposure -

The lowest, highest and average net exposure arising from the
use of financial derivative instruments in the Fund for non-
hedging purpose as a proportion to the Fund’s total net asset
value for the year ended 30 September 2023.

2023

% of NAV

Lowest net exposure -

Highest net exposure -

Average net exposure -

# There are some share classes with currency hedging features. For the
avoidance of doubt, their exposures are not included in the calculation
of the gross exposure of the Fund portfolio.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2023

2023 2022

JPY’000 JPY’000

Assets
Current assets
Cash at banks 136,082 2,754,940
Amounts receivable on allotment 175,471 108,646
Derivatives [Note 4(I)(a), 10] 204,706 73,880
Investments [Note 4(I)(a)] 51,304,750 39,095,918
Dividend and other accounts

receivable 388,023 233,012

Total assets 52,209,032 42,266,396

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Short-term bank loans - unsecured

[Note 8] 190,000 -
Amounts due to brokers 46,486 -
Amounts payable on redemption 228,345 61,314
Derivatives [Note 4(I)(a), 10] 38,383 19,330
Other accounts payable 81,829 67,189

Liabilities (excluding net assets
attributable to holders of
redeemable units) 585,043 147,833

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
[Note 3] 51,623,989 42,118,563

Approved by the Trustee and the Manager on 24 January 2024

Signed by:

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, Trustee

JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited, Manager

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

JPY’000 JPY’000

Income
Net gains/(losses) on

investments and derivatives
[Note 5] 8,177,903 (11,330,887)

Dividend income 842,810 622,799
Interest on deposits

[Note 7(i), 7(j)] 2,089 81
Net foreign currency exchange

gains/(losses) 14,489 (40,381)
Other income 254 -

9,037,545 (10,748,388)

Expenses
Management fee [Note 7(e)] 716,445 675,920
Registrar’s fee [Note 7(h)] 40,760 36,011
Safe custody and bank charges

[Note 7(i), 7(j)] 16,249 14,792
Trustee’s fee [Note 7(g)] 13,327 12,618
Transaction costs [Note 7(i), 7(j)] 10,141 13,460
Auditor’s fee 2,510 1,531
Valuation fee [Note 7(e)] 2,259 2,007
Legal and professional

expenses 652 716
Printing and publication

expenses 489 370
Other operating expenses 1,014 1,734

803,846 759,159

Net operating profit/(loss) 8,233,699 (11,507,547)

Finance costs
Interest expense [Note 7(j)] (65) (113)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 8,233,634 (11,507,660)

Taxation [Note 6] (83,911) (61,930)

Increase/(decrease) in net
assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units and total
comprehensive
income/(loss) 8,149,723 (11,569,590)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

JPY’000 JPY’000

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
at the beginning of the year 42,118,563 44,189,285

Allotment of redeemable units
[Note 3] 26,120,317 29,473,457

Redemption of redeemable units
[Note 3] (24,764,614) (19,974,589)

Net allotment 1,355,703 9,498,868

43,474,266 53,688,153

Increase/(decrease) in net
assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units and total
comprehensive income/(loss) 8,149,723 (11,569,590)

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
at the end of the year 51,623,989 42,118,563

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

JPY’000 JPY’000

Operating activities
Purchase of investments and

derivatives (15,555,866) (20,170,996)
Proceeds from disposal of

investments and derivatives 11,459,636 12,440,603
Dividend received 773,068 487,276
Interest received 2,089 94
Trustee’s fee paid (13,154) (12,623)
Transaction costs paid (9,976) (13,730)
Registrar’s fee paid (37,339) (36,183)
Tax paid (83,911) (61,930)
Management fee paid (705,971) (675,797)
Others (94,895) 240,380

Net cash outflow from
operating activities (4,266,319) (7,802,906)

Financing activities
Interest paid (65) (113)
Receipts on allotment of

redeemable units 26,053,492 30,892,754
Payments on redemption of

redeemable units (24,597,583) (20,595,813)

Net cash inflow from
financing activities 1,455,844 10,296,828

(Decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents (2,810,475) 2,493,922

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 2,754,940 250,947

Exchange gains on cash and
cash equivalents 1,617 10,071

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year (53,918) 2,754,940

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash at banks 136,082 2,754,940
Short-term bank loans -

unsecured (190,000) -

(53,918) 2,754,940
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 The Fund

JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund (the “Fund”) was established under a Trust Deed dated 1 August 1969, as amended (the “Trust
Deed”) and is governed by the laws of Hong Kong. The Fund is authorized by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong (the “SFC”).

The investment objective of the Fund is to provide long-term capital growth through investment primarily (i.e. at least 70% of its
total net asset value) in Japanese equity securities and other equity securities whose performance is linked to that of the
Japanese economy.

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager may decide to issue separate classes (each a “Class”) whose assets will be commonly
invested but where a specific fee structure, currency or distribution policy may be applied. Each Class may have a different
charging structure with the result that the net asset value attributable to each Class may differ.

All unitholders’ rights with regard to the convening, voting or otherwise acting at any meeting of unitholders are the same.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) held at fair value through
profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires the Manager and the Trustee (the “Management”) to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the
Fund’s accounting policies.

Standards and amendments to existing standards effective from 1 October 2022

There are no standards or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the first time for the financial year
beginning 1 October 2022 that have had a material impact on the Fund.

New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 October 2022 and have not been early adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 October 2022, and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to
have a material effect on the financial statements of the Fund.

(b) Investments and derivatives

Classification

The Fund classifies its investments and derivatives based on both the Fund’s business model for managing those financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The portfolio of financial assets is managed and
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. The Fund is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that
information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions.

Derivative contracts that have a negative fair value are presented as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The Fund makes short sales in which a borrowed security is sold in anticipation of a decline in the market value of that
security, or it may use short sales for various arbitrage transactions. Short sales are classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.

As such, the Fund classifies all of its investment portfolio as financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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Recognition, derecognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of investments and derivatives are accounted for on the trade date basis. Investments and derivatives
are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Realized and unrealized gains and
losses on investments and derivatives are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Investments and
derivatives are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments and derivatives have expired or
the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets are
based on last traded prices. When trading in the securities of an investee company is suspended, the investment is valued
at the Manager’s estimate of its fair value.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are valued at the forward rates ruling at the valuation date. The differences between
the forward rates and the contract rates are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the beginning of the reporting period.

(c) Securities lending and borrowing

Securities lenders’ agreements are entered into with institutions of appropriate financial standing who engage in such
arrangements acceptable to the Trustee and on arm’s length commercial terms. Securities lent are included in the
investment portfolio of the Fund. Relevant securities lending income entitled by the Fund is accounted for in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income. Collateral received for the purpose of securities lent generally consist of non-cash collateral
which are off-balance sheet transactions and are therefore not included in the financial statements.

The Fund may enter into securities borrowing arrangements for short sale purposes. Short positions represent obligations
to deliver securities sold but not yet purchased, and are accounted for as investments and valued at their fair value.
Securities borrowed during the year are off-balance sheet transactions and are therefore not included in the investment
portfolio of the Fund. Collateral placed for the purpose of securities borrowed generally consist of cash collateral and are
included in the Statement of Financial Position separately.

(d) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(e) Income and expense

Dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date with the corresponding foreign withholding tax recorded as an
expense and is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Interest income on investments is accounted for as part of net gains/losses on investments and derivatives in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.

Interest income on cash at banks and short-term deposits is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on
an effective interest basis.

Expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accrual basis.

(f) Transaction costs

Transaction costs are costs incurred to acquire/dispose of financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
They include fees and commissions paid to agents, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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(g) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The Fund has adopted Japanese Yen as its functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to cash and cash equivalents are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income within “Net foreign currency exchange gains/losses”. Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the financial
assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
within “Net gains/losses on investments and derivatives”.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and bank deposits
with maturity of three months or less from the date of placing the deposits, net of certain short-term bank loans which the
Fund usually undertakes as overnight bank borrowings.

(i) Amounts due from/to brokers

Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for investments and derivatives sold and payables for investments and
derivatives purchased that have been contracted for but not yet settled by the end of the year.

These amounts are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. At each reporting date,
the Fund shall measure the loss allowance on amounts due from broker at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit
losses if the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. Significant financial difficulties of the broker,
probability that the broker will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization and default in payments are all considered
indicators that a loss allowance may be required.

(j) Proceeds and payments on allotment and redemption of units

The net asset value per unit is computed for each dealing day. The price at which units are allotted or redeemed is calculated
by reference to the net asset value per unit as at the close of business on the relevant dealing day in accordance with the
provisions of the Trust Deed which may be different from the accounting policies stated in the financial statements.

Units of the Fund are redeemable at the option of the holders of redeemable units and are classified as a financial liability
in the Statement of Financial Position which represents the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (or “net
asset value” or “net assets” or “NAV”) and is carried at the redemption amount that would be payable at the Statement of
Financial Position date if the holders of redeemable units exercised the right to redeem units of the Fund.



JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund
Annual report for the

year ended 30 September 2023

- 532 -

3 Number of units in issue and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (per unit)

2023

HKD Hedged
Class (acc) JPY Class (acc)

RMB Hedged
Class (acc)

USD Hedged
Class (acc)

Units Units Units Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the year 2,239,333.752 784,791.060 225,959.903 1,888,572.618

Total allotments 1,457,587.364 281,634.594 213,010.364 2,497,476.708
Total redemptions (901,528.405) (262,811.629) (115,923.559) (2,495,787.365)

At the end of the year 2,795,392.711 803,614.025 323,046.708 1,890,261.961

HKD JPY’000 CNY USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units 85,257,649 40,858,438 7,733,700 60,195,576

HKD JPY CNY USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units (per unit) 30.50 50,843 23.94 31.85

2022

HKD Hedged
Class (acc) JPY Class (acc)

RMB Hedged
Class (acc)

USD Hedged
Class (acc)

Units Units Units Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the year 1,657,948.031 542,511.866 136,137.154 2,952,499.300

Total allotments 1,342,885.951 377,028.538 119,297.247 2,370,757.156
Total redemptions (761,500.230) (134,749.344) (29,474.498) (3,434,683.838)

At the end of the year 2,239,333.752 784,791.060 225,959.903 1,888,572.618

HKD JPY’000 CNY USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units 55,881,828 33,935,022 4,502,988 48,787,218

HKD JPY CNY USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units (per unit) 24.95 43,241 19.93 25.83



JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund
Annual report for the

year ended 30 September 2023

- 533 -

4 Financial risk management

(I) Financial risk factors

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including market price risk, interest rate risk and
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk

(i) Market price risk

The Fund’s investments and derivatives are subject to the market price risk inherent in all investments and derivatives i.e.
the value of holdings may fall as well as rise. The Fund’s market risk is managed through (i) deliberate stocks selection, and
(ii) diversification of the investment portfolio in accordance with specific investment restrictions and guidelines.

The Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s market price sensitivity primarily through the Beta of the Fund on a regular
basis. Beta measures the statistical relationship between the return of the Fund and the relevant benchmark index chosen
by the Investment Manager.

As at 30 September, the fair value of investments and derivatives and its estimated market sensitivity were as follows:

2023 2022

Listed/Quoted Investments

Fair value of
investments

JPY’000

% of
net

assets

Fair value of
investments

JPY’000

% of
net

assets

Assets

Equities

- Chemicals 5,635,346 10.9 3,098,027 7.4

- Electric Appliances 5,222,618 10.1 4,163,373 9.9

- Information & Communication 4,287,530 8.3 4,449,464 10.6

- Other Products 4,124,504 8.0 2,512,508 6.0

- Insurance 3,957,076 7.7 2,525,498 6.0

- Household Electronics 3,582,648 6.9 2,302,928 5.5

- Machinery 3,013,563 5.8 2,624,609 6.2

- Precision Instruments 2,871,559 5.6 2,852,245 6.8

- Services 1,989,876 3.9 2,888,432 6.9

- Retail Trade 1,433,384 2.8 2,461,588 5.8

- Others 15,186,646 29.4 9,217,246 21.7

51,304,750 99.4 39,095,918 92.8

Derivatives

- Forward foreign exchange contracts 204,706 0.4 73,880 0.2

51,509,456 99.8 39,169,798 93.0

Liabilities

Derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange contracts (38,383) (0.1) (19,330) (0.1)

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 51,471,073 99.7 39,150,468 92.9

Also, refer to Note 10 for the exposures on derivatives.
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Net asset value
JPY’000

Relevant
benchmark index

for the Fund
(Note*)

Beta
(Note**)

% of reasonable
possible change

of the relevant
benchmark index

(Note***)

Estimated
impact on net

asset value
(Note****)

JPY’000

As at 30 September 2023 51,623,989 TOPIX Net 1.21 +29.3 18,302,253

As at 30 September 2022 42,118,563 TOPIX Net 1.03 -7.5 (3,253,659)

If the relevant benchmark index return was to move in the opposite direction, this would result in an opposite movement in
the net asset value of the Fund by the same amount, assuming all other variables that may impact the net asset value of
the Fund are held constant.

Note:

* Relevant benchmark index for the Fund represents the relevant market index used by the Investment Manager in
monitoring the market price risk of the Fund.

** Beta measures the statistical relationship between the return of the Fund and the respective benchmark index over the
maximum of past 36 months, or the number of months since portfolio inception. For funds launched within a period of
less than 12 months, weekly returns of the Fund are used for calculating the Beta.

*** % of reasonable possible change is based on the actual historical change in the benchmark index in the past 12 months
and does not include remote or “worst case” scenarios or “stress tests” nor represent the Investment Manager’s forecast
of the Fund’s future returns. For funds launched within a period of less than 12 months, actual historical change in the
benchmark index since the commencement of operations will be used to calculate the % of reasonable possible change.

**** Estimated impact on net asset value of the Fund is calculated by applying the relevant Beta against the net asset value
of the Fund multiplied by the % of reasonable possible change of the relevant benchmark index, assuming all other
variables that may impact the net asset value of the Fund are held constant.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument or future cash flow will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates.

The table below summarizes the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities as at 30 September which expose it to the risk
associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates, categorized by remaining maturity
dates.

2023
Less than 1 month

2022
Less than 1 month

JPY’000 JPY’000

Cash at banks 136,082 2,754,940
Short-term bank loans - unsecured (190,000) -

Total interest sensitivity gap (53,918) 2,754,940

Any cash and cash equivalents are placed/borrowed at short-term market interest rates and the Investment Manager
considers that the Fund is not subject to significant amount of risk due to the stable and low fluctuation in the prevailing
levels of market interest rates.

(iii) Currency risk

The Fund holds assets and liabilities denominated in a number of currencies. HKFRS 7 considers the foreign exchange
exposure relating to non-monetary assets and liabilities to be a component of market price risk not currency risk. However,
the Investment Manager monitors the exposure to currency risk on all foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
including both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities.

The Fund enters in some forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge some of its foreign currency exposures to maintain
limited exposure to non-JPY currencies. Refer to Note 10 for the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts as at year
end.
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The table below summarizes the Fund’s exposure to currency risk as at 30 September together with the percentage of
reasonable possible change in foreign currencies and the estimated impact on net asset value of the Fund.

Net currency exposures (Note*)
JPY’000

equivalent

% of
reasonable

possible
change

against JPY
(Note**)

Estimated
impact on
net asset

value
JPY’000

2023

Chinese Yuan (Offshore) 164,848 +0.9 1,484
Hong Kong Dollar 1,614,265 +3.3 53,271
United States Dollar 8,922,428 +3.1 276,595

10,701,541 331,350

2022

Chinese Yuan (Offshore) 3,610 +17.4 628
Hong Kong Dollar 790 +28.7 227
United States Dollar 30,577 +29.7 9,081

34,977 9,936

If the foreign currency fluctuations were to move in the opposite direction, this would result in an opposite movement in the
net asset value of the Fund by the same amount, assuming all other variables that may impact the net asset value of the
Fund are held constant.

Note:

* Net currency exposures on assets and liabilities include both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities.

** % of reasonable possible change is based on the actual historical change in the respective currencies against the
functional currency of the Fund in the past 12 months and does not include remote or “worst case” scenarios or “stress
tests” nor represent the Investment Manager’s forecast of the Fund’s future returns.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not be able to pay amounts in full when due.

The Manager monitors credit risk with reference to a number of factors including history of default and the credit rating of
counterparties. The Manager considers the credit risk of other receivables such as amounts receivable on allotment,
dividend and other accounts receivable, to be insignificant as the Fund has no default history on such receivables in the
past 5 years. Overall, the Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero as these instruments have a low
risk of default and the Fund’s counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term.
As a result, no loss allowance has been recognized based on 12-month expected credit losses.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 30 September 2023 and 2022 is the carrying amount of the financial assets as
shown in the Statement of Financial Position.

All transactions in investments and derivatives are settled on a delivery versus payment basis using approved brokers. The
risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of investments and derivatives sold is only made when the Fund’s custodian
bank has received payment. For a purchase, payment is made once the investments and derivatives have been received
by the Fund’s custodian bank. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet the obligation.
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The table below summarizes the credit rating of the banks/brokers/custodian which the Fund has placed the financial assets
as at 30 September.

2023 2022
Exposure to

counterparties
Exposure to

counterparties

JPY’000 JPY’000

Bank balances
S&P(AA)/Moody’s(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 101,465 917,085
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 34,617 1,837,855

Derivatives issued by brokers
S&P(AA)/Moody’s(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 19,694 (1,386)
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 185,012 55,936

Investment balances with custodian
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 51,304,750 39,095,918

(c) Liquidity risk

The Fund is exposed to daily redemption of units, the majority of its assets in investments are traded in an active market
which can be readily disposed of. The Manager may also limit the total number of units redeemed for the Fund on any
dealing day to 10% or more of the units in issue on any dealing day.

The Fund has the ability to enter into borrowing arrangements subject to the investment restrictions and guidelines.

The table below summarizes the Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
as at 30 September to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2023 2022

Less than 1 month 1 to 12 months Less than 1 month 1 to 12 months
JPY’000 JPY’000 JPY’000 JPY’000

Short-term bank loans - unsecured 190,000 - - -
Amounts due to brokers 46,486 - - -
Amounts payable on redemption 228,345 - 61,314 -
Derivatives 38,376 7 19,272 58
Other accounts payable 81,829 - 67,189 -
Net assets attributable to holders of

redeemable units 51,623,989 - 42,118,563 -

Total financial liabilities 52,209,025 7 42,266,338 58

The Investment Manager manages the Fund’s liquidity risk by investing in investments that the Investment Manager expects
to liquidate normally within 1 month and making short-term bank borrowing to meet the total financial liabilities.

(d) Offsetting and amounts subject to master netting arrangements and similar agreements

As at 30 September 2023 and 2022, the Fund was subject to master netting arrangements with certain derivative
counterparties.

In the event of default, the Fund and its counterparties have the option to settle transactions on net basis. An event of default
may include failure to pay or deliver, breach of agreement or bankruptcy.
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The following tables summarize the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, master netting arrangements
and similar agreements as at 30 September by types of financial instruments.

Gross amounts of
recognized

financial assets
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

JPY’000

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

JPY’000

Collateral and
margin deposits

JPY’000
Net amount

JPY’000

2023

Assets
Derivatives 57,166 (15,915) - 41,251

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 57,166 (15,915) - 41,251

Gross amounts of
recognized

financial liabilities
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

JPY’000

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

JPY’000

Collateral and
margin deposits

JPY’000
Net amount

JPY’000

Liabilities
Derivatives 34,829 (15,915) - 18,914

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 34,829 (15,915) - 18,914

Gross amounts of
recognized

financial assets
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

JPY’000

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

JPY’000

Collateral and
margin deposits

JPY’000
Net amount

JPY’000

2022

Assets
Derivatives 69,445 (13,651) - 55,794

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 69,445 (13,651) - 55,794

Gross amounts of
recognized

financial liabilities
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

JPY’000

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

JPY’000

Collateral and
margin deposits

JPY’000
Net amount

JPY’000

Liabilities
Derivatives 18,006 (13,651) - 4,355

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 18,006 (13,651) - 4,355
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(II) Capital risk management

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units which is subject to
allotments and redemptions of redeemable units. The Fund’s objective for capital management is to provide returns and
long-term capital growth for unitholders.

In order to maintain the capital structure, the Management performs the following:

- Monitor allotment and redemption activities relative to the liquid assets.

- To protect the interest of unitholders and in exceptional circumstances, the Manager may also limit the total number of
units redeemed for the Fund on any dealing day to 10% or more of the units in issue on any dealing day.

- Monitor fund investment guidelines and restrictions, in accordance with the constitutional documents, to maintain
sufficient liquidity through diversification.

(III) Fair value estimation

As at 30 September 2023 and 2022, the Management considers that the carrying values of assets and liabilities were
reasonable approximations of their fair value.

HKFRS 13 requires the Fund to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The table below summarizes the Fund’s investments and derivatives (by class) within the fair value hierarchy measured at
fair value as at 30 September:

Level 1
JPY’000

Level 2
JPY’000

Level 3
JPY’000

Total
JPY’000

2023

Assets
Equities 51,304,750 - - 51,304,750
Derivatives - 204,706 - 204,706

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 51,304,750 204,706 - 51,509,456

Liabilities
Derivatives - 38,383 - 38,383

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss - 38,383 - 38,383

2022

Assets
Equities 39,095,918 - - 39,095,918
Derivatives - 73,880 - 73,880

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 39,095,918 73,880 - 39,169,798

Liabilities
Derivatives - 19,330 - 19,330

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss - 19,330 - 19,330
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Investments, whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified within level 1,
include active listed equities and exchange traded derivatives. The Fund does not adjust the quoted price for these
instruments.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on quoted market
prices, dealer/broker quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within level 2.

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently.

There were no transfers between levels for the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022.

For assets and liabilities carried at amortized cost, their carrying values are a reasonable approximation of fair value as at
30 September 2023 and 2022.

5 Net gains/(losses) on investments and derivatives

2023 2022
JPY’000 JPY’000

Change in unrealized gains/losses in value of investments and derivatives 7,475,933 (14,407,969)
Realized gains on sale of investments and derivatives 701,970 3,077,082

8,177,903 (11,330,887)

6 Taxation

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Fund was authorized as a collective investment scheme under
Section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and is therefore exempt from profits tax under Section 26A(1A) of the Inland
Revenue Ordinance.

Overseas tax was withheld or paid on certain dividend income received during the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022.

7 Transactions with the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions entered into during the year between the Fund and the
Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons. Connected Persons of the Trustee and the Manager are those as defined
in the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds established by the SFC. All such transactions were entered into in the ordinary
course of business and were on normal commercial terms.

(a) Investment transactions with Connected Persons of the Manager are set out below:

Name of company

Aggregate
value of

purchases
and sales of
investments

JPY’000

% of the
Fund’s total

aggregate
value of

transactions

Commission
paid

JPY’000

% of the
Fund’s total
commission

paid in the
year

Average
commission

rate
%

2023

J.P. Morgan Securities Japan Co., Ltd 892,524 3.39 301 3.11 0.03

2022

J.P. Morgan Securities Japan Co., Ltd 793,920 2.69 318 2.50 0.04



JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund
Annual report for the

year ended 30 September 2023

- 540 -

(b) Balances with the Manager and its Connected Persons as at year end:

2023 2022
JPY’000 JPY’000

Cash at banks 101,465 917,085
Amounts payable (76,205) (63,193)

(c) During the year ended 30 September 2023, the fund entered into forward exchange contracts with Connected Persons of
the Trustee, with realized gains amounting to JPY145,089,000 (2022: realized gains amounting to JPY71,242,000).

(d) During the year ended 30 September 2023, the income accruing to the Manager relating to allotments and redemptions in
the Fund, net of commission paid to agents, amounted to JPY285,000 (2022: JPY510,000).

(e) Management fee of 1.5% per annum of the net asset value of the Fund is paid to JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited.
Management fee is accrued on each dealing day and is payable monthly in arrears.

The Manager also receives a valuation fee of USD40 per valuation if the Fund’s net asset value is larger than USD5 million
but smaller than USD20 million, or USD70 per valuation if the Fund’s net asset value is larger than USD20 million.

(f) The Fund allows the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons to subscribe for, and redeem, units of the Fund.

The Manager and certain members of its group of companies held units of the Fund during the year and were entitled to
profits from transaction in units of the Fund as follows:

At the beginning
of the year

Total
allotments

Total
redemptions

At the end
of the year

Profits from
transaction

JPY’000
2023

JPMorgan Asset Management
(Asia Pacific) Limited

- JPY Class (acc) 44.170 206.377 (2.741) 247.806 -
- USD Hedged Class (acc) - 68.617 - 68.617 -

JPMorgan Asset Management (S)
Limited

- USD Hedged Class (acc) - 213.546 - 213.546 -

2022

JPMorgan Asset Management
(Asia Pacific) Limited

- JPY Class (acc) 5.486 38.684 - 44.170 -

JPMorgan Asset Management (S)
Limited

- JPY Class (acc) 13.022 - (13.022) - 213

(g) Trustee’s fee of 0.06% per annum of the net asset value of the Fund for the first JPY3,000 million, 0.04% per annum for the
balance from JPY3,000 million to JPY5,300 million, and 0.025% per annum for the balance in excess of JPY5,300 million is
paid to the Trustee. Trustee’s fee is accrued on each dealing day and is payable monthly in arrears.

(h) JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited, the registrar agent and Manager, receives a registrar’s fee which varies depending on the
number of unitholders in the Fund and the number of transactions which occur. The range agreed with the Trustee is between
0.015% and 0.5% per annum of the Fund’s net asset value. The registrar’s fee is payable quarterly in arrears.
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(i) During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, in addition to the management fee, valuation fee and registrar’s fee
as disclosed in Note 7(e) and 7(h), respective amounts received from/(paid to) the Manager, JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited,
and its Connected Persons were as follows:

2023 2022
JPY’000 JPY’000

Interest on deposits 1,769 36
Transaction costs (301) (318)
Safe custody and bank charges (5,547) (3,754)

(j) During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, in addition to the trustee’s fee as disclosed in Note 7(g), respective
amounts received from/(paid to) the Trustee, HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, and its Connected Persons
were as follows:

2023 2022
JPY’000 JPY’000

Interest on deposits 320 45
Interest expense (65) (113)
Transaction costs (458) (741)
Safe custody and bank charges (10,023) (10,371)

8 Borrowings

During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, the Fund has unsecured short-term bank borrowings with The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, a Connected Person of the Trustee. All bank borrowings have a duration of less
than 7 days. All such transactions are entered into in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms.

9 Soft dollar arrangements/Commission sharing arrangements

The Investment Manager has entered into soft dollar arrangements/commission sharing arrangements with brokers under which
certain goods and services used to support investment decision making are received by the Investment Manager. A portion of
the transaction commission paid by the Fund is retained by the brokers as compensation for the goods and services.

The goods and services must be of demonstrable benefit to the Fund and would be limited to research and advisory services.

During the year ended 30 September 2023, the Investment Manager obtained the services through soft dollar
arrangements/commission sharing arrangements on transactions amounting to JPY22,870,469,000 (2022: JPY19,307,929,000).
Commission which amounted to JPY672,000 (2022: JPY1,931,000) is paid from the Fund on these transactions.
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10 Derivatives

Outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts as at 30 September were as follows:

Contract to
deliver

In exchange
for

Settlement
date Counterparty

Unrealized
gains/(losses)

JPY’000

2023

Open contracts:

USD131,451 JPY19,629,544 4 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 20
USD13,063 JPY1,949,016 4 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 0
HKD19,259 JPY367,598 5 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1
USD403,628 JPY60,270,839 5 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 68
HKD22,647 JPY431,939 6 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 1
USD4,203 JPY626,845 6 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 0
HKD10,986 JPY209,110 10 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 0
HKD8,598 JPY163,759 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
HKD8,603 JPY163,755 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 0
JPY9,598,925,760 USD65,501,973 20 October 2023 Barclays Bank Plc, London 144,598
JPY1,665,814,390 HKD88,963,618 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London 24,540
JPY389,456,649 USD2,675,695 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 8,557
JPY315,861,311 USD2,153,285 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 4,443
JPY161,299,431 CNH8,055,466 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London 3,263
JPY201,928,542 USD1,373,546 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 2,389
JPY100,643,098 USD692,225 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 2,326
JPY109,252,786 USD747,186 20 October 2023 Royal Bank of Canada 1,892
JPY87,661,702 USD598,254 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1,329
JPY155,482,001 USD1,053,995 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1,302
JPY109,427,510 USD744,168 20 October 2023 Standard Chartered Bank London 1,269
JPY41,821,293 USD289,328 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 1,217
JPY77,705,611 USD528,626 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London 928
JPY57,776,500 USD394,469 20 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 901
JPY55,687,354 USD379,744 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 800
JPY29,519,375 USD200,772 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 346
JPY19,108,116 HKD1,022,924 20 October 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London 328
JPY19,954,893 USD136,301 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 320
JPY12,002,865 USD82,537 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 275
JPY16,068,565 HKD858,509 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 244
JPY9,000,648 HKD486,274 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 239
JPY10,447,580 HKD562,074 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 232
JPY18,540,545 HKD986,424 20 October 2023 Morgan Stanley and Co. International Plc 202
JPY11,155,689 USD76,314 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 196
JPY8,576,799 HKD461,345 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 189
JPY11,613,313 USD79,342 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 189
JPY10,179,777 HKD543,630 20 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company 149
JPY13,599,403 HKD723,417 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London 146
JPY5,846,939 HKD312,505 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 91
JPY6,974,196 USD47,398 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 76
JPY5,972,979 USD40,665 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 76
JPY5,171,627 USD35,259 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 73
JPY5,740,070 HKD305,570 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 66
JPY19,229,698 USD129,651 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 56
JPY6,304,818 HKD334,202 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 45
JPY16,974,981 USD114,405 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 43
JPY3,800,455 HKD202,101 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 40
JPY1,695,277 CNH84,711 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 35
JPY1,849,503 CNH92,225 20 October 2023 Standard Chartered Bank London 35
JPY3,736,254 USD25,328 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 31
JPY1,407,022 HKD75,646 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 30
JPY2,184,189 HKD116,546 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 30
JPY1,570,921 CNH78,343 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London 30
JPY2,675,987 HKD142,342 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 29
JPY1,946,630 HKD103,944 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 28
JPY1,991,188 HKD105,907 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 21
JPY1,829,180 CNH90,553 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 21
JPY1,123,312 USD7,674 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 18
JPY1,306,728 CNH64,831 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London 18
JPY557,696 HKD30,192 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 16
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Contract to
deliver

In exchange
for

Settlement
date Counterparty

Unrealized
gains/(losses)

JPY’000

JPY847,103 CNH42,126 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 13
JPY625,138 HKD33,415 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 10
JPY325,858 USD2,239 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 7
JPY556,365 USD3,784 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 7
JPY475,849 CNH23,523 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 5
JPY175,449 CNH8,814 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 5
JPY327,186 USD2,228 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 4
JPY170,560 CNH8,509 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 3
JPY241,703 HKD12,859 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 3
JPY867,304 HKD45,688 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1
JPY267,248 HKD14,093 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1
USD1,242,215 JPY185,049,439 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 268
USD19,872 JPY2,959,924 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London 4
CNH191,933 JPY3,905,908 21 November 2023 Standard Chartered Bank London 0
HKD2,203,076 JPY41,767,428 21 November 2023 Morgan Stanley and Co. International Plc 92
HKD430,577 JPY8,148,806 21 November 2023 Citibank N.A., London 4
HKD8,611 JPY162,961 21 November 2023 Citibank N.A., London 0
USD1,511,769 JPY224,174,404 21 November 2023 Morgan Stanley and Co. International Plc 472
USD1,100 JPY162,866 21 November 2023 Citibank N.A., London 0

Total unrealized gains 204,706

HKD45,688 JPY869,433 3 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
JPY2,967,919 USD19,872 3 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (3)
USD114,405 JPY17,020,058 3 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (49)
USD129,651 JPY19,281,003 3 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (63)
HKD14,093 JPY267,871 4 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
JPY164,151 HKD8,598 4 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
JPY185,520,487 USD1,242,215 4 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (210)
JPY164,094 USD1,100 5 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (0)
JPY164,112 HKD8,603 5 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (0)
JPY8,201,491 HKD430,577 5 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (1)
JPY163,992 HKD8,611 6 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (0)
CNH23,523 JPY476,418 10 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (5)
CNH8,011 JPY161,468 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
CNH7,996 JPY160,816 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
CNH8,027 JPY159,743 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (4)
CNH22,212 JPY447,577 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (6)
CNH40,265 JPY806,653 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (16)
CNH68,502 JPY1,382,839 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (17)
CNH57,822 JPY1,164,547 20 October 2023 Standard Chartered Bank London (17)
CNH177,978 JPY3,602,558 20 October 2023 Standard Chartered Bank London (33)
CNH291,985 JPY5,901,249 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (64)
CNH174,455 JPY3,489,956 20 October 2023 Barclays Bank Plc, London (74)
HKD13,072 JPY248,131 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
HKD8,598 JPY163,039 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
HKD8,604 JPY162,291 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
HKD8,612 JPY161,900 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2)
HKD8,612 JPY161,896 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2)
HKD8,612 JPY161,871 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
HKD8,612 JPY161,871 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
HKD8,606 JPY161,647 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2)
HKD112,996 JPY2,144,882 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
HKD8,630 JPY161,721 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2)
HKD8,623 JPY161,484 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2)
HKD8,630 JPY161,129 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
HKD8,630 JPY161,129 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
HKD8,630 JPY160,401 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (4)
HKD73,921 JPY1,386,194 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (18)
HKD67,257 JPY1,259,485 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (18)
HKD124,435 JPY2,333,453 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (31)
HKD224,854 JPY4,227,205 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (45)
HKD108,178 JPY1,997,995 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (57)
HKD211,702 JPY3,952,532 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (70)
HKD426,333 JPY8,016,398 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (84)
HKD763,205 JPY14,390,848 20 October 2023 Barclays Bank Plc, London (111)
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JPY’000

HKD632,825 JPY11,855,533 20 October 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London (169)
HKD2,063,489 JPY38,982,982 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London (224)
HKD1,925,932 JPY35,947,918 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London (646)
HKD2,047,808 JPY38,087,044 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (822)
JPY431,094 HKD22,647 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (1)
JPY366,830 HKD19,259 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
JPY19,579,947 USD131,451 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (26)
JPY60,127,631 USD403,628 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (87)
USD1,100 JPY163,145 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
USD1,100 JPY162,263 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
USD1,120 JPY164,725 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
USD1,100 JPY161,655 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
USD1,100 JPY161,344 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2)
USD1,227 JPY180,181 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2)
USD1,100 JPY161,308 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2)
USD1,100 JPY160,794 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
USD1,235 JPY180,468 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
USD1,100 JPY158,998 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (5)
USD1,100 JPY158,998 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (5)
USD1,525 JPY221,756 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (5)
USD15,657 JPY2,323,088 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (6)
USD4,730 JPY693,651 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (10)
USD6,299 JPY923,959 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (13)
USD7,969 JPY1,168,901 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (17)
USD12,724 JPY1,871,830 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (21)
USD12,606 JPY1,845,498 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (30)
USD82,175 JPY12,187,670 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (36)
USD20,615 JPY3,029,521 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (37)
USD11,531 JPY1,676,857 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (38)
USD47,345 JPY6,984,013 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (59)
USD174,365 JPY25,577,143 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (360)
USD263,972 JPY38,810,535 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (456)
USD217,903 JPY31,954,147 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (459)
USD278,696 JPY40,738,985 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (718)
USD565,714 JPY83,414,026 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London (737)
USD452,645 JPY66,543,543 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (788)
USD440,092 JPY64,489,080 20 October 2023 Morgan Stanley and Co. International Plc (975)
USD1,501,342 JPY221,778,612 20 October 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London (1,548)
USD501,679 JPY73,019,153 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1,606)
USD673,440 JPY97,934,113 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2,241)
USD1,033,635 JPY151,293,909 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2,461)
USD1,068,735 JPY156,465,661 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2,510)
USD1,224,474 JPY179,601,681 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (2,541)
USD1,777,157 JPY261,030,212 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (3,325)
USD1,255,796 JPY183,432,089 20 October 2023 Barclays Bank Plc, London (3,370)
USD2,536,256 JPY373,187,802 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (4,084)
USD1,637,634 JPY236,710,065 20 October 2023 Citibank N.A., London (6,891)
JPY207,935 HKD10,986 21 November 2023 Citibank N.A., London (0)
JPY622,260 USD4,203 21 November 2023 Citibank N.A., London (0)
JPY1,934,143 USD13,063 21 November 2023 Citibank N.A., London (1)
JPY4,334,741 CNH212,725 21 November 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (6)

Total unrealized losses (38,383)

Net unrealized gains 166,323

2022

Open contracts:

JPY2,563,598 USD17,736 3 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 3
JPY565,748 HKD30,723 3 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1
JPY159,165 HKD8,635 3 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
JPY159,148 USD1,100 3 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
JPY4,028,733 HKD218,743 5 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 4
JPY478,385 USD3,309 5 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
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JPY’000

JPY159,013 HKD8,634 6 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
USD20,658 JPY2,989,283 7 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1
HKD220,167 JPY4,058,130 11 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1
CNH56,454 JPY1,155,319 21 October 2022 Standard Chartered Bank London 11
CNH60,052 JPY1,224,859 21 October 2022 Standard Chartered Bank London 7
CNH7,732 JPY157,409 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1
JPY7,560,328,436 USD52,708,653 21 October 2022 Citibank N.A., London 55,252
JPY1,105,242,092 HKD60,422,157 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London 7,413
JPY95,777,828 USD693,587 21 October 2022 Goldman Sachs International, London 4,435
JPY146,874,267 USD1,032,439 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London 2,297
JPY110,265,903 USD775,641 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1,802
JPY13,372,491 HKD759,331 21 October 2022 Standard Chartered Bank London 610
JPY24,127,809 USD169,275 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 330
JPY21,088,415 HKD1,162,515 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London 319
JPY8,111,572 USD58,142 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 289
JPY14,400,374 USD101,272 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 232
JPY25,860,981 USD180,417 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 206
JPY3,104,456 USD22,170 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 99
JPY19,371,616 USD134,736 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 96
JPY3,195,174 USD22,537 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 61
JPY5,769,293 USD40,329 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 58
JPY2,886,694 USD20,333 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 51
JPY1,167,730 USD8,371 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 42
JPY7,993,529 USD55,605 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 41
JPY13,028,734 USD90,447 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 39
JPY4,438,413 USD30,935 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 31
JPY715,546 HKD40,217 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 25
JPY1,214,768 CNH60,639 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 15
JPY1,428,630 HKD78,339 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 14
JPY372,144 HKD20,916 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 13
JPY9,953,107 USD68,969 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 12
JPY205,127 USD1,486 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 10
JPY10,784,331 USD74,705 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 9
JPY504,696 HKD27,847 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 8
JPY254,769 HKD14,280 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 8
JPY1,733,150 USD12,039 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 6
JPY382,762 HKD21,110 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 6
JPY662,267 USD4,623 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London 6
JPY292,399 HKD16,093 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 4
JPY451,563 HKD24,713 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 3
JPY256,014 CNH12,714 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 2
JPY5,968,901 USD41,324 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 2
JPY219,595 HKD11,982 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 1
JPY229,660 HKD12,487 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
JPY174,707 HKD9,515 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
JPY151,753 HKD8,248 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
JPY1,270,790 USD8,798 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
HKD8,635 JPY158,639 21 November 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0
USD78,465 JPY11,302,864 21 November 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 4
USD1,100 JPY158,455 21 November 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 0

Total unrealized gains 73,880

HKD9,515 JPY174,924 3 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
USD90,447 JPY13,050,216 3 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (40)
JPY159,204 USD1,100 5 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
USD41,324 JPY5,977,596 5 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
USD68,969 JPY9,967,232 5 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (13)
HKD12,487 JPY229,888 6 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
JPY11,355,310 USD78,465 6 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
USD74,705 JPY10,798,988 6 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (10)
HKD8,248 JPY151,895 7 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
CNH12,714 JPY256,200 11 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
CNH27,464 JPY554,029 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
CNH91,205 JPY1,841,252 21 October 2022 Standard Chartered Bank London (8)
CNH34,764 JPY695,715 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (9)
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CNH50,007 JPY996,167 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (18)
CNH123,661 JPY2,483,696 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (23)
HKD24,221 JPY445,876 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
HKD8,635 JPY158,959 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
HKD8,635 JPY158,803 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
HKD8,634 JPY158,846 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
HKD30,723 JPY565,023 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
HKD8,635 JPY158,230 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
HKD8,634 JPY157,443 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
HKD8,634 JPY156,861 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
HKD8,634 JPY156,855 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
HKD8,634 JPY156,540 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
HKD8,635 JPY156,038 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
HKD8,635 JPY156,038 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
HKD8,634 JPY156,318 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
HKD218,743 JPY4,024,223 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (4)
HKD8,634 JPY154,031 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (5)
HKD8,634 JPY152,016 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (7)
HKD69,072 JPY1,259,542 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (12)
HKD149,029 JPY2,731,011 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (13)
HKD65,912 JPY1,194,545 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (19)
HKD270,959 JPY4,966,270 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (23)
HKD234,789 JPY4,295,552 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (28)
HKD1,430,281 JPY26,277,933 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (60)
HKD426,341 JPY7,746,054 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (105)
HKD745,841 JPY13,626,759 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (108)
HKD704,364 JPY12,845,837 21 October 2022 Standard Chartered Bank London (125)
HKD344,951 JPY6,161,641 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (191)
HKD653,740 JPY11,720,944 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (318)
HKD1,149,429 JPY20,462,660 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (704)
JPY284,123 CNH13,927 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
JPY1,917,933 CNH93,457 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (23)
JPY98,632,995 CNH4,802,276 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (1,279)
USD3,309 JPY477,676 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
USD1,754 JPY253,118 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
USD1,100 JPY158,883 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (0)
USD1,100 JPY158,147 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
USD1,100 JPY158,128 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
USD1,100 JPY157,821 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
USD1,100 JPY157,599 21 October 2022 Royal Bank of Canada (1)
USD1,100 JPY156,778 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
USD1,100 JPY156,772 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
USD17,736 JPY2,559,274 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
USD5,374 JPY773,656 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
USD1,100 JPY156,412 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (3)
USD1,280 JPY181,470 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (4)
USD3,527 JPY504,524 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (5)
USD1,100 JPY153,459 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (5)
USD1,100 JPY151,865 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (7)
USD1,217 JPY168,008 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (8)
USD379,180 JPY54,768,481 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (17)

USD4,426 JPY619,820 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (20)
USD42,417 JPY6,097,521 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (31)
USD31,512 JPY4,516,605 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (36)
USD24,896 JPY3,539,227 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (58)

USD26,902 JPY3,752,501 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (134)
USD359,505 JPY51,783,740 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (159)
USD89,210 JPY12,647,099 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (242)
USD1,257,361 JPY181,252,254 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (417)
USD197,169 JPY28,036,179 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (452)
USD326,915 JPY46,763,297 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (471)
USD193,686 JPY27,496,998 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (488)
USD351,796 JPY50,139,870 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (689)
USD381,563 JPY54,387,446 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (742)
USD657,535 JPY94,239,316 21 October 2022 Citibank N.A., London (764)
USD154,021 JPY21,487,332 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (766)
USD605,680 JPY86,613,038 21 October 2022 Citibank N.A., London (898)
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11 Distribution

No distribution was made during the year (2022: nil).

Contract to
deliver

In exchange
for

Settlement
date Counterparty

Unrealized
gains/(losses)

JPY’000

USD197,455 JPY27,260,520 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1,269)
USD300,269 JPY42,061,737 21 October 2022 State Street Bank and Trust Company (1,323)
USD576,041 JPY81,015,278 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (2,214)
USD996,073 JPY139,057,140 21 October 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (4,860)
JPY2,975,990 USD20,658 21 November 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (1)
JPY1,470,821 CNH72,727 21 November 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (1)
JPY16,839,289 HKD916,662 21 November 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (6)
JPY4,045,340 HKD220,167 21 November 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2)
JPY114,966,893 USD798,055 21 November 2022 HSBC Bank Plc London (48)

Total unrealized losses (19,330)

Net unrealized gains 54,550
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Unitholders of JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund (the “Fund”)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

What we have audited

The financial statements of JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund, which
are set out on pages 527 to 547, comprise:

• the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 September
2023;

• the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then
ended;

• the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units for the year then ended;

• the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Fund as at 30 September 2023,
and of its financial transactions and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The Trustee and the Manager (the “Management”) of the Fund
are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the Management for the Financial
Statements

The Management of the Fund is responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such
internal control as the Management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management of the
Fund is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Management either intends to liquidate the Fund or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the Management of the Fund is required to ensure
that the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust
Deed dated 1 August 1969, as amended (the “Trust Deed”) and
Appendix E of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds issued
by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission (the
“SFC Code”).

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to assess whether the financial statements of the Fund
have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust
Deed and Appendix E of the SFC Code.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Management.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

To the Unitholders of JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund (the “Fund”)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements (Continued)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Management regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Matters under the Relevant Disclosure
Provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix E of the
SFC Code

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix
E of the SFC Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 January 2024
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Manager and
the Trustee

Manager’s Responsibilities

The Manager of the Fund is required by the Code on Unit Trusts
and Mutual Funds established by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong and the Trust Deed to prepare
financial statements for each annual accounting period which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Fund at
the end of that period and of the transactions for the period then
ended. In preparing these financial statements, the Manager is
required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

- make judgments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and

- prepare the financial statements on the basis that the Fund
will continue in operation unless it is inappropriate to
presume this.

The Manager is also required to manage the Fund in
accordance with the Trust Deed and take reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Trustee’s Responsibilities

The Trustee of the Fund is required to:

- ensure that the Fund in all material respects is managed in
accordance with the Trust Deed and that the investment
and borrowing powers are complied with;

- satisfy itself that sufficient accounting and other records
have been maintained;

- safeguard the property of the Fund and rights attaching
thereto (as far as reasonably practicable); and

- report to the unitholders for each annual accounting period
should the Manager not manage the Fund in accordance
with the Trust Deed.

Report of the Trustee to the Unitholders

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of the Fund
has, in all material respects, managed the Fund in accordance
with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 1 August 1969, as
amended, for the year ended 30 September 2023.

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, Trustee

24 January 2024

Performance Record (Unaudited)

Net Asset Values

At financial
period ended

Net asset value
of the Fund

Net asset value
per unit

30/9/23
- HKD Hedged Class (acc)
- JPY Class (acc)
- RMB Hedged Class (acc)
- USD Hedged Class (acc)

HKD85,257,649
JPY40,858,438,000

CNY7,733,700
USD60,195,576

HKD30.50
JPY50,843
CNY23.94
USD31.85

30/9/22
- HKD Hedged Class (acc)
- JPY Class (acc)
- RMB Hedged Class (acc)
- USD Hedged Class (acc)

HKD55,881,828
JPY33,935,022,000

CNY4,502,988
USD48,787,218

HKD24.95
JPY43,241
CNY19.93
USD25.83

30/9/21
- HKD Hedged Class (acc)
- JPY Class (acc)
- RMB Hedged Class (acc)
- USD Hedged Class (acc)

HKD55,983,920
JPY31,883,197,000

CNY3,595,874
USD102,545,578

HKD33.77
JPY58,770
CNY26.41
USD34.73



JPMorgan Japan (Yen) Fund
Annual report for the

 year ended 30 September 2023

- 551 - 

Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices 

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid 

30/9/23 
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD32.39 
JPY54,582 
CNY25.53 
USD33.76 

HKD25.15 
JPY43,232 
CNY20.04 
USD26.05 

30/9/22
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD35.67 
JPY62,147 
CNY28.00 
USD36.70 

HKD23.97 
JPY41,734 
CNY19.10 
USD24.70 

30/9/21
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD36.24 
JPY63,080 
CNY28.29 
USD37.26 

HKD27.14 
JPY47,385 
CNY20.67 
USD27.91 

30/9/20
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD27.58 
JPY48,188 
CNY21.01 
USD28.37 

HKD16.45 
JPY28,889 
CNY12.40 
USD16.91 

30/9/19
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD22.75 
JPY40,867 
CNY16.92 
USD23.23 

HKD17.48 
JPY31,172 
CNY13.09 
USD17.87 

30/9/18
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD22.84 
JPY41,063 
CNY17.00 
USD23.33 

HKD17.45 
JPY31,639 
CNY12.68 
USD17.70 

30/9/17
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD17.47 
JPY31,699 
CNY12.68 
USD17.72 

HKD13.75 
JPY24,938 
CNY9.63 

USD13.89 

30/9/16
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD17.04 
JPY30,807 
CNY11.64 
USD17.13 

HKD12.45 
JPY22,837 
CNY8.57 

USD12.54 

30/9/15
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD17.93 
JPY32,213 
CNY12.25 
USD18.02 

HKD9.80 
JPY17,505 
CNY9.20 
USD9.83 

30/9/14
- HKD Hedged Class (acc) 
- JPY Class (acc) 
- USD Hedged Class (acc) 

HKD12.38 
JPY22,019 
USD12.39 

HKD9.20 
JPY16,476 
USD9.22 

Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG  

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA  
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN  

(Asia Pacific) Limited 
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust  
Hong Kong    Services (Asia) Limited 

1 Queen’s Road Central
Sub-Managers Hong Kong 
JPMorgan Asset Management  

(Japan) Limited Registrar
Tokyo Building HSBC Trustee (Cayman)  
7-3 Marunouchi 2-chome     Limited 
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo P.O. Box 309 
100-6432, Japan Ugland House

68 West Bay Road 
JPMorgan Asset Management Grand Cayman KY1-1104 

(UK) Limited Cayman Islands 
60 Victoria Embankment 
London Auditor
EC4Y 0JP PricewaterhouseCoopers 
United Kingdom Certified Public Accountants 

22/F, Prince’s Building 
1 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information 

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes and 
information has been provided to UK investors of the 
amount of their share of the underlying income, expenses 
and overseas tax suffered for all financial years from 1 
October 2010. Although the Fund is an “offshore fund” for 
UK tax purposes, there is no need to formally apply for 
“reporting fund status” as the Fund is considered 
transparent by HMRC and does not invest more than 5% 
of its assets in other offshore funds which are not 
themselves reporting funds. Therefore it is considered out 
of scope of the requirements of the offshore fund regime. 
The principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident 
in the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing on the 
sale, redemption or other disposal of units during the 
period will be taxed in the UK as a capital gain and not as 
income. The Fund has previously been certified by HMRC 
in the UK as a “distributing fund” in respect of the period 
from 1 January 1984 to 30 September 2010.
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Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG 

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA 
JPMorgan Asset Management  Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
   (Asia Pacific) Limited  
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust 
Hong Kong    Services (Asia) Limited 

1 Queen’s Road Central 
Sub-Manager Hong Kong 
With effect from 30 December 2023  
JPMorgan Asset Management Registrar
   (Singapore) Limited HSBC Trustee (Cayman)  
88 Market Street    Limited
29/F, CapitaSpring P.O. Box 309 
Singapore 048948 Ugland House 

Grand Cayman KY1-1104 
Investment Adviser Cayman Islands 
JPMorgan Asset Management 
   (Korea) Company Limited Auditor
35, Seosomun-ro 11-gil PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Jung-gu, Seoul 110-120 Certified Public Accountants
Korea 22/F, Prince’s Building 

1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information 

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other 
offshore funds which are not themselves reporting 
funds. Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident 
in the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing 
on the sale, redemption or other disposal of units 
during the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital 
gain and not as income. The Fund has previously 
been certified by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing 
fund” in respect of the period from 11 December 1991 
to 30 September 2010. 
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Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices 

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid 
USD USD 

30/9/23 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

58.32 
9.65 

47.69 
7.87 

30/9/22 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

63.68 
10.44 

49.10 
8.11 

30/9/21 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

63.34 
10.32 

54.73 
8.91 

30/9/20 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

58.79 
9.55 

39.20 
6.35 

30/9/19 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

60.12 
9.67 

52.35 
8.44 

30/9/18 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

65.91 
10.57 

56.20 
8.98 

30/9/17 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

58.05 
9.26 

45.74 
7.26 

30/9/16 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

56.32 
8.90 

43.46 
6.84 

30/9/15 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

69.43 
10.85 

42.34 
6.66 

30/9/14 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

74.15 
11.57 

61.45 
9.55 

Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG 

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA 
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
   (Asia Pacific) Limited 
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust
Hong Kong    Services (Asia) Limited 

1 Queen’s Road Central 
Sub-Manager Hong Kong 
JPMorgan Asset Management  
   (Singapore) Limited Registrar
88 Market Street  
29/F, CapitaSpring 
Singapore 048948

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) 
   Limited 
P.O. Box 309 
Ugland House 
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 
Cayman Islands 

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants 
22/F, Prince’s Building 
1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong

UK Tax Information 

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other 
offshore funds which are not themselves reporting 
funds. Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident 
in the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing 
on the sale, redemption or other disposal of units 
during the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital 
gain and not as income. The Fund has previously 
been certified by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing 
fund” in respect of the period from 12 December 1989 
to 30 September 2010. 













































































































































































































































































































































































































































JPMorgan Pacific Securities Fund
Annual report for the

 year ended 30 September 2023

- 806 - 

Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices 

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid 

30/9/23 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY21.13 CNY16.33
- PRC USD Class (acc) USD19.23 USD14.72 
- USD Class (acc) USD476.14 USD364.41 

30/9/22 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY26.59 CNY17.14 
- PRC USD Class (acc) USD24.20 USD15.44 
- USD Class (acc) USD599.16 USD382.39 

30/9/21 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY27.76 CNY21.42 
- PRC USD Class (acc) USD25.75 USD19.99 
- USD Class (acc) USD637.25 USD487.71 

30/9/20 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY21.23 CNY13.54 
- PRC USD Class (acc) USD19.89 USD12.79 
- USD Class (acc) USD492.13 USD316.27 

30/9/19 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY16.89 CNY14.00 
- PRC USD Class (acc) USD15.98 USD13.26 
- USD Class (acc) USD395.05 USD327.73 

30/9/18 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY17.55 CNY15.43 
- PRC USD Class (acc) USD16.79 USD14.83 
- USD Class (acc) USD414.48 USD361.95 

30/9/17 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY15.38 CNY11.21 
- PRC USD Class (acc) USD14.82 USD11.10 
- USD Class (acc) USD365.78 USD273.68 

30/9/16 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) CNY12.43 CNY9.98 
- PRC USD Class (acc) USD12.34 USD9.98 
- USD Class (acc) USD314.08 USD223.72 

30/9/15 
- USD Class (acc) USD311.08 USD232.62 

30/9/14 
- USD Class (acc) USD289.79 USD242.41 

Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited

Directors of the Manager
as at 24 January 2024

19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG 

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
   (Asia Pacific) Limited
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust  
Hong Kong Services (Asia) Limited 

1 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong 

Registrar
HSBC Trustee (Cayman)  

Limited 
P.O. Box 309 
Ugland House 
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 
Cayman Islands 

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince’s Building 
1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong

UK Tax Information

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the 
Fund is considered transparent by HMRC and does 
not invest more than 5% of its assets in other 
offshore funds which are not themselves reporting 
funds. Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident 
in the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing 
on the sale, redemption or other disposal of units 
during the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital 
gain and not as income. The Fund has previously 
been certified by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing 
fund” in respect of the period from 1 January 1984 to 
30 September 2010. 

























































JPMorgan Pacific Technology Fund 
Annual report for the 

year ended 30 September 2023 

- 834 - 

Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices 

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid 

30/9/23 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) 
- HKD Class (acc) 
- HKD Class C (acc) 
- PRC RMB Class (acc) 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- PRC USD Class (acc) 
- SGD Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

AUD11.22 
HKD12.26 
HKD6.94 
CNY11.91 
CNY11.84 
USD11.64 
SGD11.87 
USD82.82 
USD6.66 

AUD8.49 
HKD9.14 
HKD5.14 
CNY9.03 
CNY9.00 
USD8.63 
SGD8.90 
USD61.46 
USD4.91 

30/9/22 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) 
- HKD Class (acc) 
- HKD Class C (acc) 
- PRC RMB Class (acc) 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- PRC USD Class (acc) 
- SGD Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

AUD17.76 
HKD18.59 
HKD10.37 
CNY16.20 
CNY18.30 
USD17.71 
SGD18.34 
USD126.03 
USD10.01 

AUD9.04 
HKD9.72 
HKD5.46 
CNY9.37 
CNY9.58 
USD9.19 
SGD9.47 
USD65.39 
USD5.23 

30/9/21 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) 
- HKD Class (acc) 
- HKD Class C (acc) 
- PRC RMB Class (acc) 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- PRC USD Class (acc) 
- SGD Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

AUD22.63 
HKD23.37 
HKD9.98 
CNY20.61 
CNY22.71 
USD22.37 
SGD23.21 
USD159.07 
USD10.88 

AUD14.19 
HKD14.50 
HKD9.60 

CNY13.29 
CNY14.01 
USD13.88 
SGD14.44 
USD98.71 
USD9.01 

30/9/20 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) 
- HKD Class (acc) 
- PRC RMB Class (acc) 
- PRC RMB Hedged Class (acc) 
- PRC USD Class (acc) 
- SGD Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD14.34 
HKD14.67 
CNY36.77 
CNY14.17 
USD36.77 
SGD14.62 
USD99.92 

AUD8.20 
HKD8.45 
CNY8.16 
CNY8.10 
USD8.10 
SGD8.40 
USD57.53 

30/9/19 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) 
- HKD Class (acc) 
- SGD Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD9.38 
HKD9.43 
SGD9.34 
USD63.36 

AUD7.48 
HKD7.51 
SGD7.49 
USD50.56 

30/9/18 
- AUD Hedged Class (acc) 
- HKD Class (acc) 
- SGD Hedged Class (acc) 
- USD Class (acc) 

AUD10.34 
HKD10.35 
SGD10.34 
USD77.78 

AUD9.15 
HKD9.17 
SGD9.14 
USD61.53 

30/9/17 
- USD Class (acc) USD76.07 USD50.44 

30/9/16 
- USD Class (acc) USD57.56 USD38.44 

30/9/15 
- USD Class (acc) USD49.93 USD36.66 

30/9/14 
- USD Class (acc) USD47.12 USD38.48 

Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG 

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 
   (Asia Pacific) Limited 
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust 
Hong Kong    Services (Asia) Limited 

1 Queen’s Road Central 
Hong Kong 

Registrar
HSBC Trustee (Cayman) 
   Limited 
P.O. Box 309 
Ugland House 
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 
Cayman Islands 

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince’s Building 
1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need to 
formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the Fund is 
considered transparent by HMRC and does not invest 
more than 5% of its assets in other offshore funds 
which are not themselves reporting funds. Therefore it 
is considered out of scope of the requirements of the 
offshore fund regime. The principal effect of this is that 
for unitholders resident in the UK for taxation purposes, 
any gains accruing on the sale, redemption or other 
disposal of units during the period will be taxed in the 
UK as a capital gain and not as income. The Fund has 
previously been certified by HMRC in the UK as a 
“distributing fund” in respect of the period from 14 
August 1997 to 30 September 2010. 
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Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued) 

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices 

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid 
USD USD 

30/9/23 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

114.48  
 11.76 

85.63  
 8.78 

30/9/22 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

128.67 
13.10 

85.71 
8.78 

30/9/21 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

123.67 
12.51 

99.70 
10.15 

30/9/20 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

130.67 
13.21 

74.86 
7.59 

30/9/19 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

132.07 
13.32 

98.92 
9.93 

30/9/18 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

136.63 
13.63 

102.85 
10.31 

30/9/17 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

127.64 
12.63 

100.22 
9.92 

30/9/16 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

137.53 
13.58 

93.69 
9.22 

30/9/15 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

136.45 
13.35 

104.44 
10.24 

30/9/14 
- USD Class (acc) 
- USD Class C (acc) 

122.49 
11.93 

89.82 
8.71 

Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG 

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG 
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA 
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN 

 (Asia Pacific) Limited 
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust 
Hong Kong    Services (Asia) Limited

1 Queen’s Road Central 
Sub-Manager Hong Kong 
JPMorgan Asset Management 

 (Singapore) Limited Registrar
88 Market Street HSBC Trustee (Cayman)  
29/F, CapitaSpring    Limited 
Singapore 048948 P.O. Box 309

Ugland House 
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 
Cayman Islands 

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants 
22/F, Prince’s Building
1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes and 
information has been provided to UK investors of the 
amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need to 
formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the Fund is 
considered transparent by HMRC and does not invest 
more than 5% of its assets in other offshore funds which 
are not themselves reporting funds. Therefore it is 
considered out of scope of the requirements of the 
offshore fund regime. The principal effect of this is that 
for unitholders resident in the UK for taxation purposes, 
any gains accruing on the sale, redemption or other 
disposal of units during the period will be taxed in the UK 
as a capital gain and not as income. The Fund has 
previously been certified by HMRC in the UK as a 
“distributing fund” in respect of the period from 30 June 
1987 to 30 September 2010. 
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Listed/Quoted Investments (98.7%)

(I) Equities (98.2%)

Australia (2.3%)
Goodman Group Stapled

Sec REIT 21,223 293,807 1.0
Nextdc Ltd 28,021 224,070 0.8
Ramsay Health Care

Limited 4,560 152,655 0.5

Austria (1.2%)
Verbund AG 4,205 343,030 1.2

Belgium (1.7%)
Elia Group SA 1,932 189,516 0.7
Warehouses De Pauw

REIT 12,257 304,183 1.0

Brazil (3.5%)
Transmissora Alianca de

Energia Electrica 148,655 1,026,436 3.5

China (4.4%)
China Longyuan Power

Group Corp ‘H’ 373,000 324,810 1.1
Contemporary Amperex

Technology Co Ltd ‘A’
(C2) 5,260 146,579 0.5

Nari Technology
Development ‘A’ (C1) 273,216 832,126 2.8

France (4.3%)
Getlink SE 39,578 633,158 2.2
Veolia Environnement 21,424 622,185 2.1

Germany (1.9%)
Vonovia SE 23,742 573,371 1.9

Italy (6.8%)
Enel Spa 139,715 860,913 2.9
Infrastrutture Wireless

Italia 38,681 461,341 1.6
Terna Spa 90,972 686,545 2.3

Japan (0.7%)
Kurita Water Industries

Limited 6,300 220,125 0.7

Korea (0.5%)
Samsung SDI Company

Limited 380 144,183 0.5

Portugal (2.8%)
EDP - Energias de

Portugal SA 198,816 828,514 2.8

Singapore (1.3%)
Parkway Life Real Estate

Investment Trust REIT 139,200 376,327 1.3

(Continued)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Spain (9.0%)
Cellnex Telecom 11,988 418,465 1.4
Corp Acciona Energias

Renova 8,713 225,087 0.8
Endesa S.A. 49,584 1,011,881 3.5
Iberdrola SA 59,487 667,293 2.3
Solaria Energia Y Medio

Ambi 19,803 307,158 1.0

United Kingdom (17.6%)
Assura PLC REIT 1,357,905 700,745 2.4
Grainger PLC 100,385 286,218 1.0
LondonMetric Property

PLC REIT 351,935 738,833 2.5
National Grid PLC 76,484 914,855 3.1
Severn Trent PLC 27,303 788,129 2.7
SSE PLC 65,161 1,280,469 4.4
Unite Group PLC REIT 41,043 449,603 1.5

United States (40.2%)
Alexandria Real Estate

Equities REIT 6,946 695,295 2.4
American Tower Corp Class

A REIT 2,979 489,897 1.7
CMS Energy Corp 11,764 624,786 2.1
Digital Realty Trust Inc

REIT 7,315 885,261 3.0
Equinix Inc REIT 188 136,537 0.5
Hannon Armstrong

Sustainable REIT 25,740 545,688 1.9
HCA Healthcare Inc 1,193 293,454 1.0
Itron Inc 3,038 184,042 0.6
Nextera Energy Inc 8,742 500,829 1.7
Norfolk Southern

Corporation 2,090 411,584 1.4
PG&E Corp 47,327 763,384 2.6
Physicians Realty Trust

REIT 73,705 898,464 3.1
Prologis Inc REIT 3,513 394,194 1.3
Public Service Enterprise

Group Incorporated 13,514 769,082 2.6
Sabra Health Care REIT 65,175 908,539 3.1
Sempra 8,399 571,384 1.9
Solaredge Technologies

Inc 2,217 287,124 1.0
Union Pacific Corp Ltd 5,003 1,018,761 3.5
Ventas Inc REIT 14,604 615,266 2.1
Welltower Inc REIT 4,339 355,451 1.2
Xylem Inc 4,958 451,327 1.5

28,832,959 98.2
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Investment Portfolio (Continued)
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

(II) Derivatives (0.5%)

Forward foreign exchange
contracts (0.5%) 149,244 0.5

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 28,982,203 98.7

Other net assets 381,982 1.3

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units at 30
September 2023 29,364,185 100.0

Total investments, at cost 31,810,246

Statement of Movements in Portfolio Holdings
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

% holdings
of net assets

2023 2022

Listed/Quoted Investments

Equities

United States 40.2 47.1
United Kingdom 17.6 11.0
Spain 9.0 9.1
Italy 6.8 4.3
China 4.4 3.8
France 4.3 3.4
Brazil 3.5 -
Portugal 2.8 -
Australia 2.3 4.2
Germany 1.9 3.8
Belgium 1.7 1.6
Singapore 1.3 0.8
Austria 1.2 -
Japan 0.7 1.0
Korea 0.5 1.7
Denmark - 2.4
Canada - 2.1
Netherlands - 1.2

Derivatives

Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.5 (0.9)

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 98.7 96.6

Unlisted/Unquoted Investments

Equities

Malta - 0.0

Total Unlisted/Unquoted
Investments - 0.0

Total Investments 98.7 96.6

Other net assets 1.3 3.4

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units at 30
September 100.0 100.0
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Details of Financial Derivative Instruments
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

As at 30 September 2023, the Fund held outstanding forward
foreign exchange contracts with details as shown in Note 10.

Information on Exposure Arising from Financial
Derivative Instruments
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

The lowest, highest and average gross exposure arising from the
use of financial derivative instruments in the Fund for any
purpose as a proportion to the Fund’s total net asset value for the
year ended 30 September 2023.

2023

% of NAV

Lowest gross exposure -

Highest gross exposure 4.0

Average gross exposure 0.3

The lowest, highest and average net exposure arising from the
use of financial derivative instruments in the Fund for non-
hedging purpose as a proportion to the Fund’s total net asset
value for the year ended 30 September 2023.

2023

% of NAV

Lowest net exposure -

Highest net exposure 4.0

Average net exposure 0.3

# There are some share classes with currency hedging features. For the
avoidance of doubt, their exposures are not included in the calculation
of the gross exposure of the Fund portfolio.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2023

2023 2022

USD USD

Assets
Current assets
Cash at banks 429,592 2,469,086
Amounts due from brokers 17,400 -
Amounts receivable on

allotment 6,794 208,670
Derivatives [Note 4(I)(a), 10] 157,573 60,753
Investments [Note 4(I)(a)] 28,832,959 61,461,737
Dividend and other accounts

receivable 55,078 72,765

Total assets 29,499,396 64,273,011

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Amounts due to brokers 6,699 -
Amounts payable on

redemption 124 399,288
Distribution payable [Note 6] 57,473 112,102
Derivatives [Note 4(I)(a), 10] 8,329 637,703
Other accounts payable 62,586 80,595

Liabilities (excluding net
assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units) 135,211 1,229,688

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units [Note 3] 29,364,185 63,043,323

Approved by the Trustee and the Manager on 24 January 2024

Signed by:

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, Trustee

JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited, Manager

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

USD USD

Income
Net gains/(losses) on

investments and derivatives
[Note 5] 2,681,193 (12,937,235)

Dividend income 1,812,665 745,317
Net foreign currency exchange

gains 98,648 95,817
Interest on deposits

[Note 8(i), 8(j)] 24,915 3,000
Other income [Note 8(i)] 436 482

4,617,857 (12,092,619)

Expenses
Management fee [Note 8(e)] 646,317 323,021
Transaction costs [Note 8(j)] 96,475 92,989
Registrar’s fee [Note 8(h)] 54,930 40,015
Trustee’s fee [Note 8(g)] 33,775 14,724
Safe custody and bank charges

[Note 8(i), 8(j)] 29,701 20,234
Legal and professional expenses 18,276 92,460
Valuation fee [Note 8(e)] 16,590 11,200
Auditor’s fee 9,180 5,005
Printing and publication expenses 2,914 8,338
Other operating expenses 5,229 9,103

913,387 617,089

Net operating profit/(loss) 3,704,470 (12,709,708)

Finance costs
Distribution [Note 6] (749,475) (799,895)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 2,954,995 (13,509,603)

Taxation [Note 7] (331,794) (167,739)

Increase/(decrease) in net
assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
and total comprehensive
income/(loss) 2,623,201 (13,677,342)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

USD USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
at the beginning of the year 63,043,323 17,698,521

Allotment of redeemable units
[Note 3] 5,378,114 68,056,603

Redemption of redeemable units
[Note 3] (41,680,453) (9,034,459)

Net (redemption)/allotment (36,302,339) 59,022,144

26,740,984 76,720,665

Increase/(decrease) in net
assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
and total comprehensive
income/(loss) 2,623,201 (13,677,342)

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
at the end of the year 29,364,185 63,043,323

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

USD USD

Operating activities
Purchase of investments and

derivatives (39,472,092) (79,145,757)
Proceeds from disposal of

investments and derivatives 74,045,121 22,747,496
Dividend received 1,830,046 721,652
Interest received 24,918 2,997
Trustee’s fee paid (34,683) (12,795)
Registrar’s fee paid (54,909) (37,771)
Transaction costs paid (95,140) (96,002)
Tax paid (331,794) (167,739)
Management fee paid (665,958) (292,214)
Others 16,588 (45,486)

Net cash inflow/(outflow)
from operating activities 35,262,097 (56,325,619)

Financing activities
Receipts on allotment of

redeemable units 5,579,990 67,849,754
Payments on redemption of

redeemable units (42,079,617) (8,673,515)
Distribution paid (804,104) (822,814)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow
from financing activities (37,303,731) 58,353,425

(Decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents (2,041,634) 2,027,806

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 2,469,086 449,941

Exchange gains/(losses) on
cash and cash equivalents 2,140 (8,661)

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 429,592 2,469,086

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash at banks 429,592 2,469,086



JPMorgan Sustainable Infrastructure Fund
Annual report for the

year ended 30 September 2023

- 859 -

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 The Fund

JPMorgan Sustainable Infrastructure Fund (the “Fund”) was established under a Trust Deed dated 6 July 2005, as amended
(the “Trust Deed”) and is governed by the laws of Hong Kong. The Fund is authorized by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (the “SFC”).

With effect from 12 July 2022, the Fund has been renamed from JPMorgan Global Property Income Fund to JPMorgan
Sustainable Infrastructure Fund.

Prior to 12 July 2022, the investment objective of the Fund was “to achieve a high level of current income and long-term capital
appreciation primarily (i.e. at least 70% of its total net asset value) through investing in equity securities that are listed on any
stock exchange and are principally engaged in or related to the property industry or which own significant property assets, and
the Fund does not invest in real estate directly.”

With effect from 12 July 2022, the investment objective of the Fund has been changed to “to achieve a return by investing
primarily (i.e. at least 70% of its total net asset value) in equity securities globally (including listed real estate investment trusts)
that are well positioned to promote the development of the infrastructure required to facilitate a sustainable and inclusive
economy, whilst not significantly harming any environmental or social objectives and following good governance practices.”

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager may decide to issue separate classes (each a “Class”) whose assets will be commonly
invested but where a specific fee structure, currency or distribution policy may be applied. Each Class may have a different
charging structure with the result that the net asset value attributable to each Class may differ.

All unitholders’ rights with regard to the convening, voting or otherwise acting at any meeting of unitholders are the same.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) held at fair value through
profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires the Manager and the Trustee (the “Management”) to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the
Fund’s accounting policies.

Standards and amendments to existing standards effective from 1 October 2022

There are no standards or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the first time for the financial year
beginning 1 October 2022 that have had a material impact on the Fund.

New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 October 2022 and have not been early adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 October 2022 and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to
have a material effect on the financial statements of the Fund.

(b) Investments and derivatives

Classification

The Fund classifies its investments and derivatives based on both the Fund’s business model for managing those financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The portfolio of financial assets is managed and
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. The Fund is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that
information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions.

Derivative contracts that have a negative fair value are presented as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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The Fund makes short sales in which a borrowed security is sold in anticipation of a decline in the market value of that
security, or it may use short sales for various arbitrage transactions. Short sales are classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.

As such, the Fund classifies all of its investment portfolio as financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Recognition, derecognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of investments and derivatives are accounted for on the trade date basis. Investments and derivatives
are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Realized and unrealized gains and
losses on investments and derivatives are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Investments and
derivatives are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments and derivatives have expired or
the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets are
based on last traded prices. When trading in the securities of an investee company is suspended, the investment is valued
at the Manager’s estimate of its fair value.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are valued at the forward rates ruling at the valuation date. The differences between
the forward rates and the contract rates are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the beginning of the reporting period.

(c) Securities borrowing

The Fund may enter into securities borrowing arrangements for short sale purposes. Short positions represent obligations
to deliver securities sold but not yet purchased, and are accounted for as investments and valued at their fair value.
Securities borrowed during the year are off-balance sheet transactions and are therefore not included in the investment
portfolio of the Fund. Collateral placed for the purpose of securities borrowed generally consist of cash collateral and are
included in the Statement of Financial Position separately.

(d) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(e) Income and expense

Dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date with the corresponding foreign withholding tax recorded as an
expense and is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Interest income on investments is accounted for as part of net gains/losses on investments and derivatives in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.

Interest income on cash at banks and short-term deposits is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on
an effective interest basis.

Expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accrual basis.

(f) Transaction costs

Transaction costs are costs incurred to acquire/dispose of financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
They include fees and commissions paid to agents, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(g) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The Fund has adopted United States dollar as its functional and presentation currency.
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Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to cash and cash equivalents are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income within “Net foreign currency exchange gains/losses”. Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the financial
assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
within “Net gains/losses on investments and derivatives”.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and bank deposits
with maturity of three months or less from the date of placing the deposits, net of certain short-term bank loans which the
Fund usually undertakes as overnight bank borrowings.

(i) Amounts due from/to brokers

Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for investments and derivatives sold and payables for investments and
derivatives purchased that have been contracted for but not yet settled by the end of the year.

These amounts are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. At each reporting date,
the Fund shall measure the loss allowance on amounts due from broker at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit
losses if the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. Significant financial difficulties of the broker,
probability that the broker will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization and default in payments are all considered
indicators that a loss allowance may be required.

(j) Proceeds and payments on allotment and redemption of units

The net asset value per unit is computed for each dealing day. The price at which units are allotted or redeemed is calculated
by reference to the net asset value per unit as at the close of business on the relevant dealing day in accordance with the
provisions of the Trust Deed which may be different from the accounting policies stated in the financial statements.

Units of the Fund are redeemable at the option of the holders of redeemable units and are classified as a financial liability
in the Statement of Financial Position which represents the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (or “net
asset value” or “net assets” or “NAV”) and is carried at the redemption amount that would be payable at the Statement of
Financial Position date if the holders of redeemable units exercised the right to redeem units of the Fund.

(k) Distribution payable to holders of redeemable units

Proposed distributions to holders of redeemable units are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when they
are appropriately authorized. The distribution on the redeemable units is recognized as a finance cost in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
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3 Number of units in issue and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (per unit)

2023

HKD Class (acc) HKD Class (mth)
RMB Hedged

Class (mth)
USD Class

(acc) USD Class (div)

Units Units Units Units Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the year 833,666.154 10,408,456.464 20,130,947.890 1,289,047.883 1,039,671.112

Total allotments 61,204.764 421,422.649 167,725.779 266,167.438 239,322.284
Total redemptions (53,845.353) (5,510,694.039) (12,152,145.398) (1,232,960.644) (399,921.385)

At the end of the year 841,025.565 5,319,185.074 8,146,528.271 322,254.677 879,072.011

HKD HKD CNY USD USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units 7,473,161 35,737,521 69,944,238 2,871,062 6,253,898

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units (per unit) 8.89 6.72 8.59 8.91 7.11

USD Class
(mth)

Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the year 1,611,947.455

Total allotments 40,737.697
Total redemptions (883,780.832)

At the end of the year 768,904.320

USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units 5,121,780

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units (per unit) 6.66
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2022

HKD Class (acc) HKD Class (mth)
RMB Hedged

Class (mth) USD Class (acc) USD Class (div)

Units Units Units Units Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the year - 3,571,009.198 - - 907,748.399

Total allotments 989,434.076 9,044,979.158 20,130,947.890 1,356,460.866 420,756.889
Total redemptions (155,767.922) (2,207,531.892) - (67,412.983) (288,834.176)

At the end of the year 833,666.154 10,408,456.464 20,130,947.890 1,289,047.883 1,039,671.112

HKD HKD CNY USD USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units 7,177,097 69,097,117 173,521,609 11,101,392 7,295,346

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units (per unit) 8.61 6.64 8.62 8.61 7.02

USD Class
(mth)

Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the year 540,563.928

Total allotments 1,405,562.863
Total redemptions (334,179.336)

At the end of the year 1,611,947.455

USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units 10,590,267

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units (per unit) 6.57

4 Financial risk management

(I) Financial risk factors

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including market price risk, interest rate risk and
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk

(i) Market price risk

The Fund’s investments and derivatives are subject to the market price risk inherent in all investments and derivatives i.e.
the value of holdings may fall as well as rise. The Fund’s market risk is managed through (i) deliberate stocks selection, and
(ii) diversification of the investment portfolio in accordance with specific investment restrictions and guidelines.
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As at 30 September, the fair value of investments and derivatives and its estimated market sensitivity were as follows:

2023 2022

Listed/Quoted Investments

Fair value of
investments

USD

% of
net

assets

Fair value of
investments

USD

% of
net

assets

Assets

Equities

- United States 11,800,349 40.2 29,696,538 47.1

- United Kingdom 5,158,852 17.6 6,918,338 11.0

- Spain 2,629,884 9.0 5,713,452 9.1

- Italy 2,008,799 6.8 2,727,227 4.3
- Others 7,235,075 24.6 16,405,615 26.0

28,832,959 98.2 61,461,170 97.5

Derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange contracts 157,573 0.5 60,753 0.1

28,990,532 98.7 61,521,923 97.6

Liabilities

Derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange contracts (8,329) (0.0) (637,703) (1.0)

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 28,982,203 98.7 60,884,220 96.6

Unlisted/Unquoted Investments

Assets

Equities

- Malta - - 567 0.0

Total Investments 28,982,203 98.7 60,884,787 96.6

Also, refer to Note 10 for the exposures on derivatives.

The Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s market price sensitivity primarily through the Fund’s volatility, which helps to
describe the likely range of the Fund’s return, on a regular basis. In statistical terms, it is the standard deviation of the return
distribution. Greater volatility of monthly fund returns means that there is a wider range of likely returns in the future, or
greater uncertainty regarding the fund returns. Most investors would equate this greater uncertainty with greater risk.
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The table below summarizes the volatility of the Fund expressed in annual terms and the estimated impact on the net asset
value.

2023 2022
Annual volatility (Note*) 22.85% 30.10%**

If the above volatility were to be applied to the Fund’s net asset value as at 30 September 2023 of USD29,364,185 (2022:
USD63,043,323) and assuming that the Fund’s returns are normally distributed with its mean return equals to nil and with
one standard deviation away from the mean return (i.e. a probability of 68%), the estimated reasonable possible change in
the Fund’s net asset value would be between USD22,654,469 and USD36,073,901; or within +/- USD6,709,716 (2022:
between USD44,067,283 and USD82,019,363; or within +/- USD18,976,040) over a twelve-month period based on the
Fund’s historical annual volatility percentage as a result of the market price fluctuation, assuming all other variables that
may impact the net asset value of the Fund are held constant.

Note:

* Volatility is calculated based on the monthly Fund’s returns over the maximum of past 36 months or the number of
months since portfolio inception. For funds launched within a period of less than 12 months, volatility is calculated based
on the weekly Fund’s returns since the Fund’s launch. Volatility is expressed in annual volatility by applying the square
root of time adjustment. Volatility may not cover stressed market events, nor represent the Investment Manager’s
forecast of the Fund’s range of future returns.

** With effect from 12 July 2022, the representative class of the Fund for the purpose of disclosing past performance has
been changed to a new Class which was launched on 12 July 2022, in light of the change of investment objective of
the Fund. As such, volatility was calculated based on the weekly returns since 12 July 2022.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument or future cash flow will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates.

The table below summarizes the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities as at 30 September which expose it to the risk
associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates, categorized by remaining maturity
dates.

2023
Less than 1 month

2022
Less than 1 month

USD USD

Cash at banks 429,592 2,469,086

Total interest sensitivity gap 429,592 2,469,086

Any cash and cash equivalents are placed/borrowed at short-term market interest rates and the Investment Manager
considers that the Fund is not subject to significant amount of risk due to the stable and low fluctuation in the prevailing
levels of market interest rates.

(iii) Currency risk

The Fund holds assets and liabilities denominated in a number of currencies. HKFRS 7 considers the foreign exchange
exposure relating to non-monetary assets and liabilities to be a component of market price risk not currency risk. However,
the Investment Manager monitors the exposure to currency risk on all foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
including both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities.

The Fund enters in some forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge some of its foreign currency exposures to maintain
limited exposure to non-USD currencies. Refer to Note 10 for the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts as at year
end.
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The table below summarizes the Fund’s exposure to currency risk as at 30 September together with the percentage of
reasonable possible change in foreign currencies and the estimated impact on net asset value of the Fund.

Net currency exposures (Note*)
USD

equivalent

% of
reasonable

possible
change

against USD
(Note**)

Estimated
impact on
net asset

value
USD

2023

Australian Dollar 688,674 +0.4 2,755
Brazilian Real 1,037,176 +8.1 84,011
Canadian Dollar 8,823 +1.6 141
Chinese Yuan (Offshore) 10,458,146 -2.1 (219,621)
Danish Krone 1,278 +7.8 100
Euro 8,148,300 +8.1 660,012
Hong Kong Dollar 344,166 +0.2 688
Japanese Yen 231,267 -3.0 (6,938)
Korean Won 144,183 +6.0 8,651
Singapore Dollar 386,049 +5.1 19,688
Sterling 5,190,556 +9.3 482,722

26,638,618 1,032,209

2022

Australian Dollar 2,684,174 -11.0 (295,259)
Chinese Yuan (Offshore) 26,115,407 -9.5 (2,480,964)
Danish Krone 1,534,363 -15.5 (237,826)
Euro 14,689,887 -15.5 (2,276,932)
Hong Kong Dollar 539,526 -0.8 (4,316)
Japanese Yen 675,033 -22.9 (154,583)
Korean Won 1,047,960 -17.2 (180,249)
Singapore Dollar 518,058 -5.4 (27,975)
Sterling 6,941,006 -17.2 (1,193,853)

54,745,414 (6,851,957)

If the foreign currency fluctuations were to move in the opposite direction, this would result in an opposite movement in the
net asset value of the Fund by the same amount, assuming all other variables that may impact the net asset value of the
Fund are held constant.

Note:

* Net currency exposures on assets and liabilities include both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities.

** % of reasonable possible change is based on the actual historical change in the respective currencies against the
functional currency of the Fund in the past 12 months and does not include remote or “worst case” scenarios or “stress
tests” nor represent the Investment Manager’s forecast of the Fund’s future returns.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not be able to pay amounts in full when due.

The Manager monitors credit risk with reference to a number of factors including history of default and the credit rating of
counterparties. The Manager considers the credit risk of other receivables such as amounts receivable on allotment,
amounts due from brokers or dividend and other accounts receivable, to be insignificant as the Fund has no default history
on such receivables in the past 5 years. Overall, the Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero as
these instruments have a low risk of default and the Fund’s counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual
obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss allowance has been recognized based on 12-month expected credit losses.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 30 September 2023 and 2022 is the carrying amount of the financial assets as
shown in the Statement of Financial Position.
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All transactions in investments and derivatives are settled on a delivery versus payment basis using approved brokers. The
risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of investments and derivatives sold is only made when the Fund’s custodian
bank has received payment. For a purchase, payment is made once the investments and derivatives have been received
by the Fund’s custodian bank. The trade wills fail if either party fails to meet the obligation.

The table below summarizes the credit rating of the banks/brokers/custodian which the Fund has placed the financial assets
as at 30 September.

2023 2022
Exposure to

counterparties
Exposure to

Counterparties
USD USD

Bank balances
S&P(AA)/Moody’s(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 19,609 17,822
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 409,983 2,451,264

Derivatives issued by brokers
S&P(AA)/Moody’s(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 156,929 23,550
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 644 37,203

Investment balances with custodian
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 28,832,959 61,461,737

(c) Liquidity risk

The Fund is exposed to daily redemption of units, the majority of its assets in investments are traded in an active market
which can be readily disposed of. The Manager may also limit the total number of units redeemed for the Fund on any
dealing day to 10% or more of the units in issue on any dealing day.

The Fund has the ability to enter into borrowing arrangements subject to the investment restrictions and guidelines.

The table below summarizes the Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
as at 30 September to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2023 2022

Less than 1 month
USD

1 to 12 months
USD

Less than 1 month
USD

1 to 12 months
USD

Amounts due to brokers 6,699 - - -
Amounts payable on redemption 124 - 399,288 -
Distribution payable 57,473 - 112,102 -
Derivatives 7,917 412 637,636 67
Other accounts payable 62,586 - 80,595 -
Net assets attributable to holders of

redeemable units 29,364,185 - 63,043,323 -

Total financial liabilities 29,498,984 412 64,272,944 67

The Investment Manager manages the Fund’s liquidity risk by investing in investments that the Investment Manager expects
to liquidate normally within 1 month and making short-term bank borrowing to meet the total financial liabilities.

(d) Offsetting and amounts subject to master netting arrangements and similar agreements

As at 30 September 2023 and 2022, the Fund was subject to master netting arrangements with certain derivative
counterparties.

In the event of default, the Fund and its counterparties have the option to settle transactions on net basis. An event of default
may include failure to pay or deliver, breach of agreement or bankruptcy.
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The following tables summarize the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, master netting arrangements
and similar agreements as at 30 September by types of financial instruments.

Gross amounts of
recognized

financial assets
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

USD

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

USD

Collateral and
margin deposits

USD
Net amount

USD

2023

Assets
Derivatives 157,573 (7,343) - 150,230

Financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss 157,573 (7,343) - 150,230

Gross amounts of
recognized

financial liabilities
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

USD

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

USD

Collateral and
margin deposits

USD
Net amount

USD

Liabilities
Derivatives 8,329 (7,343) - 986

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and
loss 8,329 (7,343) - 986

Gross amounts of
recognized

financial assets
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

USD

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

USD

Collateral and
margin deposits

USD
Net amount

USD

2022

Assets
Derivatives 60,753 (22,275) - 38,478

Financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss 60,753 (22,275) - 38,478

Gross amounts of
recognized

financial liabilities
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

USD

Related amounts subject to master
netting arrangements and similar

agreements net off against

Financial
Instruments

USD

Collateral and
margin deposits

USD
Net amount

USD

Liabilities
Derivatives 637,703 (22,275) - 615,428

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and
loss 637,703 (22,275) - 615,428
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(II) Capital risk management

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units which is subject to
allotments and redemptions of redeemable units. The Fund’s objective for capital management is to provide returns and
long-term capital growth for unitholders.

In order to maintain the capital structure, the Management performs the following:

- Monitor allotment and redemption activities relative to the liquid assets.

- To protect the interest of unitholders and in exceptional circumstances, the Manager may also limit the total number of
units redeemed for the Fund on any dealing day to 10% or more of the units in issue on any dealing day.

- Monitor fund investment guidelines and restrictions, in accordance with the constitutional documents, to maintain
sufficient liquidity through diversification.

(III) Fair value estimation

As at 30 September 2023 and 2022, the Management considers that the carrying values of assets and liabilities were
reasonable approximations of their fair value.

HKFRS 13 requires the Fund to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The table below summarizes the Fund’s investments and derivatives (by class) within the fair value hierarchy measured at
fair value as at 30 September:

Listed/Quoted Investments
Level 1

USD
Level 2

USD
Level 3

USD
Total
USD

2023

Assets
Equities 28,832,959 - - 28,832,959
Derivatives - 157,573 - 157,573

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 28,832,959 157,573 - 28,990,532

Liabilities
Derivatives - 8,329 - 8,329

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss - 8,329 - 8,329

Unlisted/Unquoted Investments

2023

Assets
Equities - - - -

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - - - -
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Listed/Quoted Investments
Level 1

USD
Level 2

USD
Level 3

USD
Total
USD

2022

Assets
Equities 61,461,170 - - 61,461,170
Derivatives - 60,753 - 60,753

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 61,461,170 60,753 - 61,521,923

Liabilities
Derivatives - 637,703 - 637,703

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss - 637,703 - 637,703

Unlisted/Unquoted Investments

2022

Assets
Equities - 567 - 567

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 567 - 567

Investments, whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified within level 1,
include active listed equities and exchange traded derivatives. The Fund does not adjust the quoted price for these
instruments.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on quoted market
prices, dealer/broker quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within level 2.

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently.

There were no transfers between levels for the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022.

For assets and liabilities carried at amortized cost, their carrying values are a reasonable approximation of fair value as at
30 September 2023 and 2022.

5 Net gains/(losses) on investments and derivatives

2023 2022

USD USD

Change in unrealized gains/losses in value of investments and derivatives 8,206,730 (11,622,674)
Realized losses on sale of investments and derivatives (5,525,537) (1,314,561)

2,681,193 (12,937,235)
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6 Distribution

In the event that the amount available for distribution is insufficient to pay distributions as the Fund declares, the Manager may
in its discretion determine that such distributions be paid from capital.

No undistributed income was carried forward at the end of the year (2022: nil).

Distribution Class Ex date Pay date Rate Units USD

2023

HKD Class (mth) 31.10.2022 8.11.2022 HKD0.0108 10,297,483.381 (14,167)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 31.10.2022 8.11.2022 CNY0.0059 20,162,172.608 (16,228)
USD Class (mth) 31.10.2022 8.11.2022 USD0.0107 1,616,413.476 (17,295)
HKD Class (mth) 30.11.2022 8.12.2022 HKD0.0124 10,283,710.166 (16,337)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 30.11.2022 8.12.2022 CNY0.0059 20,175,020.507 (16,804)
USD Class (mth) 30.11.2022 8.12.2022 USD0.0123 1,615,798.667 (19,874)
HKD Class (mth) 30.12.2022 10.1.2023 HKD0.0123 10,323,007.566 (16,268)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 30.12.2022 10.1.2023 CNY0.0059 20,187,105.758 (17,214)
USD Class (div) 30.12.2022 10.1.2023 USD0.0394 1,045,502.370 (41,192)
USD Class (mth) 30.12.2022 10.1.2023 USD0.0122 1,618,477.197 (19,745)
HKD Class (mth) 31.1.2023 8.2.2023 HKD0.0132 10,206,216.344 (17,187)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 31.1.2023 8.2.2023 CNY0.0059 20,199,137.120 (17,638)
USD Class (mth) 31.1.2023 8.2.2023 USD0.0131 1,590,216.382 (20,832)
HKD Class (mth) 28.2.2023 8.3.2023 HKD0.0129 10,247,390.942 (16,841)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 28.2.2023 8.3.2023 CNY0.0059 20,209,863.804 (17,152)
USD Class (mth) 28.2.2023 8.3.2023 USD0.0128 1,576,407.626 (20,178)
HKD Class (mth) 31.3.2023 13.4.2023 HKD0.0120 10,208,242.877 (15,605)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 31.3.2023 13.4.2023 CNY0.0059 20,222,272.600 (17,374)
USD Class (div) 31.3.2023 13.4.2023 USD0.0382 958,514.634 (36,614)
USD Class (mth) 31.3.2023 13.4.2023 USD0.0119 1,569,646.040 (18,679)
HKD Class (mth) 28.4.2023 9.5.2023 HKD0.0128 10,231,286.424 (16,683)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 28.4.2023 9.5.2023 CNY0.0059 20,234,312.767 (17,244)
USD Class (mth) 28.4.2023 9.5.2023 USD0.0126 1,571,358.745 (19,799)
HKD Class (mth) 31.5.2023 8.6.2023 HKD0.0124 10,264,102.864 (16,258)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 31.5.2023 8.6.2023 CNY0.0059 20,246,684.072 (16,764)
USD Class (mth) 31.5.2023 8.6.2023 USD0.0123 1,571,778.924 (19,333)
HKD Class (mth) 30.6.2023 10.7.2023 HKD0.0125 10,265,919.991 (16,375)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 30.6.2023 10.7.2023 CNY0.0059 20,259,115.497 (16,431)
USD Class (div) 30.6.2023 10.7.2023 USD0.0400 916,171.629 (36,646)
USD Class (mth) 30.6.2023 10.7.2023 USD0.0124 1,574,444.813 (19,523)
HKD Class (mth) 31.7.2023 8.8.2023 HKD0.0128 10,280,704.227 (16,874)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 31.7.2023 8.8.2023 CNY0.0059 20,271,778.226 (16,743)
USD Class (mth) 31.7.2023 8.8.2023 USD0.0127 1,567,865.492 (19,912)
HKD Class (mth) 31.8.2023 8.9.2023 HKD0.0118 10,289,967.701 (15,484)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 31.8.2023 8.9.2023 CNY0.0059 20,284,530.600 (16,443)
USD Class (mth) 31.8.2023 8.9.2023 USD0.0117 1,561,238.856 (18,266)
HKD Class (mth) 29.9.2023 10.10.2023 HKD0.0120 5,319,036.264 (8,150)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 29.9.2023 11.10.2023 CNY0.0059 8,146,528.271 (6,597)
USD Class (div) 29.9.2023 11.10.2023 USD0.0382 878,998.097 (33,577)
USD Class (mth) 29.9.2023 11.10.2023 USD0.0119 768,904.320 (9,149)

Total distribution to holders of redeemable units (749,475)
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Distribution Class Ex date Pay date Rate Units USD

2022

HKD Class (mth) 29.10.2021 8.11.2021 HKD0.0343 3,810,702.025 (16,806)
USD Class (mth) 29.10.2021 8.11.2021 USD0.0343 531,642.586 (18,235)
HKD Class (mth) 30.11.2021 8.12.2021 HKD0.0344 3,716,116.855 (16,390)
USD Class (mth) 30.11.2021 8.12.2021 USD0.0343 409,844.175 (14,058)
HKD Class (mth) 31.12.2021 10.1.2022 HKD0.0345 3,258,832.080 (14,413)
USD Class (div) 31.12.2021 10.1.2022 USD0.1108 903,169.983 (100,071)
USD Class (mth) 31.12.2021 10.1.2022 USD0.0343 356,715.041 (12,235)
HKD Class (mth) 31.1.2022 11.2.2022 HKD0.0344 2,895,337.105 (12,780)
USD Class (mth) 31.1.2022 11.2.2022 USD0.0343 357,467.602 (12,261)
HKD Class (mth) 28.2.2022 8.3.2022 HKD0.0345 2,891,897.302 (12,777)
USD Class (mth) 28.2.2022 8.3.2022 USD0.0343 362,734.607 (12,442)
HKD Class (mth) 31.3.2022 11.4.2022 HKD0.0346 2,810,554.583 (12,417)
USD Class (div) 31.3.2022 11.4.2022 USD0.1109 829,990.841 (92,046)
USD Class (mth) 31.3.2022 11.4.2022 USD0.0343 365,323.837 (12,531)
HKD Class (mth) 29.4.2022 11.5.2022 HKD0.0346 2,363,921.493 (10,424)
USD Class (mth) 29.4.2022 11.5.2022 USD0.0343 372,133.612 (12,764)
HKD Class (mth) 31.5.2022 9.6.2022 HKD0.0347 2,314,884.063 (10,238)
USD Class (mth) 31.5.2022 9.6.2022 USD0.0343 365,613.235 (12,540)
HKD Class (mth) 30.6.2022 11.7.2022 HKD0.0347 2,289,645.938 (10,125)
USD Class (div) 30.6.2022 11.7.2022 USD0.1109 819,594.670 (90,892)
USD Class (mth) 30.6.2022 11.7.2022 USD0.0343 360,947.847 (12,380)
HKD Class (mth) 29.7.2022 8.8.2022 HKD0.0131 10,416,267.694 (17,383)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 29.7.2022 8.8.2022 CNY0.0182 20,072,852.116 (54,100)
USD Class (mth) 29.7.2022 8.8.2022 USD0.0130 1,673,107.548 (21,750)
HKD Class (mth) 31.8.2022 8.9.2022 HKD0.0136 10,447,693.368 (18,103)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 31.8.2022 8.9.2022 CNY0.0122 20,106,803.280 (35,584)
USD Class (mth) 31.8.2022 8.9.2022 USD0.0134 1,645,378.226 (22,048)
HKD Class (mth) 30.9.2022 11.10.2022 HKD0.0122 10,407,854.055 (16,175)
RMB Hedged Class (mth) 30.9.2022 12.10.2022 CNY0.0127 20,130,947.890 (35,862)
USD Class (div) 30.9.2022 12.10.2022 USD0.0390 1,037,782.753 (40,473)
USD Class (mth) 30.9.2022 12.10.2022 USD0.0121 1,619,149.909 (19,592)

Total distribution to holders of redeemable units (799,895)

7 Taxation

Australia Taxation

The Fund invests in securities listed on the stock exchange in Australia. Gains generated from disposals of Australian
investments may be exposed to Australian tax at the rate of 30%. In September 2012, the Australian Government introduced
legislation exempting gains realized by a foreign fund on or before 30 June 2011, provided that certain ownership conditions and
other criteria are met. In June 2015, the Australian Government further introduced legislation (“Legislation”) which exempts gains
realized by a foreign managed fund on or after 1 July 2011 provided that certain ownership conditions and other criteria can be
met.

The Manager considers that the charge for capital gains tax on Australian investments invested by the Fund as at 30 September
2023 is unlikely as at the date of approval of these financial statements. The Manager is of the view that the Fund should meet
the criteria under the Legislation and should be eligible for the exemption of tax. As at 30 September 2023 and 2022, no provision
for such tax was made accordingly. This assessment represents the best estimate of the Manager.

China Taxation

In preparing these financial statements, the Manager has made certain assumptions and used various estimates concerning the
tax exposure which is dependent on what might happen in the future. The resulting accounting estimates may not equal the
related actual results.

Under the general tax provision of PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (“PRC CIT Law”), the non-PRC residents with no place of
effective management, establishment or place of business in the PRC may be subject to 10% PRC withholding income tax (“WIT”)
on the capital gain derived from disposal of securities, unless exempt or reduced under current PRC tax laws and regulations or
relevant tax treaties.
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Furthermore, according to the notice Caishui [2016] No.36 (“Circular 36”), Value-Added Tax (“VAT”) at 6% shall be levied on the
difference between the selling and buying prices of those marketable securities starting from 1 May 2016. In addition, if VAT is
applicable, local surtaxes including Urban Maintenance and Construction Tax (“UMCT”) (currently at the rate ranging from 1%
to 7%), Education Surcharge (“ES”) (currently at the rate of 3%) and Local Education Surcharge (“LES”) (currently at the rate of
2%) are imposed based on the VAT liabilities (the “VAT related taxes”). Pursuant to the newly issued UMCT Law and Public
Notice [2021] No.28 jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) and the PRC State Taxation Administration (“STA”),
effective from 1 September 2021, no UMCT, ES and LES would be levied on the VAT paid for the service provisions and sale of
intangible assets in China by overseas parties to PRC parties. However, in practice, the implementation of the exemption may
vary depending on the local practice.

Dividend income and capital gain on A-shares

The Fund invests in A-shares listed in the PRC via the Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect and Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock
Connect (collectively the “China Connect”) and is subjected to 10% WIT on dividend income derived from the shares. WIT was
charged on dividend income received from the shares during the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022.

According to Caishui [2014] No. 81 and Caishui [2016] No. 127, capital gains derived by overseas investors from the trading of
China A-shares via the China Connect and are temporarily exempt from PRC corporate income tax. The capital gains derived
through the China Connect from trading of marketable securities (including A-shares and other PRC listed securities) are
exempted from VAT in the PRC under Circular 36 and other prevailing VAT regulations.

Dividend income and capital gain on H-shares

The Fund has investments in shares of companies in PRC listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“H-shares”). Under general
taxing provisions of the PRC CIT Law, a Fund could be technically subject to 10% WIT on the PRC sourced capital gains, unless
exempt or reduced under relevant double tax treaties. However, there may be practical difficulty for the PRC tax authorities to
impose and collect WIT on such capital gains. The 10% WIT has not been strictly enforced by local tax bureau on capital gains
derived by non-tax resident enterprises of the PRC from the trading of H-shares. Where capital gains are derived from trading of
H-shares, VAT in general is not imposed as the purchase and disposal are often concluded and completed outside the PRC.

No provision was made for taxation from such gains in the financial statements as the Manager believes that the taxation on
capital gains derived from H-shares is not probable under the current enforcement environment.

Hong Kong Taxation

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Fund was authorized as a collective investment scheme under
Section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and is therefore exempt from profits tax under Section 26A(1A) of the Inland
Revenue Ordinance.

Other Jurisdictions

Overseas tax was withheld or paid on certain dividend income received during the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022.

8 Transactions with the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions entered into during the year between the Fund and the
Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons. Connected Persons of the Trustee and the Manager are those as defined
in the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds established by the SFC. All such transactions were entered into in the ordinary
course of business and were on normal commercial terms.

(a) Investment transactions with Connected Persons of the Trustee are set out below:

Name of company

Aggregate
value of

purchases
and sales of
investments

USD

% of the
Fund’s total

aggregate
value of

transactions

Commission
paid
USD

% of the
Fund’s total
commission

paid in the
year

Average
commission

rate
%

2023

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited 57,028 0.05 25 0.09 0.04

2022

Nil
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(b) Balances with the Manager and its Connected Persons as at year end:

2023 2022

USD USD

Cash at banks 19,609 17,822
Amounts receivables - 307
Amounts payable (47,047) (66,848)

(c) During the year ended 30 September 2023, the Fund entered into forward foreign exchange contracts with Connected
Persons of the Trustee, with realized losses amounting to USD7,263 (2022: nil).

(d) During the year ended 30 September 2023, the income accruing to the Manager relating to allotments and redemptions in
the Fund, net of commission paid to agents, amounted to USD128 (2022: USD778).

(e) Management fee of 1.0% per annum of the net asset value of the Fund would be paid to JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited.
Management fee is accrued on each dealing day and is payable monthly in arrears.

The Manager also receives a valuation fee of USD40 per valuation if the Fund’s net asset value is larger than USD5 million
but smaller than USD20 million, or USD70 per valuation if the Fund’s net asset value is larger than USD20 million.

(f) The Fund allows the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons to subscribe for, and redeem, units of the Fund.

Certain members of the Manager’s group of companies held units of the Fund during the year and were entitled to profits
from transaction in units of the Fund as follows:

At the beginning
of the year Total allotments Total redemptions

At the end of
the year

Profits from
transaction

USD

2023

JPMorgan Asset Management
(Asia Pacific) Limited

- HKD Class (acc) 784,447.700 - - 784,447.700 -
- HKD Class (mth) 8,124,412.606 165,032.657 (4,868,980.587) 3,420,464.676 147,665
- RMB Hedged Class (mth) 20,110,668.887 167,620.690 (12,151,141.337) 8,127,148.240 191,491
- USD Class (acc) 100,000.000 211.100 (100,000.000) 211.100 -
- USD Class (mth) 1,308,106.591 26,596.628 (783,876.776) 550,826.443 184,556

2022

JPMorgan Asset Management
(Asia Pacific) Limited

- HKD Class (acc) - 784,447.700 - 784,447.700 -
- HKD Class (mth) - 8,124,412.606 - 8,124,412.606 -
- RMB Hedged Class (mth) - 20,110,668.887 - 20,110,668.887 -
- USD Class (acc) - 100,000.000 - 100,000.000 -
- USD Class (mth) - 1,308,106.591 - 1,308,106.591 -

(g) Trustee’s fee of 0.06% per annum of the net asset value of the Fund for the first USD40 million, 0.04% per annum for the
balance from USD40 million to USD70 million, and 0.025% per annum for the balance in excess of USD70 million is paid to
the Trustee. Trustee’s fee is accrued on each dealing day and is payable monthly in arrears.

(h) JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited, the registrar agent and Manager, receives a registrar’s fee which varies depending on the
number of unitholders in the Fund and the number of transactions which occur. The range agreed with the Trustee is between
0.015% and 0.5% per annum of the Fund’s net asset value. The registrar’s fee is payable quarterly in arrears.

(i) During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, in addition to the management fee, valuation fee and registrar’s fee
as disclosed in Note 8(e) and 8(h), respective amounts received from/(paid to) the Manager, JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited,
and its Connected Persons were as follows:

2023 2022

USD USD

Interest on deposits 335 27
Other income - 304
Safe custody and bank charges (5,793) (4,749)
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(j) During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, in addition to the trustee’s fee as disclosed in Note 8(g), respective
amounts received from/(paid to) the Trustee, HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, and its Connected Persons
were as follows:

2023 2022

USD USD

Interest on deposits 24,580 2,973
Safe custody and bank charges (23,908) (15,459)
Transaction costs (29,205) (15,407)

9 Soft dollar arrangements/Commission sharing arrangements

During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, the Investment Manager and its Connected Persons did not enter into
any soft dollar arrangements/commission sharing arrangements in connection with directing transactions of the Fund through a
broker or dealer.

10 Derivatives

Outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts as at 30 September were as follows:

Contract to
deliver

In exchange
for

Settlement
date Counterparty

Unrealized
gains/(losses)

USD

2023

Open contracts:

CNH91,743,364 USD12,623,439 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 23,962
CNH1,065,656 USD146,968 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London 617
USD25,697,445 CNH188,084,479 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 132,935
USD151,150 CNH1,100,800 20 October 2023 Morgan Stanley and Co. International Plc 27
USD16,395 CNH119,565 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 26
USD13,900 CNH101,262 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris 6

Total unrealized gains 157,573

CNH61,807 USD8,483 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (5)
CNH119,679 USD16,411 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (25)
CNH159,487 USD21,838 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (65)
CNH399,475 USD54,637 20 October 2023 State Street Bank and Trust Company (225)
CNH1,151,112 USD157,738 20 October 2023 Goldman Sachs International, London (349)
CNH1,113,819 USD152,595 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (370)
CNH858,473 USD117,461 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London (436)
CNH1,093,045 USD149,458 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (654)
CNH4,221,324 USD578,881 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (850)
CNH18,324,668 USD2,511,756 20 October 2023 BNP Paribas SA Paris (4,842)
USD208,929 CNH1,520,625 20 October 2023 HSBC Bank Plc London (96)
CNH1,522,246 USD208,924 21 November 2023 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (412)

Total unrealized losses (8,329)

Net unrealized gains 149,244
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Contract to
deliver

In exchange
for

Settlement
date Counterparty

Unrealized
gains/(losses)

USD

2022

Open contracts:

CNH2,517,244 USD365,147 21 October 2022 Goldman Sachs International, London 11,956
CNH3,127,737 USD448,844 21 October 2022 Standard Chartered Bank London 9,997
CNH2,271,459 USD328,472 21 October 2022 Goldman Sachs International, London 9,767
CNH5,456,051 USD772,775 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London 7,245
CNH2,054,495 USD294,023 21 October 2022 State Street Bank and Trust Company 5,760
CNH1,292,349 USD187,032 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London 5,704
CNH2,799,982 USD398,345 21 October 2022 Goldman Sachs International, London 5,483
CNH1,370,366 USD195,066 21 October 2022 State Street Bank and Trust Company 2,792
CNH245,303 USD35,341 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 923
CNH194,256 USD28,022 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 766
CNH4,233,613 USD594,372 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris 360

Total unrealized gains 60,753

CNH5,180,660 USD724,365 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (2,525)
CNH4,811,462 USD670,781 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (4,307)
CNH3,106,189 USD428,548 21 October 2022 State Street Bank and Trust Company (7,277)
USD35,197 CNH245,068 21 October 2022 BNP Paribas SA Paris (812)
USD261,327 CNH1,854,543 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (1,119)
USD181,945 CNH1,261,283 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (4,977)
USD383,054 CNH2,655,702 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (10,437)
USD460,862 CNH3,207,576 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (10,812)
USD29,469,350 CNH205,789,301 21 October 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (595,370)
CNH3,127,127 USD438,958 21 November 2022 Merrill Lynch International Limited, London (67)

Total unrealized losses (637,703)

Net unrealized losses (576,950)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Unitholders of JPMorgan Sustainable Infrastructure Fund
(the “Fund”)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

What we have audited

The financial statements of JPMorgan Sustainable
Infrastructure Fund, which are set out on pages 857 to 876,
comprise:

• the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 September
2023;

• the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then
ended;

• the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units for the year then ended;

• the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Fund as at 30 September 2023,
and of its financial transactions and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The Trustee and the Manager (the “Management”) of the Fund
are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the Management for the Financial
Statements

The Management of the Fund is responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such
internal control as the Management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management of the
Fund is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Management either intends to liquidate the Fund or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the Management of the Fund is required to ensure
that the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust
Deed dated 6 July 2005, as amended (the “Trust Deed”) and
Appendix E of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds issued
by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission (the
“SFC Code”).

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to assess whether the financial statements of the Fund
have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust
Deed and Appendix E of the SFC Code.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Management.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

To the Unitholders of JPMorgan Sustainable Infrastructure Fund
(the “Fund”)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements (Continued)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Management regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Matters under the Relevant Disclosure
Provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix E of the
SFC Code

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix
E of the SFC Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 January 2024
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Manager and
the Trustee

Manager’s Responsibilities

The Manager of the Fund is required by the Code on Unit Trusts
and Mutual Funds established by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong and the Trust Deed to prepare
financial statements for each annual accounting period which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Fund at
the end of that period and of the transactions for the period then
ended. In preparing these financial statements, the Manager is
required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

- make judgments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and

- prepare the financial statements on the basis that the Fund
will continue in operation unless it is inappropriate to
presume this.

The Manager is also required to manage the Fund in
accordance with the Trust Deed and take reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Trustee’s Responsibilities

The Trustee of the Fund is required to:

- ensure that the Fund in all material respects is managed in
accordance with the Trust Deed and that the investment
and borrowing powers are complied with;

- satisfy itself that sufficient accounting and other records
have been maintained;

- safeguard the property of the Fund and rights attaching
thereto (as far as reasonably practicable); and

- report to the unitholders for each annual accounting period
should the Manager not manage the Fund in accordance
with the Trust Deed.

Report of the Trustee to the Unitholders

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of the Fund
has, in all material respects, managed the Fund in accordance
with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 6 July 2005, as
amended, for the year ended 30 September 2023.

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, Trustee

24 January 2024

Performance Record (Unaudited)

Net Asset Values

At financial
period ended

Net asset value
of the Fund

Net asset value
per unit

30/9/23
- HKD Class (acc)
- HKD Class (mth)
- RMB Hedged Class (mth)
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD7,473,161
HKD35,737,521
CNY69,944,238
USD2,871,062
USD6,253,898
USD5,121,780

HKD8.89
HKD6.72
CNY8.59
USD8.91
USD7.11
USD6.66

30/9/22
- HKD Class (acc)
- HKD Class (mth)
- RMB Hedged Class (mth)
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD7,177,097
HKD69,097,117

CNY173,521,609
USD11,101,392
USD7,295,346
USD10,590,267

HKD8.61
HKD6.64
CNY8.62
USD8.61
USD7.02
USD6.57

30/9/21
- HKD Class (mth)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD32,150,617
USD8,713,663
USD4,854,856

HKD9.00
USD9.60
USD8.98
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Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid

30/9/23
- HKD Class (acc)
- HKD Class (mth)
- RMB Hedged Class (mth)
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD10.53
HKD8.07

CNY10.42
USD10.55
USD8.55
USD7.99

HKD8.17
HKD6.30
CNY8.18
USD8.17
USD6.66
USD6.24

30/9/22
- HKD Class (acc)
- HKD Class (mth)
- RMB Hedged Class (mth)
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD10.94
HKD9.84

CNY11.03
USD10.96
USD10.52
USD9.80

HKD8.58
HKD6.63
CNY8.61
USD8.59
USD7.02
USD6.56

30/9/21
- HKD Class (mth)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD9.69
USD10.43
USD9.69

HKD7.11
USD7.61
USD7.12

30/9/20
- HKD Class (mth)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD10.16
USD10.90
USD10.13

HKD5.82
USD6.29
USD5.82

30/9/19
- HKD Class (mth)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD9.78
USD10.47
USD9.69

HKD8.28
USD8.80
USD8.21

30/9/18
- HKD Class (mth)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)

HKD9.56
USD10.27
USD9.49

HKD8.63
USD9.23
USD8.54

30/9/17
- HKD Class (mth)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)
- USD Class C (acc)

HKD10.54
USD11.31
USD10.55
USD10.59

HKD9.03
USD9.71
USD9.03
USD9.13

30/9/16
- HKD Class (mth)
- USD Class (div)
- USD Class (mth)
- USD Class C (acc)

HKD10.76
USD12.13
USD10.76
USD10.76

HKD10.00
USD9.22

USD10.00
USD10.00

30/9/15
- USD Class (div) USD12.37 USD9.75

30/9/14
- USD Class (div) USD10.36 USD8.40

Management and Administration

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS
Hong Kong Ka Li NG

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN

(Asia Pacific) Limited
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust
Hong Kong Services (Asia) Limited

1 Queen’s Road Central
Sub-Manager Hong Kong
JPMorgan Asset Management

(UK) Limited Registrar
60 Victoria Embankment HSBC Trustee (Cayman)

London Limited

EC4Y 0JP P.O. Box 309
United Kingdom Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince’s Building
1 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Listed/Quoted Investments

(I) Equities

Thailand

Banking

Building & Furnishing Materials

Chemicals & Plastics

Closed End Funds

Communications

Computer Hardware

Consumer Lending

Containers & Packaging

Diversified Industrial Goods & Wholesalers

Diversified Telecommunication Services

Electrical Components & Equipment

Employment Services

Energy

Holding

Fair
value

USD

% of
net

assets

Entertainment & Recreation

Financial Services

Food & Beverages

Health Care Services

Home Improvement Products & Services Retailers

Hotel & Travel Services

Industrial Conglomerates - Industry

Oil, Gas Refining & Marketing

Property Development

Retail - Discount Stores

Transportation

Utilities - Electric

Wireless Telecommunications Services
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

(II) Derivatives

Warrants

Total Listed/Quoted Investments

Other net assets

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at 30 September
2023

Total investments, at cost

Statement of Movements in Portfolio Holdings
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

% holdings
of net assets

2023 2022

Listed/Quoted Investments

Equities

Thailand

Derivatives

Total Listed/Quoted Investments

Other net assets

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at 30 September 2023
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Details of Financial Derivative Instruments
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Information on Exposure Arising from Financial
Derivative Instruments
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

2023
% of NAV

2023
% of NAV
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The notes on pages 886 to 896 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2023

2023 2022
USD USD

Assets
Current assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units

Equity

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022
USD USD

Income

Expenses

Net operating profit/(loss)

Finance costs

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Increase/(decrease) in net assets
attributable to holders of
redeemable units and total
comprehensive income/(loss)
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The notes on pages 886 to 896 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022
USD USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
at the beginning of the year

Net redemption

Increase/(decrease) in net
assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
and total comprehensive
income/(loss)

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
at the end of the year

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022
USD USD

Operating activities

Net cash inflow from
operating activities

Financing activities

Net cash outflow from
financing activities

Decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 The Fund

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

Standards and amendments to existing standards effective from 1 October 2022

New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 October 2022 and have not been early adopted

(b) Investments and derivatives

Classification
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Recognition, derecognition and measurement

Fair value estimation

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

(c) Securities borrowing

(d) Offsetting financial instruments

(e) Income and expense

(f) Transaction costs

(g) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Transactions and balances
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(h) Cash and cash equivalents

(i) Amounts due from/to brokers

(j) Proceeds and payments on allotment and redemption of units

3 Number of units in issue and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (per unit)
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4 Financial risk management

(I) Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i) Market price risk
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(ii) Interest rate risk

(iii) Currency risk
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(b) Credit risk

(c) Liquidity risk

(II) Capital risk management
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-

-

-

(III) Fair value estimation

-

-

-
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5 Net gains/(losses) on investments and derivatives

6 Taxation

7 Transactions with the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons
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8 Borrowings

9 Soft dollar arrangements/Commission sharing arrangements

10 Derivatives

11 Distribution
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Independent Auditor's Report

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

Basis for Opinion

Other Information

Responsibilities of the Management for the Financial
Statements

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Report on Matters under the Relevant Disclosure
Provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix E of the
SFC Code
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Manager and the
Trustee

Manager’s Responsibilities

-

-

-

Trustee’s Responsibilities

-

-

-

-

Report of the Trustee to the Unitholders

Performance Record (Unaudited)

Net Asset Values

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices
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Management and Administration 

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024 
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM 
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS 
Hong Kong Ka Li NG 

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG  
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA 
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN

(Asia Pacific) Limited 
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

HSBC Institutional Trust  
   Services (Asia) Limited 
1 Queen’s Road Central 

Sub-Manager Hong Kong 
JPMorgan Asset Management

(Singapore) Limited Registrar
88 Market Street
29/F, CapitaSpring  
Singapore 048948 

HSBC Trustee (Cayman)  
   Limited 
P.O. Box 309 
Ugland House 
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 
Cayman Islands 

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants 
22/F, Prince’s Building 
1 Des Voeux Road Central 
Hong Kong 

UK Tax Information 

The Fund is transparent for UK income tax purposes 
and information has been provided to UK investors of 
the amount of their share of the underlying income, 
expenses and overseas tax suffered for all financial 
years from 1 October 2010. Although the Fund is an 
“offshore fund” for UK tax purposes, there is no need 
to formally apply for “reporting fund status” as the Fund 
is considered transparent by HMRC and does not 
invest more than 5% of its assets in other offshore 
funds which are not themselves reporting funds. 
Therefore it is considered out of scope of the 
requirements of the offshore fund regime. The 
principal effect of this is that for unitholders resident in 
the UK for taxation purposes, any gains accruing on 
the sale, redemption or other disposal of units during 
the period will be taxed in the UK as a capital gain and 
not as income. The Fund has previously been certified 
by HMRC in the UK as a “distributing fund” in respect 
of the period from 8 August 1989 to 30 September 
2010. 
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Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Listed/Quoted Investments (95.7%)

Equities (95.7%)

Vietnam (95.7%)

Airlines (0.6%)
Vietjet Aviation JSC 366,870 1,498,876 0.6

Banking (16.4%)
Asia Commercial Bank 3,668,896 3,298,308 1.3
Bank For Investment And

Development 3,525,100 6,432,347 2.4
JSC Bank For Foreign

Trade of Vietnam 5,683,400 20,460,708 7.7
Saigon - Hanoi

Commercial Joint-Stock
Bank 5,144,938 2,349,673 0.9

Saigon Thuong Tin
Commercial Joint-Stock
Bank 2,611,600 3,293,377 1.2

Vietnam Joint Stock
Commercial Bank For
Industry And Trade 2,925,172 3,616,598 1.4

Vietnam Technological &
Commercial JS Bank 2,869,951 3,973,415 1.5

Beverages & Tobacco (0.9%)
Saigon Beer Alcohol

Beverage Corp 773,520 2,307,352 0.9

Chemicals - Agricultural (1.9%)
Petrovietnam Ca Mau

Fertilizer 1,411,800 1,902,343 0.7
Petrovietnam Fertilizer

And Chemicals JSC 2,066,400 3,137,221 1.2

Chemicals - Commodity (3.4%)
Duc Giang Chemicals JSC 2,337,726 8,993,103 3.4

Construction & Engineering (1.2%)
Refrigeration Electrical

Engineering Corp 822,710 2,139,283 0.8
Viettel Construction Joint

Stock Corp 290,586 931,358 0.4

Electric & Gas Utilities (1.8%)
Petrovietnam Nhon Trach

2 Po 1,028,000 1,036,248 0.4
Petrovietnam Power Corp 7,933,800 3,786,549 1.4

Financial Services (17.4%)
Ho Chi Minh City

Securities Corp 1,878,300 2,360,916 0.9
Kinhbac City Development

Share Hldg Corp 3,169,280 4,185,719 1.6
Masan Group Corp 4,439,122 13,935,610 5.2
SSI Securities Corp 10,771,395 14,093,000 5.3
Viet Capital Securities
Company 2,629,960 4,463,520 1.7

(Continued)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

VNDirect Securities Corp 8,223,620 7,105,370 2.7

Food & House Products (6.0%)
Vietnam Dairy Products

Joint Stock Co 5,232,983 15,975,616 6.0

Food Processing (1.6%)
Vinh Hoan Corp 1,300,100 4,220,444 1.6

Industrial Conglomerates - Industry (0.5%)
Vietnam Urban & Industrial

Zone Development
Investment Corp Co Ltd 667,977 1,272,468 0.5

Marine Port Services (1.7%)
Gemadept Corp 1,625,000 4,432,730 1.7

Multi-Industry (8.9%)
Hoa Phat Group JSC 21,661,556 23,439,577 8.9

Oil & Gas Transportation Services (0.9%)
Petrovietnam Transportation

Corp 2,035,400 2,369,958 0.9

Oils (4.6%)
Binh Son Refining And

Petroche 984,500 883,032 0.3
Petrovietnam Drilling And

Well Services Joint Stock
Co 1,556,700 1,652,453 0.7

Petrovietnam Gas Joint
Stock 650,052 2,425,827 0.9

Petrovietnam Technical
Services Corp 3,189,700 5,065,724 1.9

Vietnam National Petroleum
Group 1,383,100 2,133,974 0.8

Real Estate Management & Development (15.5%)
Ha Do JSC 1,204,675 1,395,252 0.5
Khang Dien House Trading

And Investment JSC 4,321,394 5,805,123 2.2
Nam Long Investment

Corporation 2,834,000 4,081,053 1.6
Vingroup JSC 6,594,192 12,710,878 4.8
Vinhomes JSC 9,036,471 16,916,661 6.4

Real Estate Services (0.7%)
Dat Xanh Group 2,526,700 1,964,807 0.7

Retailing (4.0%)
Phu Nhuan Jewelry JSC 291,217 944,164 0.4
Vincom Retail JSC 9,079,495 9,750,044 3.6

Steel (1.2%)
Hoa Sen Group 3,874,637 3,188,346 1.2

Telecommunications (6.5%)
Corp For Financing And

Promoting Technology 2,064,273 7,881,692 3.0
Digiworld Corp 686,400 1,635,160 0.6
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Investment Portfolio (Continued)
As at 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

Holding

Fair
value
USD

% of
net

assets

Telecommunications (Continued)
FPT Digital Retail JSC 349,722 1,280,611 0.5
Mobile World Investment
Corporation 2,988,038 6,466,604 2.4

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 253,193,092 95.7

Other net assets 11,293,493 4.3

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at 30 September
2023 264,486,585 100.0

Total investments, at cost 249,812,909

Statement of Movements in Portfolio Holdings
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Unaudited)

% holdings
of net assets

2023 2022

Listed/Quoted Investments

Equities

Vietnam
Financial Services 17.4 15.5
Banking 16.4 15.4
Real Estate Management &

Development 15.5 22.5
Multi-Industry 8.9 8.8
Telecommunications 6.5 4.3
Food & House Products 6.0 6.6
Oils 4.6 2.4
Retailing 4.0 5.3
Chemicals - Commodity 3.4 1.4
Chemicals - Agricultural 1.9 1.1
Electric & Gas Utilities 1.8 2.0
Marine Port Services 1.7 1.6
Food Processing 1.6 1.8
Construction & Engineering 1.2 1.3
Steel 1.2 0.6
Beverages & Tobacco 0.9 2.7
Oil & Gas Transportation Services 0.9 -
Real Estate Services 0.7 1.1
Airlines 0.6 1.0
Industrial Conglomerates – Industry 0.5 -
Utilities - Water & Others - Industry - 0.7
Electrical Components & Equipment - 0.4
Tires & Rubber Products - 0.3
IT Services & Consulting - 0.2

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 95.7 97.0

Other net assets 4.3 3.0

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable units at 30 September 100.0 100.0
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2023

2023 2022

USD USD

Assets
Current assets
Cash at banks 11,983,831 7,542,057
Amounts due from brokers 518,400 2,785,144
Amounts receivable on allotment 13 110,487
Investments [Note 4(I)(a)] 253,193,092 252,781,126
Dividend, interest and other

accounts receivable 799,773 82,704

Total assets 266,495,109 263,301,518

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Amounts due to brokers 806,419 606,696
Amounts payable on redemption 804,630 1,554,138
Other accounts payable 397,475 421,974

Liabilities (excluding net
assets attributable to
holders of redeemable
units) 2,008,524 2,582,808

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
[Note 3] 264,486,585 260,718,710

Approved by the Trustee and the Manager on 24 January 2024

Signed by:

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, Trustee

JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited, Manager

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

USD USD

Income
Net gains/(losses) on investments

and derivatives [Note 5] 8,700,953 (96,295,847)
Dividend income 3,885,438 4,868,747
Interest on deposits

[Note 7(h), 7(i)] 100,684 1,228
Net foreign currency exchange

losses (488,484) (1,266,234)
Other income [Note 7(h)] - 933

12,198,591 (92,691,173)

Expenses
Management fee [Note 7(d)] 3,670,298 5,519,662
Safe custody and bank charges

[Note 7(h), 7(i)] 368,434 539,091
Transaction costs [Note 7(h), 7(i)] 360,169 1,077,014
Trustee’s fee [Note 7(f)] 81,194 113,886
Registrar’s fee [Note 7(g)] 38,523 56,710
Valuation fee [Note 7(d)] 16,730 16,730
Auditor’s fee 16,361 11,805
Legal and professional expenses 8,359 9,171
Printing and publication expenses 3,298 4,862
Other operating expenses 7,521 16,005

4,570,887 7,364,936

Net operating profit/(loss) 7,627,704 (100,056,109)

Finance costs
Interest expense [Note 7(i)] (7,295) (42,209)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 7,620,409 (100,098,318)

Taxation [Note 6] (84,635) (254,423)

Increase/(decrease) in net
assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units
and total comprehensive
income/(loss) 7,535,774 (100,352,741)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

USD USD

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units at
the beginning of the year 260,718,710 446,722,593

Allotment of redeemable units
[Note 3] 38,869,780 24,534,462

Redemption of redeemable units
[Note 3] (42,637,679) (110,185,604)

Net redemption (3,767,899) (85,651,142)

256,950,811 361,071,451

Increase/(decrease) in net
assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units and total
comprehensive income/(loss) 7,535,774 (100,352,741)

Net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable units at
the end of the year 264,486,585 260,718,710

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 September 2023

2023 2022

USD USD

Operating activities
Purchase of investments and

derivatives (99,212,832) (262,717,264)
Proceeds from disposal of

investments and derivatives 109,974,008 346,702,787
Dividend received 3,169,764 5,421,158
Interest received 100,684 1,229
Registrar’s fee paid (38,675) (72,008)
Trustee’s fee paid (81,613) (116,957)
Tax paid (84,635) (254,423)
Transaction costs paid (365,999) (1,073,233)
Management fee paid (3,691,307) (5,696,455)
Others (820,405) 1,922,941

Net cash inflow from
operating activities 8,948,990 84,117,775

Financing activities
Interest paid (7,295) (42,217)
Receipts on allotment of

redeemable units 38,980,254 32,626,475
Payments on redemption of

redeemable units (43,387,187) (114,179,671)

Net cash outflow from
financing activities (4,414,228) (81,595,413)

Increase in cash
and cash equivalents 4,534,762 2,522,362

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 7,542,057 5,228,168

Exchange losses on cash and
cash equivalents (92,988) (208,473)

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year 11,983,831 7,542,057

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash at banks 11,983,831 7,542,057
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 The Fund

JPMorgan Vietnam Opportunities Fund (the “Fund”) was established under a Trust Deed dated 15 August 2006, as amended
(the “Trust Deed”) and is governed by the laws of Hong Kong. The Fund is authorized by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (the “SFC”).

The investment objective of the Fund is to provide investors with long-term capital growth by investing primarily (i.e. at least 70%
of its total net asset value) in equity securities of companies either (i) domiciled or listed on a stock exchange in Vietnam, or (ii)
with actual or prospective operations, assets or investments, direct or indirect, in Vietnam in an aggregate amount of not less
than either USD50 million or 10 per cent. of the gross assets of the investing company (albeit such operations, assets or
investments may at the time of investment be immaterial to the financial results of such company).

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager may decide to issue separate classes (each a “Class”) whose assets will be commonly
invested but where a specific fee structure, currency or distribution policy may be applied. Each Class may have a different
charging structure with the result that the net asset value attributable to each Class may differ.

All unitholders’ rights with regard to the convening, voting or otherwise acting at any meeting of unitholders are the same.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) held at fair value through
profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires the Manager and the Trustee (the “Management”) to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the
Fund’s accounting policies.

Standards and amendments to existing standards effective from 1 October 2022

There are no standards or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the first time for the financial year
beginning 1 October 2022 that have had a material impact on the Fund.

New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 October 2022 and have not been early adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 October 2022, and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to
have a material effect on the financial statements of the Fund.

(b) Investments and derivatives

Classification

The Fund classifies its investments and derivatives based on both the Fund’s business model for managing those financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The portfolio of financial assets is managed and
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. The Fund is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that
information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions.

Derivative contracts that have a negative fair value are presented as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The Fund makes short sales in which a borrowed security is sold in anticipation of a decline in the market value of that
security, or it may use short sales for various arbitrage transactions. Short sales are classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.

As such, the Fund classifies all of its investment portfolio as financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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Recognition, derecognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of investments and derivatives are accounted for on the trade date basis. Investments and derivatives
are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Realized and unrealized gains and
losses on investments and derivatives are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Investments and
derivatives are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments and derivatives have expired or
the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets are
based on last traded prices. When trading in the securities of an investee company is suspended, the investment is valued
at the Manager’s estimate of its fair value. When trading of financial instruments in markets that are not considered to be
active, the financial instruments are valued based on quoted market prices, dealer/broker quotations or alternative pricing
sources supported by observable inputs.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the beginning of the reporting period.

(c) Securities borrowing

The Fund may enter into securities borrowing arrangements for short sale purposes. Short positions represent obligations
to deliver securities sold but not yet purchased, and are accounted for as investments and valued at their fair value.
Securities borrowed during the year are off-balance sheet transactions and are therefore not included in the investment
portfolio of the Fund. Collateral placed for the purpose of securities borrowed generally consist of cash collateral and are
included in the Statement of Financial Position separately.

(d) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(e) Income and expense

Dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date with the corresponding foreign withholding tax recorded as an
expense and is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Interest income on investments is accounted for as part of net gains/losses on investments and derivatives in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.

Interest income on cash at banks and short-term deposits is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on
an effective interest basis.

Expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accrual basis.

(f) Transaction costs

Transaction costs are costs incurred to acquire/dispose of financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
They include fees and commissions paid to agents, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(g) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The Fund has adopted United States dollar as its functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to cash and cash equivalents are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income within “Net foreign currency exchange gains/losses”. Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the financial
assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
within “Net gains/losses on investments and derivatives”.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and bank deposits
with maturity of three months or less from the date of placing the deposits, net of certain short-term bank loans which the
Fund usually undertakes as overnight bank borrowings.

(i) Amounts due from/to brokers

Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for investments and derivatives sold and payables for investments and
derivatives purchased that have been contracted for but not yet settled by the end of the year.

These amounts are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. At each reporting date,
the Fund shall measure the loss allowance on amounts due from broker at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit
losses if the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. Significant financial difficulties of the broker,
probability that the broker will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization and default in payments are all considered
indicators that a loss allowance may be required.

(j) Proceeds and payments on allotment and redemption of units

The net asset value per unit is computed for each dealing day. The price at which units are allotted or redeemed is calculated
by reference to the net asset value per unit as at the close of business on the relevant dealing day in accordance with the
provisions of the Trust Deed which may be different from the accounting policies stated in the financial statements.

Units of the Fund are redeemable at the option of the holders of redeemable units and are classified as a financial liability
in the Statement of Financial Position which represents the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (or “net
asset value” or “net assets” or “NAV”) and is carried at the redemption amount that would be payable at the Statement of
Financial Position date if the holders of redeemable units exercised the right to redeem units of the Fund.

3 Number of units in issue and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units (per unit)

2023

USD Class (acc) USD Class C (acc)

Units Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the year 12,784,851.835 1,167,166.782

Total allotments 1,977,457.140 123,155.578
Total redemptions (2,157,899.990) (201,579.855)

At the end of the year 12,604,408.985 1,088,742.505

USD USD

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units 250,479,927 14,006,658

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units (per unit) 19.87 12.86
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2022

USD Class (acc) USD Class C (acc)

Units Units
Number of units in issue:

At the beginning of the year 15,851,516.455 1,741,328.730

Total allotments 767,133.273 401,408.213
Total redemptions (3,833,797.893) (975,570.161)

At the end of the year 12,784,851.835 1,167,166.782

USD USD

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units 246,272,309 14,446,401

Net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable units (per unit) 19.26 12.38

4 Financial risk management

(I) Financial risk factors

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including market price risk, interest rate risk and
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk

(i) Market price risk

The Fund’s investments and derivatives are subject to the market price risk inherent in all investments and derivatives i.e.
the value of holdings may fall as well as rise. The Fund’s market risk is managed through (i) deliberate stocks selection, and
(ii) diversification of the investment portfolio in accordance with specific investment restrictions and guidelines.

The Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s market price sensitivity primarily through the Beta of the Fund on a regular
basis. Beta measures the statistical relationship between the return of the Fund and relevant benchmark index chosen by
the Investment Manager.

As at 30 September, the fair value of investments and derivatives and its estimated market sensitivity were as follows:

2023 2022

Listed/Quoted Investments

Fair value of
investments

USD

% of
net

assets

Fair value of
investments

USD

% of
net

assets

Assets

Equities
- Financial Services 46,144,135 17.4 40,359,201 15.5

- Banking 43,424,426 16.4 40,350,866 15.4

- Real Estate Management & Development 40,908,967 15.5 58,629,409 22.5

- Multi-Industry 23,439,577 8.9 23,057,103 8.8

- Telecommunications 17,264,067 6.5 11,281,759 4.3

- Food & House Products 15,975,616 6.0 17,257,124 6.6

- Retailing 10,694,208 4.0 13,791,232 5.3

- Others 55,342,096 21.0 48,054,432 18.6

Total Listed/Quoted Investments 253,193,092 95.7 252,781,126 97.0
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Net asset value
USD

Relevant
benchmark index

for the Fund
(Note*)

Beta
(Note**)

% of reasonable
possible change

of the relevant
benchmark

index
(Note***)

Estimated
impact on net

asset value
(Note****)

USD

As at 30 September 2023 264,486,585
MSCI Vietnam IMI
Capped Net Index 0.93 -2.6 (6,395,286)

As at 30 September 2022 260,718,710
MSCI Vietnam IMI
Capped Net Index 1.00 -27.3 (71,176,208)

If the relevant benchmark index return was to move in the opposite direction, this would result in an opposite movement in
the net asset value of the Fund by the same amount, assuming all other variables that may impact the net asset value of
the Fund are held constant.

Note:

* Relevant benchmark index for the Fund represents the relevant market index used by the Investment Manager in
monitoring the market price risk of the Fund.

** Beta measures the statistical relationship between the return of the Fund and the respective benchmark index over the
maximum of past 36 months, or the number of months since portfolio inception. For funds launched within a period of
less than 12 months, weekly returns of the Fund are used for calculating the Beta.

*** % of reasonable possible change is based on the actual historical change in the benchmark index in the past 12 months
and does not include remote or “worst case” scenarios or “stress tests” nor represent the Investment Manager’s forecast
of the Fund’s future returns. For funds launched within a period of less than 12 months, actual historical change in the
benchmark index since the commencement of operations will be used to calculate the % of reasonable possible change.

**** Estimated impact on net asset value of the Fund is calculated by applying the relevant Beta against the net asset value
of the Fund multiplied by the % of reasonable possible change of the relevant benchmark index, assuming all other
variables that may impact the net asset value of the Fund are held constant.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument or future cash flow will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates.

The table below summarizes the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities as at 30 September which expose it to the risk
associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates, categorized by remaining maturity
dates.

2023
Less than 1 month

2022
Less than 1 month

USD USD

Cash at banks 11,983,831 7,542,057

Total interest sensitivity gap 11,983,831 7,542,057

Any cash and cash equivalents are placed/borrowed at short-term market interest rates and the Investment Manager
considers that the Fund is not subject to significant amount of risk due to the stable and low fluctuation in the prevailing
levels of market interest rates.

(iii) Currency risk

The Fund holds assets and liabilities denominated in a number of currencies. HKFRS 7 considers the foreign exchange
exposure relating to non-monetary assets and liabilities to be a component of market price risk not currency risk. However,
the Investment Manager monitors the exposure to currency risk on all foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
including both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities.
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The table below summarizes the Fund’s exposure to currency risk as at 30 September together with the percentage of
reasonable possible change in foreign currencies and the estimated impact on net asset value of the Fund.

Net currency exposures (Note*)
USD

equivalent

% of
reasonable

possible
change

against USD
(Note**)

Estimated
impact on
net asset

value
USD

2023

Hong Kong Dollar 2,158 +0.2 4
Vietnamese Dong 258,747,005 -1.8 (4,657,446)

258,749,163 (4,657,442)

2022

Hong Kong Dollar 261 -0.8 (2)
Vietnamese Dong 259,335,949 -4.6 (11,929,454)

259,336,210 (11,929,456)

If the foreign currency fluctuations were to move in the opposite direction, this would result in an opposite movement in the
net asset value of the Fund by the same amount, assuming all other variables that may impact the net asset value of the
Fund are held constant.

Note:

* Net currency exposures on assets and liabilities include both monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities.

** % of reasonable possible change is based on the actual historical change in the respective currencies against the
functional currency of the Fund in the past 12 months and does not include remote or “worst case” scenarios or “stress
tests” nor represent the Investment Manager’s forecast of the Fund’s future returns.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not be able to pay amounts in full when due.

The Manager monitors credit risk with reference to a number of factors including history of default and the credit rating of
counterparties. The Manager considers the credit risk of other receivables such as amounts receivable on allotment,
amounts due from brokers or dividend, interest and other accounts receivable, to be insignificant as the Fund has no default
history on such receivables in the past 5 years. Overall, the Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero
as these instruments have a low risk of default and the Fund’s counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual
obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss allowance has been recognized based on 12-month expected credit losses.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 30 September 2023 and 2022 is the carrying amount of the financial assets as
shown in the Statement of Financial Position.

All transactions in investments and derivatives are settled on a delivery versus payment basis using approved brokers. The
risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of investments and derivatives sold is only made when the Fund’s custodian
bank has received payment. For a purchase, payment is made once the investments and derivatives have been received
by the Fund’s custodian bank. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet the obligation.
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The table below summarizes the credit rating of the banks/custodian which the Fund has placed the financial assets as at
30 September.

2023 2022
Exposure to

counterparties
Exposure to

counterparties

USD USD

Bank balances
S&P(AA)/Moody’s(Aa)/FITCH(AA) 60,467 145,391
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 11,923,364 7,396,666

Investment balances with custodian
S&P(A)/Moody’s(A)/FITCH(A) 253,193,092 252,781,126

(c) Liquidity risk

The Fund is exposed to daily redemption of units, the majority of its assets in investments are traded in an active market
which can be readily disposed of. The Manager may also limit the total number of units redeemed for the Fund on any
dealing day to 10% or more of the units in issue on any dealing day.

The Fund has the ability to enter into borrowing arrangements subject to the investment restrictions and guidelines.

The table below summarizes the Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
as at 30 September to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2023 2022
Less than 1 month Less than 1 month

USD USD

Amounts due to brokers 806,419 606,696
Amounts payable on redemption 804,630 1,554,138
Other accounts payable 397,475 421,974
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units 264,486,585 260,718,710

Total financial liabilities 266,495,109 263,301,518

The Investment Manager manages the Fund’s liquidity risk by investing in investments that the Investment Manager expects
to liquidate normally within 1 month and making short-term bank borrowing to meet the total financial liabilities.

(II) Capital risk management

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units which is subject to
allotments and redemptions of redeemable units. The Fund’s objective for capital management is to provide returns and
long-term capital growth for unitholders.

In order to maintain the capital structure, the Management performs the following:

- Monitor allotment and redemption activities relative to the liquid assets.

- To protect the interest of unitholders and in exceptional circumstances, the Manager may also limit the total number of
units redeemed for the Fund on any dealing day to 10% or more of the units in issue on any dealing day.

- Monitor fund investment guidelines and restrictions, in accordance with the constitutional documents, to maintain
sufficient liquidity through diversification.

(III) Fair value estimation

As at 30 September 2023 and 2022, the Management considers that the carrying values of assets and liabilities were
reasonable approximations of their fair value.
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HKFRS 13 requires the Fund to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The table below summarizes the Fund’s investments and derivatives (by class) within the fair value hierarchy measured at
fair value as at 30 September:

Listed/Quoted Investments
Level 1

USD
Level 2

USD
Level 3

USD
Total
USD

2023

Assets
Equities 253,193,092 - - 253,193,092

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 253,193,092 - - 253,193,092

2022

Assets
Equities 252,781,126 - - 252,781,126

Total financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 252,781,126 - - 252,781,126

Investments, whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified within level 1,
include active listed equities and exchange traded derivatives. The Fund does not adjust the quoted price for these
instruments.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on quoted market
prices, dealer/broker quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within level 2.

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently.

There were no transfers between levels for the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022.

For assets and liabilities carried at amortized cost, their carrying values are a reasonable approximation of fair value as at
30 September 2023 and 2022.

5 Net gains/(losses) on investments and derivatives

2023 2022

USD USD

Change in unrealized gains/losses in value of investments and derivatives 26,440,692 (134,086,783)
Realized (losses)/gains on sale of investments and derivatives (17,739,739) 37,790,936

8,700,953 (96,295,847)

6 Taxation

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Fund was authorized as a collective investment scheme under
Section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and is therefore exempt from profits tax under Section 26A(1A) of the Inland
Revenue Ordinance.

Overseas tax was withheld or paid on certain dividend income received during the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022.
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7 Transactions with the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions entered into during the year between the Fund and the
Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons. Connected Persons of the Trustee and the Manager are those as defined
in the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds established by the SFC. All such transactions were entered into in the ordinary
course of business and were on normal commercial terms.

(a) Investment transactions with Connected Persons of the Trustee and the Manager are set out below:

Name of company

Aggregate
value of

purchases
and sales of
investments

USD

% of the
Fund’s total

aggregate
value of

transactions

Commission
paid
USD

% of the
Fund’s total
commission

paid in the
year

Average
commission

rate
%

2023

Nil

2022

J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited 1,302,903 0.21 521 0.05 0.04

(b) Balances with the Manager and its Connected Persons as at year end:

2023 2022

USD USD

Cash at banks 60,467 145,391
Amounts payable (336,926) (359,290)

(c) During the year ended 30 September 2023, there was no income accruing to the Manager relating to allotments and
redemptions in the Fund. During the year ended 30 September 2022, the income accruing to the Manager relating to
allotments and redemptions in the Fund, net of commission paid to agents, amounted to USD433.

(d) Management fee for USD Class (acc) of 1.5% per annum and USD Class C (acc) of 0.75% per annum of the net asset value
of each Class is paid to JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited. Management fee is accrued on each dealing day and is payable
monthly in arrears.

The Manager also receives a valuation fee of USD40 per valuation if the Fund’s net asset value is larger than USD5 million
but smaller than USD20 million, or USD70 per valuation if the Fund’s net asset value is larger than USD20 million.

(e) The Fund allows the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons to subscribe for, and redeem, units of the Fund.

The Manager and certain members of its group of companies held units of the Fund during the year and were entitled to
profits from transaction in units of the Fund as follows:

At the
beginning of

the year
Total

allotments
Total

redemptions
At the end
of the year

Profits from
transaction

USD
2023

JPMorgan Asset Management
(Asia Pacific) Limited

- USD Class (acc) 2,871.696 - (1,564.681) 1,307.015 -

JPMorgan Asset Management (S) Limited
- USD Class (acc) 410.633 4,137.805 (205.307) 4,343.131 -
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At the
beginning

of the year
Total

allotments
Total

redemptions
At the end
of the year

Profits from
transaction

USD

2022

JPMorgan Asset Management
(Asia Pacific) Limited

- USD Class (acc) 2,871.696 - - 2,871.696 -

JPMorgan Asset Management (S) Limited
- USD Class (acc) 410.633 - - 410.633 -

(f) Trustee’s fee of 0.06% per annum of the net asset value of the Fund for the first USD40 million, 0.04% per annum for the
balance from USD40 million to USD70 million, and 0.025% per annum for the balance in excess of USD70 million is paid to
the Trustee. Trustee’s fee is accrued on each dealing day and is payable monthly in arrears.

(g) JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited, the registrar agent and Manager, receives a registrar’s fee which varies depending on the
number of unitholders in the Fund and the number of transactions which occur. The range agreed with the Trustee is between
0.015% and 0.5% per annum of the Fund’s net asset value. The registrar’s fee is payable quarterly in arrears.

(h) During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, in addition to the management fee, valuation fee and registrar’s fee
as disclosed in Note 7(d) and 7(g), respective amounts received from/(paid to) the Manager, JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited,
and its Connected Persons were as follows:

2023 2022

USD USD

Interest on deposits 3,253 183
Other Income - 933
Transaction costs - (521)
Safe custody and bank charges (5,249) (7,345)

(i) During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, in addition to the trustee’s fee as disclosed in Note 7(f), respective
amounts received from/(paid to) the Trustee, HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, and its Connected Persons
were as follows:

2023 2022

USD USD

Interest on deposits 5,418 406
Interest on expense (7,295) (40,451)
Transaction costs (18,728) (41,215)
Safe custody and bank charges (358,190) (526,196)
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8 Borrowings

During the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, the Fund has unsecured short-term bank borrowings with different
financial institutions, one of which is The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, a Connected Person of the
Trustee. All bank borrowings have a duration of less than 7 days. All such transactions are entered into in the ordinary course of
business and on normal commercial terms.

9 Soft dollar arrangements/Commission sharing arrangements

The Investment Manager has entered into soft dollar arrangements/commission sharing arrangements with brokers under which
certain goods and services used to support investment decision making are received by the Investment Manager. A portion of
the transaction commission paid by the Fund is retained by the brokers as compensation for the goods and services.

The goods and services must be of demonstrable benefit to the Fund and would be limited to research and advisory services.

During the year ended 30 September 2023, the Investment Manager obtained the services through soft dollar
arrangements/commission sharing arrangements on transactions amounting to USD207,121,377 (2022: USD8,847,741).
Commission which amounted to USD7,703 (2022: USD658) is paid from the Fund on these transactions.

10 Distribution

No distribution was made during the year (2022: nil).
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Unitholders of JPMorgan Vietnam Opportunities Fund
(the “Fund”)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

What we have audited

The financial statements of JPMorgan Vietnam Opportunities
Fund, which are set out on pages 903 to 915, comprise:

• the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 September
2023;

• the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then
ended;

• the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to
Holders of Redeemable Units for the year then ended;

• the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Fund as at 30 September 2023,
and of its financial transactions and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The Trustee and the Manager (the “Management”) of the Fund
are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the Management for the Financial
Statements

The Management of the Fund is responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such
internal control as the Management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management of the
Fund is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Management either intends to liquidate the Fund or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the Management of the Fund is required to ensure
that the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust
Deed dated 15 August 2006, as amended (the “Trust Deed”) and
Appendix E of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds issued
by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission (the
“SFC Code”).

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to assess whether the financial statements of the Fund
have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust
Deed and Appendix E of the SFC Code.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Management.
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Manager and
the Trustee

Manager’s Responsibilities

The Manager of the Fund is required by the Code on Unit Trusts
and Mutual Funds established by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong and the Trust Deed to prepare
financial statements for each annual accounting period which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Fund at
the end of that period and of the transactions for the period then
ended. In preparing these financial statements, the Manager is
required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

- make judgments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and

- prepare the financial statements on the basis that the Fund
will continue in operation unless it is inappropriate to
presume this.

The Manager is also required to manage the Fund in
accordance with the Trust Deed and take reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Trustee’s Responsibilities

The Trustee of the Fund is required to:

- ensure that the Fund in all material respects is managed in
accordance with the Trust Deed and that the investment
and borrowing powers are complied with;

- satisfy itself that sufficient accounting and other records
have been maintained;

- safeguard the property of the Fund and rights attaching
thereto (as far as reasonably practicable); and

- report to the unitholders for each annual accounting period
should the Manager not manage the Fund in accordance
with the Trust Deed.

Report of the Trustee to the Unitholders

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of the Fund
has, in all material respects, managed the Fund in accordance
with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 15 August 2006, as
amended, for the year ended 30 September 2023.

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, Trustee

24 January 2024

Performance Record (Unaudited)

Net Asset Values

At financial
period ended

Net asset value
of the Fund

USD

Net asset value
per unit

USD

30/9/23
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)

250,479,927
14,006,658

19.87
12.86

30/9/22
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)

246,272,309
14,446,401

19.26
12.38

30/9/21
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)

417,476,322
29,246,271

26.34
16.80
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Performance Record (Unaudited) (Continued)

Highest Offer/Lowest Bid Prices

Financial period ended Highest offer Lowest bid
USD USD

30/9/23
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)

21.84
14.13

14.80
9.52

30/9/22
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)

28.74
18.36

19.26
12.38

30/9/21
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)

26.52
16.91

16.28
10.30

30/9/20
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)

18.19
11.43

11.29
7.12

30/9/19
- USD Class (acc)
- USD Class C (acc)

18.49
11.18

15.62
9.76

30/9/18
- USD Class (acc) 22.53 14.79

30/9/17
- USD Class (acc) 14.92 11.68

30/9/16
- USD Class (acc) 13.89 9.63

30/9/15
- USD Class (acc) 12.72 9.83

30/9/14
- USD Class (acc) 12.75 9.52

Management and Administration

Manager and Service Provider Directors of the Manager
JPMorgan Funds (Asia) Limited as at 24 January 2024
19/F, Chater House Ayaz Hatim EBRAHIM
8 Connaught Road Central Daniel James WATKINS
Hong Kong Ka Li NG

Kit Yee Elka LEUNG
Investment Manager Stiofan Seamus DEBURCA
JPMorgan Asset Management Tsun Kay Edwin CHAN

(Asia Pacific) Limited
19/F, Chater House Trustee
8 Connaught Road Central HSBC Institutional Trust
Hong Kong Services (Asia) Limited

1 Queen’s Road Central
Sub-Manager Hong Kong
JPMorgan Asset Management

(Singapore) Limited Registrar
88 Market Street HSBC Trustee (Cayman)
29/F, CapitaSpring Limited
Singapore 048948 P.O. Box 309

Ugland House
Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince’s Building
1 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong
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